

Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais Graduate Program in Electrical Engineering Research group MACRO - Mechatronics, Control, and Robotics

ANALYSIS AND DESIGN OF DISTRIBUTED PROTOCOLS FOR MULTI-AGENT SYSTEMS SUBJECT TO INPUT SATURATION AND TIME-VARYING DELAYS

Thales Costa Silva Belo Horizonte, Brazil 2021 Thales Costa Silva

ANALYSIS AND DESIGN OF DISTRIBUTED PROTOCOLS FOR MULTI-AGENT SYSTEMS SUBJECT TO INPUT SATURATION AND TIME-VARYING DELAYS

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Program in Electrical Engineering of the Federal University of Minas Gerais, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical Engineering.

Advisors: Dr. Luciano Cunha de Araújo Pimenta and Dr. Fernando de Oliveira Souza

Belo Horizonte, Brazil 2021

Silva, Thales Costa. S586a Analysis and design of distributed protocols for multi-agent systems subject to input saturation and time-varying delays [recurso eletrônico] / Thales Costa Silva. - 2021. 1 recurso online (xix,111 f. : il., color.) : pdf. Orientador: Luciano Cunha de Araújo Pimenta. Coorientador: Fernando de Oliveira Souza. Tese (doutorado) - Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Escola de Engenharia. Apêndice: f. 98. Bibliografia: f. 99-111. Exigências do sistema: Adobe Acrobat Reader. 1. Engenharia elétrica - Teses. 2. Liapunov, Funções de - Teses. 3. Lagrange, Equações de - Teses. I. Pimenta, Luciano Cunha de Araújo. II. Souza, Fernando de Oliveira. III. Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais. Escola de Engenharia. IV. Título. CDU: 621.3(043) Ficha catalográfica elaborada pela bibliotecária Roseli Alves de Oliveira CRB/6 2121 Biblioteca Prof. Mário Werneck, Escola de Engenharia da UFMG

"Analysis And Design Of Distributed Protocols For Multi-agent Systems Subject To Input Saturation And Time-varying Delays" Thales Costa Silva Tese de Doutorado submetida à Banca Examinadora designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica da Escola de Engenharia da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, como requisito para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Engenharia Elétrica. Aprovada em 28 de maio de 2021. Por: Prof. Dr. Luciano Cunha de Araújo Pimenta **DELT (UFMG) - Orientador** . O. Prof. Dr. Fernando de Oliveira Souza **DELT (UFMG) - Coorientador** Emondo A. B. Jorus Prof. Dr. Leonardo Antônio Borges Tôrres **DELT_(UFMG)** Prof. Dr. Leonardo Amaral Mozelli DELT (UFMG) Prof. Dr. Fernando Cesar Lizarralde Departamento de Eletrônica (Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro) HLIJ Prof. Dr. Heitor Judiss Savino Instituto de Computação (Universidade Federal de Alagoas) Prof. Dr. Valter Júnior de Souza Leite Departamento de Engenharia Mecatrônica (Centro Federal de Educação Tecnológica de Minas Gerais)

"A hero is no braver than an ordinary man, but he is brave five minutes longer."

Ralph Waldo Emerson

To my love, Carolina, and my family.

Acknowledgements

The contributions presented in this manuscript are the fruit of several interactions with my advisors, colleagues, and professors during my graduate school. Also, from the support from friends and family. Hence, I would like to take few lines of this manuscript to express my gratitude.

The first words are naturally to my advisors, Prof. Luciano Pimenta and Prof. Fernando Souza, for their patience, trust, conversations, and guidance during my years at UFMG. I am deeply grateful to them for providing me with all the opportunities to enter the research world.

I thank the thesis examination committee, Prof. Fernando Lizarralde, Prof. Heitor Savino, Prof. Leonardo Mozelli, Prof. Leonardo Torres, and Prof. Valter Leite for accepting my invitation, I know their time is precious.

To the colleagues of MACRO, for the cordial and relevant discussions. It was a pleasure to work with so professional and talented people.

I also like to thank all the PPGEE professors and administrative staff for sharing their knowledge and providing the infrastructure that allowed the development of this work.

To the Brazilian agency CAPES, for the financial support.

I will end this preface by thanking my partner, Carolina Galhardo, and my family. This manuscript is obviously dedicated to them and their everyday love, support, and patience.

Muito obrigado a todos.

Abstract

This work deals with the problem of coordination of multi-agent systems, with interconnected systems subject to time-varying delays and input saturation. The proposed approach consists in deriving sufficient conditions for the asymptotic convergence of the network, based on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework. Two tasks are tackled in this manuscript: the consensus and the formation-containment. The consensus is investigated in the discrete- and continuous-time domains, considering directed networks composed of agents modeled as linear systems of arbitrary order, subject to input saturation and time-varying delays. The main results are sufficient conditions for consensus analysis and the design of feedback gains for distributed consensus protocols for multi-agent systems. Besides, in this context, it is also proposed a strategy to compute a region from which the consensus is always guaranteed. On the formation-containment problem, the node dynamics of the network are extended to distinct systems modeled by the Euler-Lagrange equation, also subject to bounded inputs and time-varying delays. The main results on the formation-containment are the design of new control algorithms and sufficient conditions to ensure the convergence of the network. The control algorithms are designed as distributed dynamic controllers, in such a way that the number of neighbors of each agent is decoupled from the bound of the control inputs. Finally, the utilization of the proposed methods is illustrated through numerical examples, and it is shown that they can improve related recent works from the literature that deal with similar issues.

Keywords: Sistemas multi-agentes. Lyapunov-Krasovskii. Saturação. Atrasos. Sistemas Euler-Lagrangea. Consensus.

Resumo

Este trabalho aborda o problema de coordenação em sistemas multiagentes, com agentes sujeitos a atrasos e a saturação nos atuadores. A abordagem proposta consiste em obter condições suficientes para a convergência assintótica dos sistemas interconectados, por meio da teoria de Lyapunov-Krasovskii. Neste manuscrito, são abordadas duas tarefas diferentes, o consenso e o controle de formação-contenção. O consenso é estudado levando em consideração redes direcionadas compostas por agentes descritos por modelos lineares de ordem arbitrária, sujeitos a saturação na entrada e a atrasos variantes no tempo. Neste contexto, o estudo é realizado em tempo discreto e em tempo contínuo. Os resultados obtidos para o problema de consenso são: condições suficientes que garantem a convergência; e o projeto dos ganhos para protocolos distribuídos para sistemas multiagentes. Além disso, neste contexto também é proposto uma estratégia para calcular a região a partir da qual o consenso é sempre garantido. No estudo do problema de formação-contenção, a dinâmica dos nós da rede é estendida para sistemas possivelmente diferentes, modelados pela equação de Euler-Lagrange, igualmente sujeitos a restrições nos atuadores e a atrasos variantes no tempo. Os principais resultados alcançados neste contexto são o um novo algoritmo para o projeto de controle e condições suficientes que garantem a convergência dos sistemas interconectados. Os controladores projetados são dinâmicos e distribuídos, além de possibilitar o desacoplamento dos vizinhos de cada sistema do limite dos atuadores. O uso dos métodos propostos é ilustrado por meio de exemplos numéricos, e a comparação com resultados recentes encontrados na literatura sugere que a abordagem proposta pode levar a resultados menos conservadores.

Palavras-chave: Multi-agent systems. Lyapunov-Krasovskii. Saturation. Delays. Euler-Lagrange systems. Consensus.

List of Figures

1.1	Formation-containment representation	2
2.1	Graph representation of agents interaction.	15
2.2	Sub-graphs formed by the nodes of Figure 2.1.	16
2.3	Example 2.1–Graph representation of agents interaction	31
2.4	Example 2.3–Communication topology of multi-agent system	33
2.5	Example 2.3– The domain of consensus for $\tau_i(t) \in [0.02, 0.2]$: (A) calculated using Theorem 4.1 (Silva, 2019) (in red), and using Theorem 2.2 (in blue); (B) relative trajectories of the agents for starting outside (in red) and inside (in black) of the	
	domain of consensus calculated with Theorem 2.2.	35
2.6 2.7	Example 2.5–Communication topology of multi-agent system	51
	black) of the calculated domain of consensus	52
2.8	Example 2.6–Geometrical characterization of the domain of consensus computed	02
2.0	using Lemma 2.2. The sets $\mathcal{L}_{(1)}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{(1)}$ in solid blue line $\mathcal{L}_{(2)}$. $\mathcal{V}_{(2)}$ and $\mathcal{B}_{(2)}$ in	
	dashed red line, and $\mathcal{C}_{(2)}$ in solid black line	53
2.9	Example 2.7– Growth of the number of variables in Theorems 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, and	
	2.6 for different values of delays (Figures 2.9A and 2.9A) and agents in the network	
	(Figures 2.9C and 2.9D), with second-order agents and single input $(m = 2, and$	
	p = 1)	55
3.1	Representation of the proposed dynamic controller in (3.6) as proxies for commu-	
	nication among agents	64
3.2	Example 3.1–Graph representation of the agents interaction	70
3.3	Example 3.2–Graph representation of the agents interaction	81
3.4	Example 3.2–Snapshots of the networked system trajectories: (A) at $t = 0s$; (B)	
	at $t = 75s$; (C) at $t = 150s$; and (D) at $t = 300s$. The symbol \times represents the	
	followers, while the others symbols represent the leaders positions and the black	
	line links the leaders that shape the final convex hull	83
3.5	Example 3.2–Input signal of each agents' generalized coordinate.	84
3.6	Example 3.2–Position of each coordinate of the agents.	85
3.7	Example 3.3–Several simulations with distinct control parameters in the proposed	
	approach in a network with 20 agents	88
3.8	Example 3.3–Several simulations with distinct control parameters in the proposed	
	approach in the network of Example 3.2.	89

3.9	Example 3.3–Several simulations with distinct control parameters in the proposed	
3.10	approach in the network of Example 3.2	90
	Example 3.4–Several simulations with uncertainties in (A) the input, (B) the	
	systems matrices, and in (C) the communication channels considering the network	
3.11	of two-link manipulators in Example 3.3	91
	Example 3.4–Simulations with uncertainties in the communication channels con-	
	sidering the network of two-link manipulators in Example 3.3 with $\varepsilon = 1.5.$	92

List of Tables

2.1	Example 2.1–Comparison of maximum input delay τ_{max} for various time-varying	
	parts μ_m	32
2.2	Example 2.2–Contrast of the number of variables in the problem of Example 2.1.	33
2.3	Example 2.3– Radius of the ball inscribed in the domain of consensus for different	
	delay intervals.	34
2.4	Example 2.4–Comparison of maximum delay for design conditions of the multi-	
	agent system given in (2.87) .	50
2.5	Example 2.4–Comparison of maximum delay for synthesis conditions of the multi-	
	agent system given in (2.87).	51
3.1	Example 3.1–Maximum bounds for the communication delays.	70
3.2	Example 3.3–Physical parameters of the agents. m_k and l_k , for $k \in \{1, 2\}$, are	
	the mass and the length of each link	86
3.3	Example 3.3–Distinct parameters satisfying conditions in Theorem 3.1 with $k_{2i} =$	
	5 and $k_{3i} = 12.$	87
3.4	Example 3.3–Distinct parameters satisfying conditions in Theorem 3.1 with $k_{2i} =$	
	3 and $k_{3i} = 5$	87

List of Symbols

\mathbb{R}	-	set of real numbers
\mathbb{N}	-	set of positive integers
$\ \cdot\ $	-	Euclidean norm
$\ x_t\ _C$	-	Induced norm $\sup_{\sigma \in [t-\bar{\tau},t]} \ x(\sigma)\ $
*	-	symmetric entry of a symmetric matrix
M', M^{-1}	-	transpose and inverse of matrix M
$M_{(r)}$	-	rth element (row) of the vector (matrix) M
$M'_{(r)}$	-	transpose of the r th row of the matrix M
$M > 0 \ (M \ge 0)$	-	matrix M is positive definite (semi-definite)
$M < 0 \ (M \le 0)$	-	matrix M is negative definite (semi-definite)
$\operatorname{diag}(A,B)$	-	block diagonal matrix with matrices A and B in main diagonal
$(oldsymbol{a} oldsymbol{b})$	-	row-wise concatenation $\begin{bmatrix} m{a}' & m{b}' \end{bmatrix}'$ of vectors $m{a} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $m{b} \in \mathbb{R}^n$
$A \otimes B$	-	Kronecker product between matrices A and B
$\operatorname{Co}\{\cdot\}$	-	convex hull
$\lambda_{\max}(M)$	-	biggest eigenvalue a the matrix M
$\lambda_{\min}(M)$	-	smallest eigenvalue a the matrix M
I_m	-	identity matrix of dimension m
1_n	-	vector of ones in \mathbb{R}^n
0_n	-	vector of zeros in \mathbb{R}^n
0	-	matrix of zeros with appropriate dimensions
$\mathcal{C}^n_{ au}$	-	set of continuous or discrete functions on the interval $[-\tau, 0]$, in \mathbb{R}^n
${\cal G}$	-	graph
\mathcal{V}	-	vertex set of a graph \mathcal{G}
ε	-	edges set of a graph \mathcal{G}
\mathcal{A}	-	adjacency matrix associated with a graph \mathcal{G}
\mathcal{D}	-	degree matrix associated with a graph ${\mathcal G}$
L	-	Laplacian Matrix associated with a graph \mathcal{G}
$ au_i(\mathrm{t})$	-	ith agent's input time-varying delay
au	-	constant input delay
μ_m	-	bound for time-varying delay
$\varphi_i(t_0)$	-	initial condition for i th agent
$\delta[oldsymbol{z}(t)]$	-	time-derivative $\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t)$ for $t \in \mathbb{R}$, or time-shift $\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t+1)$
		for $t \in \mathbb{N}$
S	-	domain of consensus
$\Theta(x)$	-	dead-zone function $\Theta(x) = x - \operatorname{sat}(x)$
\mathbb{I}_i	-	vector of dimension \mathbb{R}^n with 1 on <i>i</i> th position and 0 elsewhere

Contents

A	Acknowledgements vi							
A	bstra	\mathbf{ct}		viii				
R	esum	esumo i						
1	Intr	oduct	ion	1				
	1.1	Semin	al Works	3				
	1.2	State	of the Art	4				
		1.2.1	Network Issues	4				
			Connectivity maintenance	4				
			Quantization	4				
			Distance dependent disturbance	4				
			Packet loss	5				
			Time-delay	5				
		1.2.2	Node Issues	5				
			Energy constraint	5				
			Input saturation	6				
			Model uncertainty	6				
			Nonlinear dynamics	7				
	1.3	Contr	ibutions Overview	7				
2 Multi-Agent Systems with General Linear Dynamics								
	2.1	2.1 Introduction and Preliminaries						
		2.1.1	Review of Lyapunov-Krasovskii Methodology	13				
		2.1.2	Dynamic Network	13				
		2.1.3	Problem Statement	14				
		2.1.4	Graph Theory	15				
		2.1.5	Tree-Type Transformation	16				
		2.1.6	Consensus as a Stability Problem	17				
	2.2	Conse	nsus of Continuous-Time Systems	20				
		2.2.1	Stability Analysis	21				
		2.2.2	Stabilization	27				
		2.2.3	Characterization of the Set of Initial Conditions	29				
			Maximization of the allowed initial conditions	30				
		2.2.4	Numerical Examples	31				
	2.3	Conse	nsus of Discrete-Time Systems: Lyapunov-Krasovskii Approach	35				

		2.3.1	Stability Analysis	36		
		2.3.2	Stabilization	41		
		2.3.3	Characterization of the Set of Initial Conditions	43		
			Maximization of the allowed initial conditions	44		
	2.4	Conse	nsus of Discrete-Time Systems: Augmented System Approach	45		
		2.4.1	Stability Analysis	46		
		2.4.2	Stabilization	48		
			Maximization of the allowed initial conditions	50		
		2.4.3	Numerical Examples	50		
	2.5	Chapt	er Conclusions	54		
3	Fori	n-Containment of Euler-Lagrange Systems	57			
	3.1	Introd	luction and Preliminaries	57		
		3.1.1	Nonlinear Dynamics	59		
		3.1.2	Communication Topology on the Formation-Containment	61		
		3.1.3	Communication Channels Subject to Delay	62		
		3.1.4	Saturation on the Formation-Containment	62		
	3.2	Leade	rs Distributed Formation Control	63		
		3.2.1	Numerical Examples	69		
	3.3	The F	ollowers Distributed Containment Control	71		
	3.4 Formation-Containment Control			79		
		3.4.1	Numerical Examples	80		
	3.5	Chapt	er Conclusions	92		
4	Fina	nal Discussion				
	4.1	Future	e Research	94		
	4.2	List of	f Publications	95		
\mathbf{A}	Mat	thema	tical Tools	97		
	A.1	Auxili	ary Lemmas	97		
Bi	bliog	graphy		99		

Chapter 1

Introduction

The wide range of applications for networked systems that work cooperatively have made the research of these arrangements remarkably attractive. This type of system is desirable since it provides features like robustness to individual failure, network scalability, and the possibility to attain tasks otherwise very hard for single systems (for example, carry a heavy and sparse load). That is to say, there are situations where it is simpler to develop solutions for a group of systems than for a single one.

These networked systems are often called multi-agent systems, where each agent is an individual entity able to make decisions and interact with the environment. Agents in such networks are required to operate harmoniously with each other in order to achieve a global level objective, usually having limited access to information and using simple rules. It is possible to divide the control approach for multi-agent systems into two large groups, according to the kind of information that each agent has access to and the group communication. Namely, there are *centralized* and *decentralized* methods. In the former, the actions of each agent are planned by a central controller which has access to information on the whole group. Whereas in the latter, the agents share information only with a subset of the group, called neighbors, and use local information to plan their actions.

Although the centralized approach may be applicable to ensure the accomplishment of various tasks, it is not scalable in general because the complexity of these systems grows fast with the number of agents. On the other hand, decentralized methods impose that each agent has rules that use only local information, in this way, it may be possible to add agents without a great increase in the complexity of the algorithm to be performed by the networked system.

In the field of networked systems, some of the most important problems that have been investigated are: the so-called consensus problem (Saber and Murray, 2003), in which the agents must reach an agreement on pre-specified variables; the containment problem (Ji et al., 2008), in which the agents are required to move into a referred convex hull; the distributed parameter estimation (Gubner, 1993); and the problem of formation (Lewis and Tan, 1997), where the main objective is that each agent keeps a desired relative position, distance, or orientation in relation to neighbor agents. Within these topics, the consensus problem is probably the most investigated one, partly due to the applications that can be improved from the development of this topic (see the studies by Qin et al. (2017) and Dorri, Kanhere, and Jurdak (2018), and references therein for recent advances).

From the topics listed above, a very general and challenging problem in multi-agent systems is the formation-containment. The main purpose of this problem is to stabilize multiple leaders in a formation and move a group of followers towards the convex hull constituted by the leaders. An



FIGURE 1.1: Formation-containment representation.

example of this desired objective is illustrated in Figure 1.1, where the vehicles in gray and brown represent leaders and follower agents, respectively. As a matter of fact, the problems of leaderless and the leader following consensus can be seen as particular cases of the formation-containment problem (Dong et al., 2015). In fact, by selecting a single leader the formation-containment problem becomes the consensus in which the followers have to synchronize their states with the states of the leader, and by considering some leaders with no followers the problem can be reduced to the leaderless consensus problem. The formation-containment not only extends other problems in multi-agent systems, but it also has many applications, for example, in the maneuver of a team of vehicles it might be required that only a portion of the group be aware of the environment and target position.

In the context of multi-agent systems, there is a growing body of literature investigating issues such as consensus (Savino, Souza, and Pimenta, 2018; Savino et al., 2020; Alves Neto, Mozelli, and Macharet, 2020), tracking in multi-robots settings (Pacheco, Pimenta, and Raffo, 2020; Yao, Ding, and Ge, 2018; Chu et al., 2018), teleoperation (Souza et al., 2008; Lima et al., 2019; Yuan, Wang, and Guo, 2019; Kebria et al., 2020), line formation (or convoy) (Neto, Mozelli, and Souza, 2019; Borkar, Borkar, and Sinha, 2019; Souza et al., 2020), segregation in robotic swarms (Ferreira Filho and Pimenta, 2020; Inácio, Macharet, and Chaimowicz, 2019; Santos, Pimenta, and Chaimowicz, 2014), input saturation (Jesus et al., 2014; Deng and Yang, 2017; Li and Lin, 2017), and challenges related to implementation like event-triggered (Dimarogonas, Frazzoli, and Johansson, 2012; Cui et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017), intermittent communication (Li and Liu, 2018a; Savino et al., 2016; Yang, Wang, and Ni, 2013), nonlinear systems (Araújo, Torres, and Palhares, 2019; Gu et al., 2019; Li and Liu, 2018b), signed networks (Altafini, 2013; Valcher and Misra, 2014) and heterogeneous systems (Li and Liu, 2018a; Zheng and Wang, 2015; Wen et al., 2016). In this large field, few relevant works can be found where input saturation and time-delay are addressed together, although this is not a rare situation in physical networked systems. In fact, on the field of interconnected systems there are issues that arise from both, the interconnection and from each system itself. In the following the main difficulties that emerge on the study of multi-agent systems are summarized.

1.1 Seminal Works

The cooperative control of multi-agent systems has its roots in statistical analysis (Winkler, 1968; Degroot, 1974) and computer science (Tsitsiklis, Bertsekas, and Athans, 1986). The authors in Winkler (1968), Degroot (1974), and Tsitsiklis, Bertsekas, and Athans (1986) started to use ideas and terms that later composed the lexicon of multi-agent systems that lead the research line on consensus, which is closely related to formation control, flocking, and other tasks on multi-agent systems. Winkler (1968) suggested multiple methods to formally combine several probability distributions to obtain a single distribution to be used as a basis for decision-making, a problem which he referred to as "consensus problem". Degroot (1974) proposed a technique for a group of individuals to reach an agreement on an estimation of an unknown quantity given that each individual had its probability distribution of this quantity. While Tsitsiklis, Bertsekas, and Athans (1986) proposed a model for asynchronous distributed computation and showed that distributed versions of a large class of gradient-like algorithms preserve convergence properties of their centralized counterparts.

Another field that preceded and influenced the research area of cooperative control in multiagent systems was the computer graphics modeling of flocks of birds and herds of land animals. Inspired by the motion of groups of individuals in nature, the objective was to simulate the emergent behavior that occurs in large groups of animals, without using a central controller. One example is the alignment and movement at the same speed that these groups tend to attain (Okubo, 1986). A remarkable characteristic is that in these models each individual is designed to react to its neighborhood with simple rules. Reynolds (1987) proposed an algorithm to simulate this behavior in a three-dimensional space and established his results using simulations, without convergence proofs. Then, Vicsek et al. (1995) proposed a simpler model for particles moving on the plane, a particular case of Reynolds' results. In their paper Vicsek et al. (1995), provide a variety of simulations to show that the agents eventually move in the same direction in absence of centralized control and with the varying neighborhood. The theoretical explanation of the results of Vicsek et al. (1995) was given later by Jadbabaie, Lin, and Morse (2003).

More specifically in the context of control of multi-agent systems, the studies started to arise more frequently later in the 90's with the problem of formation control, inheriting the theoretical development of statistics and graphical modeling (Sugihara and Suzuki, 1996; Suzuki and Yamashita, 1999; Singh et al., 2000; Liu, Passino, and Polycarpou, 2001; Mesbahi and Hadaegh, 2001). At this time the main objective was to establish protocols to make a group of robots cooperatively perform a given task. Particularly, Suzuki and Yamashita (1999) studied algorithms that distribute groups of robots to form geometrical patterns with rigorous proofs of convergence. Singh et al. (2000) suggested an adaptive control system for multiple unmanned aerial vehicles asymptotically track the desired shape. While Liu, Passino, and Polycarpou (2001) proposed distributed models of interaction for members of groups of systems required to behave as a swarm. The authors in Liu, Passino, and Polycarpou (2001) established simple rules in such a way the swarm convergence is guaranteed whenever the systems follow these rules. By this time an interesting interplay between Lyapunov theory and algebraic graph theory was shown in the works by Mesbahi and Hadaegh (2001) and Fax and Murray (2002). After that, the study of distributed networked systems using this framework became standard.

1.2 State of the Art

In the past twenty years, considerable research has been made on multi-agent systems (Suzuki and Yamashita, 1999; Singh et al., 2000; Mesbahi and Hadaegh, 2001; Fax and Murray, 2002; Olfati-Saber and Murray, 2004), mostly motivated by the potential capacity to solve several problems more efficiently if compared to single controlled systems. However, to fully enjoy these benefits some drawbacks intrinsically associated with networked systems have to be solved. The next sections present various research issues in multi-agent systems and some recent approaches to handle these problems.

1.2.1 Network Issues

Connectivity maintenance

The connectivity of the network topology is critical in guaranteeing the desired behavior of the agents and, more often than not, the connectivity is assumed *a priori*. However, it was shown in Ji and Egerstedt (2007) that in scenarios where the topology is state-dependent, for example, a network in which agents can only exchange information with other agents within some range, under the traditional consensus algorithm the connectivity could be lost even if the network topology is initially connected. Yang, Shi, and Constantinescu (2019) proposed a control strategy to preserve the connectivity of networked Euler-Lagrange systems subject to time-delays. Their methodology is formulated as a strict minimization of an energy-like function of the neighbors' states of each agent. In the work of Su and Lin (2019) the problem of consensus with a virtual leader and agents with double-integrator dynamics, previously studied (Olfati-Saber, 2006), is revisited and extended, and the proposed control strategy can maintain initially existent connections and new ones created during the network evolution, hence the requirement of initially connected topology is relaxed.

Quantization

In practical systems, the finite sampling capacity implies that no perfect state information can be processed. Without exact neighbors information, the multi-agent system might not attain convergence, and depending on the information precision the convergence might be attainable only to a certain range, which can prevent some tasks to be performed with a desirable performance, for example, the load balancing (Li et al., 2014). To deal with that sort of problem Li, Ho, and Li (2018) investigated an adaptive control strategy on the consensus problem, considering logarithmic quantizer measurements. The distributed adaptive controller is designed to handle quantized information among agents, which are modeled as structured uncertainties.

Distance dependent disturbance

An interesting observation made by Cucker and Smale (2007) is that in some networks the *influence* between two agents is related to the distance between them. Specifically, to address

this aspect, Cucker and Smale (2007) modeled the multi-agent system in such a way the closer two agents are, the bigger the influence among them. After that, the extended idea of modeling non-ideal measurements associated with the distance among agents came along, which also extended the information modeling with additive noise and reliability to a more appropriate representation of multi-agent systems (Ren, Beard, and Kingston, 2005; Huang et al., 2010). One recent strategy to deal with this particularity is proposed in Mo, Guo, and Yu (2019), where a mean-square H_{∞} formation problem, also subject to external disturbances, is investigated.

Packet loss

Due to non-ideal environment and communication channels, networked systems are almost always subject to data packet dropout. On the literature there are three main strategies used to deal with the analysis of stability under this problem, namely: i) the formulation as input delay (Souza et al., 2012; Souza et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2017) in such a way the delayed information encompasses the time between two valid data packets; ii) the use of hybrid systems to handle deterministic packet losses (Chen and Zheng, 2012; Sui et al., 2018), such that each agent is composed of an uncontrolled (when loss happens) and a controlled system (when there is no packet loss); and iii) by representing the input random packet losses as an input stochastic sampled-data that fulfill a Bernoulli distribution (Zhang et al., 2017; Sui et al., 2018).

Time-delay

Time-delay is an important feature to take into account on system stabilization. It is almost inevitable and its presence can lead to undesirable performance and even to instability. Its presence is critical in multi-agent systems, as first shown by Olfati-Saber and Murray (2004), it can prevent the network to reach convergence even for agents with simple dynamics. Olfati-Saber and Murray have started the analysis of consensus in multi-agent systems with constant uniform time-delays and then their research was expanded for different types of delays, for example, considering multiple time-varying delays (Sun, Wang, and Xie, 2008) and nonuniform delays, in other words delays that are distinct over the network (Bliman and Ferrari-Trecate, 2008). Nevertheless, it is important to notice that time-delays not necessarily lead to degradation in performance, as it was shown in Michael et al. (2014) and Edwards et al. (2020), it can be used to induce behaviors on flocking or even to *improve* the convergence of networked systems.

Recent strategies to handle delays are often based on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework together with the derivation of LMI conditions to verify the network convergence. Some examples are the works in Savino et al. (2016), Zhou et al. (2018), and Fattahi and Afshar (2019).

1.2.2 Node Issues

Energy constraint

In some applications, each agent of the network may have a limited source of energy, which makes its autonomy limited. One promising strategy to design efficient networks that have been gaining popularity is event-triggered control and measurement. Roughly speaking, the main objective is to alleviate the assumption of continuous and periodic controller updates. That is, efficiently update the controllers' states at specific events (Nowzari, Garcia, and Cortés, 2019). There are several studies on event-based control for multi-agent systems, see for example the works by Wang, Yu, and Sun (2018), Nowzari, Garcia, and Cortés (2019), and Yi et al. (2019) and references therein for recent approaches.

Input saturation

Input saturation is a bound imposed by physical limitations in the actuators of the agents, and as such, it is naturally part of almost every real-world system. This constraint causes a nonlinear behavior in the closed-loop system that can lead to performance degradation, the occurrence of limit cycles, and instability, which may prevent the multi-agent system to attain the desirable goal. Two main strategies are generally used to deal with saturated control systems (Tarbouriech and Turner, 2009): the first one is to design the controller without considering the limits of the actuators and then appropriately tune it and/or introduce modifications to minimize saturation effects (Oliveira et al., 2013). In this approach, the system behaves as a linear one whenever the limits of the actuators are not reached and the modifications, if any, become active only in the presence of saturation. The second strategy is to take into account the limits of actuators a priori while trying to ensure performance requirements. This approach usually allows a clear trade-off between performance and the region of operation (when global stabilization is not guaranteed) (Paim et al., 2002; Castelan et al., 2006). It is worth mentioning that within this strategy there are promising approaches to deal with saturation, for example, Zhang, Wang, and Li (2013) presents a distributed model predictive control to deal with actuator saturation and derive linear matrix inequalities conditions to solve it. Cheng et al. (2015) also suggest model predictive control protocols for multi-agent systems with double-integrators dynamics. Yi et al. (2019) have studied the problem from the perspective of event-triggered control on single integrators dynamics, and in Sakthivel et al. (2018) conditions for the analysis of a stochastic fault-tolerant control subject to input saturation is proposed as LMIs, to study the leaderfollowing consensus.

Model uncertainty

Uncertainties and unmodeled dynamics are typical sources of undesired behavior and even instability in the control of dynamic systems. Naturally, not all control strategies are robust to these characteristics, and there are some controllers more sensitive than others. On networked systems, these uncertainties have a critical impact, since a "bad" behaving node would propagate its dynamics through the network, and could disrupt the accomplishment of the group task. It is noteworthy that most works on multi-agent systems are usually concerned with agents with precisely known dynamics. However, there is a research line in which the primary interest is to derive robust control strategies for multi-agent systems, see for instance the works by Li, Soh, and Xie (2018) and by Khalili et al. (2018) and references therein.

Nonlinear dynamics

Most real-world systems would be better modeled using nonlinear differential equations. However, more often than not, linear control techniques are applied to stabilize nonlinear systems, even though linear representations are generally valid only in the vicinity of the linearization point (Slotine and Li, 1991). Following this tendency, the research on multi-agent systems started considering agents with integrators and double-integrators dynamics, then it was expanded to finite-order linear systems, and only a small portion of the field was involved with nonlinear dynamics. Only over the past ten years, the results have been largely extended to nonlinear systems (Chung and Slotine, 2007; Ren, 2009; Nuño et al., 2011; Nuño et al., 2012). Some recent approaches to handle nonlinear nodes on networked systems are proposed by Zhou et al. (2018), Gong and Lan (2018), and Chen et al. (2019b).

This research fits into the context of multi-agent systems with time-varying delays and input saturation. The main purpose is to extend the research area by deriving analysis conditions and designing appropriate controllers such that the networked system reaches convergence. The problem is tackled considering linear and nonlinear node dynamics, and input and communication delays. The contributions in each context are summarized at the end of this chapter and specifically discussed in Chapters 2 and 3, where they are also contrasted with similar studies found in the literature.

One should note that this section is limited to the presentation of problems associated with multi-agent systems, and has not addressed the challenge of different tasks, nor specific control strategies. The chosen topics are by no means complete—their main purpose is to provide a *feeling* of the fundamental problems of the field and to indicate some recent approaches to address them.

1.3 Contributions Overview

This work investigates a scenario that has started to be studied only recently in the field of multi-agent systems, nevertheless it is an important one as it considers scenarios closer to realworld by considering models for the agents with saturating inputs and time-varying delays. New conditions to analyze the convergence and design of feedback controllers for the agents of the network are proposed.

In this research, two different tasks of cooperative control are studied, the consensus and formation-containment, each one with distinct node dynamics. The consensus problem is addressed in the continuous- and discrete-time domains considering saturated linear agents. The consensus is translated into a stability analysis problem, with saturation represented as a deadzone function. In this context, input time-delays are considered nonuniform over the network and possibly non-differentiable within a closed set (Savino, Souza, and Pimenta, 2014). On the formation-containment problem, the node dynamics are considered nonlinear and modeled as Euler-Lagrange systems subject to input saturation. In this context, the time-delays that affect the network are considered in the communication channels and are also nonuniform, meaning that they can vary independently over the network. The main improvements to the field that this work provides come in twofold: in the context of consensus with linear agents i) firstly, it is proposed a method to study the consensus in terms of the stability of linear multi-agent systems subject to input saturation and input time-varying delays, based on the transformation carried by Sun and Wang (2009). Then, it is proposed systematic procedures to study the stability and to synthesize the gains of controllers for the agents in continuous- and discrete-time multi-agent systems. In both scenarios, the methods can maximize the size of the region in which the consensus is always reachable; and ii) regarding the formation-containment with Euler-Lagrange systems, it is proposed new distributed dynamic controllers that take into account the communication delays and provide a bounded input for each agent. The control strategy is elaborated such that it is applicable on networks composed of heterogeneous systems with the same number of degrees of freedom. Then, it is proposed an LMI test that provides the convergence analysis by considering some controller gains and upper-bounds on the delays.

The remaining of this text is divided in the following way:

- Chapter 2: In this chapter the proposed methods for the consensus analysis and gains design on saturated linear systems are presented, as well as mathematical proofs of these results and numerical examples.
- Chapter 3: In this chapter, it is presented the design of distributed dynamic controllers, along with sufficient conditions for the networked Euler-Lagrange systems subject to input saturation and communication delays attain the formation-containment.
- **Chapter 4:** Finally, final considerations about the results are made, and a perspective of future developments is shown.

Chapter 2

Multi-Agent Systems with General Linear Dynamics

This chapter investigates the consensus problem subject to saturating inputs and time-delays. The problem is examined in the continuous- and discrete-time domains. In the continuous-time, the question is tackled employing the Lyapunov-Krasovskii methodology, the approach presented in this text is an extension of the results presented in the Master Thesis (Silva, 2019). In the discrete-time domain, two different approaches are given, one based on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework and another developed by writing the multi-agent delayed system as an equivalent switching system. The primary points presented in this chapter are i) the use of sectorial non-linearity to represent the saturation, ii) the transformation of the consensus problem into a stability problem on disagreement variables, and finally, iv) the formulation of stability and gain design conditions.

An important highlight on the notation used through this chapter is that because it will be presented two approaches, considering continuous- and discrete-time multi-agent systems, and part of the theory is shared among the two, a portion of the notation will also be given jointly. More specifically, the definitions and manipulations presented up to Section 2.1.6 are introduced together. Particularly, until Section 2.1.6 the independent variable t might represent the continuous- $(t \in \mathbb{R})$ or the discrete-time $(t \in \mathbb{N})$ variable. For this reason, I will use the operator

 $\delta[\boldsymbol{x}(t)]$

to refer to the time-derivative in the continuous-time domain, i.e., $\delta[\mathbf{x}(t)] = \dot{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ with $t \in \mathbb{R}$, while in discrete-time domain to refer to the time-shift, i.e., $\delta[\mathbf{x}(t)] = \mathbf{x}(t+1)$ with $t \in \mathbb{N}$. In the sections in which this notation might insert some ambiguity, I will indicate specifically which context is being considered.

2.1 Introduction and Preliminaries

It is noteworthy that the first works on multi-agent systems were mainly concerned with agents modeled by linear models (Suzuki and Yamashita, 1999; Saber and Murray, 2003; Olfati-Saber and Murray, 2004; Ren, Beard, and Kingston, 2005; Cucker and Smale, 2007). Despite the fact that this approach can be used to model a rather small set of real world-systems, interesting problems can be solved from this perspective (see for example the results in Cheng et al. (2015), Chen et al. (2017a), Li, Soh, and Xie (2018), and Yi et al. (2019)), and as it gives flexibility and

eases the system analysis, it remains a valuable tool to access the stability and stabilization of real-world systems. With this in mind, this chapter presents new contributions to address the consensus of linear systems subject to input saturation and time delays.

Consensus is one of the fundamental problems in multi-agent systems, as pointed out by Ren and Beard (2008). That is because consensus algorithms have applications in several problems of multi-agent systems, for example, the problem of rendezvous (Cortes, Martinez, and Bullo, 2006; Dong and Huang, 2018), formation control (Porfiri, Roberson, and Stilwell, 2007; Ren, Beard, and Atkins, 2007), and sensor networks (Spanos and Murray, 2005; Mohammadi and Asif, 2015). Consensus means to reach an agreement on a joint variable value, where agents share information and update its variable according to some rule until the network converges. Formally, the definition of consensus can be stated as:

Definition 2.1. A multi-agent system with n agents and state variables $x_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$, where $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ is the index of the agents, asymptotically reaches consensus on these variables if, for all $i \neq j$,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} (\boldsymbol{x}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_j(t)) = 0.$$
(2.1)

A consensus protocol is the interaction rule among agents that aims to drive the system toward consensus. The classical protocol discussed in this text was introduced by Saber and Murray (2003), and for the *i*th agent it has the following form:

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} K \Big(\boldsymbol{x}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_{j}(t) \Big), \qquad (2.2)$$

where $u_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^p$ is the input signal and $K \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times m}$ is a constant gain matrix. This is a simple distributed protocol that uses only local information with a linear relationship between the states of agents. The constant a_{ij} is the (i, j) entry of the adjacency matrix (formally presented below in Section 2.1.4), and in the consensus protocol (2.2) it selects only the information provided by the agents which the *i*th agent interacts with. Note that this constant is equal to zero for non-neighbor agents.

This chapter is concerned with the problem of consensus subject to constrained control signals according to the following assumption:

Assumption 2.1. All the control inputs of agents, $u_i(t)$, are constrained by symmetric limits $-u_{\max,i(k)} \leq u_{i(k)}(t) \leq u_{\max,i(k)}$, for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, in which $u_{\max,i(k)} \in \mathbb{R}$ is a scalar limit of the kth input in the ith agent, and the subscript in parenthesis selects the kth element of the vector.

Without loss of generality, the analysis is carried by assuming that $u_{\max,i(k)} = u_{\max}$, for all *i*, *k*. This is done to ease notation, however, one can observe that the proposed conditions are checked in each of the *np* inputs in the network. Thus, to recover the general instance the upper-bound for each input can be set individually.

Assumption 2.1 portrays a practical constraint present in most real systems which can lead to performance degradation or even to instability. It has been studied in different scenarios (see the work of Bernstein and Michel (1995) for a chronological review on saturation until 1995, and the book of Tarbouriech et al. (2011) on the topic of stability and stabilization of linear systems with input saturation). A consequence of the nonlinear behavior that Assumption 2.1 represents is that it might be impossible to steer the agents from some initial condition to the origin, when using static state-feedback control without additional assumptions on the dynamics of the agents, e.g., open-loop stability, as it is shown in Schmitendorf and Barmish (1980). Hence, with stabilizing feedback and agents potentially open-loop unstable, it is necessary to compute a region of the state space where for any initial condition exists bounded controls that stabilize the agents.

Associated with the saturation phenomenon, the problem of input time-delay is also considered. It is assumed that the delay occurs locally on each agent i. This is stated in the form of the following assumption:

Assumption 2.2. The consensus protocol has access to all neighbors states instantaneously, but the controller action is delayed.

This problem has been studied from different points of view to find maximum delays that allow consensus achievement, for example, the works by Olfati-Saber and Murray (2004), Savino et al. (2013), Wen et al. (2016), You et al. (2016), and Zhao et al. (2017). In the consensus protocol (2.2) the input delay can be represented with the following adaptation:

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{i}(t) = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} K \Big(\boldsymbol{x}_{i}(t - \tau_{i}(t)) - \boldsymbol{x}_{j}(t - \tau_{i}(t)) \Big),$$
(2.3)

where the function $\tau_i(t)$ maps the time-varying delay of the *i*th agent. In light of this, we define a region for time-delay systems from which the consensus can be attained.

Definition 2.2. The domain of consensus is a region $S \subset C_{t_0,\bar{\tau}}^{nm}$ in which for any $\varphi(t_0) \in S$, the multi-agent system achieves consensus. The domain of consensus can be written in the following way,

$$\mathcal{S} = \Big\{ \varphi(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0,\bar{\tau}}^{nm} : \lim_{t \to \infty} \boldsymbol{x}_i(t) = \boldsymbol{x}_j(t), \ \forall i, j \in \mathcal{V}, \ i \neq j \Big\},$$
(2.4)

where $\bar{\tau}$ denotes the maximum delay upper-bound, $C_{t_0,\bar{\tau}}^{nm}$ represents the set of states of order nm on the interval $[t_0 - \bar{\tau}, t_0]$, and $\varphi(t_0) \in C_{t_0,\bar{\tau}}^{nm}$ is a continuous- (discrete-) time signal of state variables of the agents on $[t_0 - \bar{\tau}, t_0]$.

In general, the exact computation of the region of convergence is a challenging task, even for delay-free single agent systems (Tarbouriech et al., 2011). Typically, this problem is tackled by estimating a subset of S less conservative as possible.

As shown in the seminal studies in Olfati-Saber and Murray (2004) and Saber and Murray (2003), depending on the time-delay some trajectories might converge or diverge to consensus. In this work, the objective is to investigate the scenario in which both, saturation and time-delays, might be present. To the best of the author's knowledge, this type of restriction have started to be studied just recently with works in continuous-time domain in You et al. (2016),

Yanumula, Kar, and Majhi (2017) and in Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018), and there is only one work addressing saturation and time-delays simultaneously on discrete-time multi-agent systems by Zhang, Saberi, and Stoorvogel (2020). Nevertheless, the approach presented here extend those results in significant aspects. Namely, the work in You et al. (2016)

- i) deals only with the problem of leader-following consensus, while our approach can be used on problems with and without leader;
- ii) even though they said that the approach is appropriated for global consensus, no guarantees is given in order to ensure that only systems with this characteristic will be analyzed. Thus, there might be cases where their conditions are satisfied and global consensus cannot be reached (this is illustrated in Example 2.1);
- iii) considers undirected switching communication topologies, while the network communication topology in this work is directed, but fixed;
- iv) the proposed conditions are matrix inequalities but are not linear, which makes it difficult to find optiminal solutions.

The work in Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018)

- i) also is concerned only with the problem of leader-following consensus, while we deal with consensus with and without leader;
- ii) formulates the problem of consensus analysis with bilinear matrix inequalities. Although this formulation might have some advantages, it is a nonconvex problem and in general there is no unified method to solve it;
- iii) considers buffers over the network used to synchronize the input delays, in such a way that the control action is updated only after all agents receive a confirmation signal. In other words, their approach assumes that the *i*th agent receives the confirmation signal from all the other agents, leading to a centralized type of communication. The approach presented here is more general, considering decentralized, distinct time-delays.

In the discrete-time domain, Zhang, Saberi, and Stoorvogel (2020)

- i) investigate the convergence of agents subject to input saturation and unknown nonuniform constant delays, here we consider time-varying delays;
- ii) assume agents having open-loop stable dynamics. This facilitates the study since it is not required to compute regions of guaranteed convergence. In the approach proposed here no such assumption is made;
- iii) derive an upper bound for the delay tolerance and, therefore, ensure the stability for a set of networks with different constant delays. Here, similarly, it is considered nonuniform time-delays based on upper-bounds of their values.

2.1.1 Review of Lyapunov-Krasovskii Methodology

A fundamental assumption of systems modeled by ordinary differential equations (difference equations in the discrete-time domain), such as

$$\delta[x(t)] = f(t, x(t)),$$

is that the future state variables of the system are completely determined by the current state values. That is, the values of the state x(t) can be established once the initial condition x(0) is known. However, in the class of delayed systems the future evolution of state variables not only depends on the current value x(t), but also on historical values $x_t = x(t + \eta)$, with $\eta \in [-\tau, 0]$. The Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework is a generalization of the Lyapunov second method to attest the stability of time-delay systems, and its main theorem can be expressed as follows:

Lemma 2.1 (Lyapunov-Krasovskii (Gu, Kharitonov, and Chen (2003))). Suppose $f : \mathbb{R} \times C^m_{-\bar{\tau}} \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and that $u, v, and w : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are continuous nondecreasing functions, and u(0) = v(0) = 0. The time-delay system $\delta[x(t)] = f(t, x_t)$ has a uniformly stable equilibrium point if there exists a continuous functional $V(x_t) : \mathbb{R} \times C^m_{-\bar{\tau}} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ which is positive definite

$$u(||x_t||) \le V(x_t) \le v(||x_t||_C),$$

and its derivative (forward difference for discrete-time systems) along the solution of the system is such that

$$\dot{V}(x_t) \leq -w(\|x_t\|) \quad (or \ \Delta V(x_t) \leq -w(\|x_t\|) \text{ in the discrete-time domain}),$$

where x_t represents the system states $x(\sigma)$ with $\sigma \in [t - \bar{\tau}, t]$, $||x_t||_C = \sup_{\sigma \in [t - \bar{\tau}, t]} ||x(\sigma)||$, and the constant $\bar{\tau}$ represents the maximum value of the delay.

As in the second method of Lyapunov, the main difficulty with the application of the above theorem is the choice of an appropriate functional $V(x_t)$. Moreover, even for single linear agent systems subject to time-varying delay, without saturation, it is still challenging to put together an exact Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional that gives necessary and sufficient stability conditions. Hence, several strategies have been proposed in the literature to cope with the conservatism of the approach. Usually, the technique is to add information about the delay. See for example the works in Wang et al. (2018) and in Fridman (2014) and references therein for some standard strategies.

2.1.2 Dynamic Network

Consider a multi-agent system consisting of n agents subject to saturation and input time-delay, in which the open-loop dynamics of the *i*th agent is given by

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{x}_i(t)] = A\boldsymbol{x}_i(t) + B\operatorname{sat}(\boldsymbol{u}_i(t)), \qquad (2.5)$$

where $\boldsymbol{x}_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is the agent state variable, $\boldsymbol{u}_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^p$ the input control subject to delay, and A and B are real constant known matrices of appropriate dimensions. Initial conditions for the *i*th agent are given by

$$\varphi_i(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}^m_{\max\{\tau_i(t)\}}$$

in which $C_{\max\{\tau_i(t)\}}^m$ represents the set of states in the continuous-time domain of order m on the interval $[t_0 - \max\{\tau_i(t)\}, t_0]$. The time-varying delay that affects the *i*th agent's input is implicit in (2.5) (with input given as (2.3)) and is given by $\tau_i(t)$, as in Savino et al. (2016), and it is modeled by

$$\tau_i(t) = \tau + \mu_i(t), \ \forall i \in \{1, \dots, n\},$$

where τ is a constant value and $\mu_i(t)$ a possibly non-differentiable time-varying perturbation that satisfies $|\mu_i(t)| \leq \mu_m \leq \tau$ with μ_m known, hence the delay belongs to an interval given by $\tau_i(t) \in [\tau - \mu_m, \tau + \mu_m].$

The function $sat(\cdot)$ maps the saturation as:

$$sat(u_i) = [sat(u_{i(1)}) \cdots sat(u_{i(p)})]', \text{ with} sat(u_{i(r)}) = sign(u_{i(r)}) \min(u_{\max}, |u_{i(r)}|),$$
(2.6)

for all $r \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, and the scalar u_{\max} represents the limit of the actuators. The subscript in parenthesis $M_{(r)}$ denotes the *r*th element or the *r*th row, if *M* is a vector or a matrix, respectively, and $M'_{(r)}$ represents the transpose of its *r*th row. Without loss of generality, it is assumed that all inputs are independent and have the same maximum value. Observe that due to the saturation it is impossible to steer the agents' states from some initial conditions $\varphi_i(t_0)$ to the origin with static state-feedback control, if the open-loop system in (2.5) is unstable, i.e., having some eigenvalues of *A* with i) positive real part in the continuous-time domain or ii) outside the unit circle in the discrete-time domain (Tingshu Hu, 2001; Schmitendorf and Barmish, 1980).

2.1.3 Problem Statement

In the present chapter we address the following problems:

Problem 1. Given the state-feedback matrix K in (2.3), determine whether the multi-agent system with dynamics given by (2.5) reaches consensus, with agents subject to input time-delay and input saturation. In addition, establish a region from where the agents always attain the consensus.

Problem 2. Design the stabilizing state-feedback matrix K in (2.3) for the agents subject to input time-delays and input saturation of the multi-agent system with dynamics given by (2.5) to guarantee consensus, along with an estimate of the domain of consensus.

2.1.4 Graph Theory

In this investigation, the interaction between agents is represented using graphs. This abstraction allows to represent the communication complexity as essentially combinatorial: it identifies which pairs of agents have interactions and to what degree. To illustrate this idea consider the group of five range sensors in Figure 2.1, where each dot on the left side represents a sensor and the gray area represents its range. The communication topology is abstracted on the right side as a graph, where the nodes represent the sensors and an edge exists only if a sensor can perceive a neighbor sensor, the arrows represent the direction of the information flow. The algebraic



FIGURE 2.1: Graph representation of agents interaction.

theory of graphs to model interactions between systems has been used by several authors in the context of networked systems. Mesbahi and Hadaegh (2001) were one of the first authors to use it in the multi-agent systems context and then this representation became popular, most references in this text represent the multi-agent system communication in this way.

A finite, directed, simple graph is built upon a finite set called vertex set denoted by $\mathcal{V} = \{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ (Mesbahi and Egerstedt, 2010). To formally define a graph \mathcal{G} we use a particular subset of the Cartesian product $\mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V}$, named edges of \mathcal{G} , and assign the symbol \mathcal{E} to it. Each element of the edge set, e_{ij} , represents a directed information flow in the multi-agent system. Thus, set \mathcal{E} is built by choosing ordered pairs that represent two agents that interact with each other. In each element $e_{ij} = (v_i, v_j)$, the first argument v_i is the parent node (the arrow's tail) and the second argument v_j is the child node (the arrow's head), formally we have: $\mathcal{E} = \{(v_i, v_j) : v_j \text{ receives information from } v_i\}$. The neighborhood of the vertex v_i is the set of all vertices that v_i receives information from, specifically, $\mathcal{N}_i = \{v_j \in \mathcal{V} : (v_j, v_i) \in \mathcal{E}\}$. Additionally, an adjacent node, or neighbor of v_i , is a node v_j that belongs to the neighborhood \mathcal{N}_i . The adjacency matrix \mathcal{A} is defined by assigning values to its elements according to the edge set:

$$a_{ij} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } i = j \text{ or } \nexists e_{ji} \\ 1, & \text{if } e_{ji} \in \mathcal{E}. \end{cases}$$

Then, the idea of moving from node to node through the edges comes naturally using the notion of adjacency. Thereby, a *path* related to the graph \mathcal{G} is given by a sequence of nodes $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ such that for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$, the nodes v_k and v_{k+1} are adjacent and v_{k+1} is a child node. Finally, the degree matrix \mathcal{D} associated with the graph \mathcal{G} is a diagonal matrix with elements given by $d_{ii} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}$, and the Laplacian matrix associated with the graph is defined as $L = \mathcal{D} - \mathcal{A}$.

The idea of sub-graph of a graph \mathcal{G} is used during the text to facilitate notation. In general, a sub-graph of a graph \mathcal{G} is a graph constituted of a subset of nodes and edges of \mathcal{G} . In this manuscript, the interest relies on sub-graphs composed of a node v_i along with all the other nodes and the so-called incoming edges of v_i . A sub-graph is denoted by the same symbol of the primary graph with a subscript, for example, \mathcal{G}_i is the sub-graph of the *i*th node associated with the graph \mathcal{G} . Thus, the sub-graph of the *i*th node is a graph $\mathcal{G}_i = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E}_i)$, where $\mathcal{E}_i = \{(v_i, v_j) \in \mathcal{E} : \forall v_j \in \mathcal{V}\}$. To illustrate this idea, the graph formed in Figure 2.1 is shown in Figure 2.2 with its sub-graphs.



FIGURE 2.2: Sub-graphs formed by the nodes of Figure 2.1.

To ensure the convergence the following assumption is necessary:

Assumption 2.3. The graph \mathcal{G} associated with the communication topology of the network have a directed spanning tree.

A directed tree is a directed graph where all nodes but one, which is called root and has no parent node, has exactly one parent, and there is a path from the root to any other node. A spanning tree of a directed graph is a directed tree composed of the graph edges that connect all the nodes of the graph.

2.1.5 Tree-Type Transformation

The tree-type transformation, proposed in Sun and Wang (2009), is used to translate the consensus problem into a stability problem. Under Assumption 2.3, defining the disagreement of state variables as follows

$$\boldsymbol{z}_i(t) = \boldsymbol{x}_1(t) - \boldsymbol{x}_{i+1}(t),$$

for i = 1, ..., n-1. The disagreements of states for all $i \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ are written in one equation by using the transformation,

$$\boldsymbol{z}(t) = (U \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{x}(t), \tag{2.7}$$

where $\mathbf{z}(t) = [\mathbf{z}_1(t)' \dots \mathbf{z}_{n-1}(t)']'$, $\mathbf{x}(t) = [\mathbf{x}_1(t)' \dots \mathbf{x}_n(t)']'$, the symbol \otimes represents the Kronecker product between two matrices, and I_m is an identity matrix of order m and the matrix U is given by

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{n-1} & -I_{n-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

The transformation from the disagreement back to original states is given by

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t) = \boldsymbol{1}_n \otimes \boldsymbol{x}_1(t) + (W \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{z}(t), \qquad (2.8)$$

where the matrix W is defined as,

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{n-1}' \\ -I_{n-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

with $\mathbf{1}_{n-1}$ and $\mathbf{0}_{n-1}$ being column vectors of size n-1, in which all elements are ones and zeros, respectively. Hence, the Definition 2.1 of the consensus in the network can be formulated according to the following lemma:

Lemma 2.2. (Sun and Wang, 2009). A multi-agent system with n agents and state variables $x_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$, where $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ is the index of the agents, asymptotically reaches consensus if, and only if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \boldsymbol{z}(t) = 0. \tag{2.9}$$

Therefore, the stability of a system in the new coordinates z(t) is investigated to access the convergence of the network into consensus.

2.1.6 Consensus as a Stability Problem

In this section, the consensus is rewritten as a stability problem using the tree-type transformation. Note that the multi-agent system (2.5) can be represented compactly by using the Kronecker product, as

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{x}(t)] = (I_n \otimes A)\boldsymbol{x}(t) + (I_n \otimes B)\operatorname{sat}(\boldsymbol{u}(t)), \qquad (2.10)$$

where,

$$\boldsymbol{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{u}_1(t)' & \cdots & \boldsymbol{u}_n(t)' \end{bmatrix}', \text{ and}$$

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{x}_1(t)' & \cdots & \boldsymbol{x}_n(t)' \end{bmatrix}'.$$
(2.11)

Defining the vector $\mathbb{I}_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with 1 in its *i*th position and 0 elsewhere, for example for i = 1, $\mathbb{I}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}'$, makes it possible to rewrite (2.11) as,

$$\boldsymbol{u}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{I}_i \otimes \boldsymbol{u}_i(t).$$
(2.12)

Additionally, the following equalities hold:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \boldsymbol{x}_j(t - \tau_i(t)) = (\mathbb{I}'_i \mathcal{A}_i \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{x}(t - \tau_i(t)), \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \boldsymbol{x}_i(t - \tau_i(t)) = (\mathbb{I}'_i \mathcal{D}_i \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{x}(t - \tau_i(t)), \qquad (2.14)$$

where the subscript on the adjacency matrix \mathcal{A}_i and on the degree matrix \mathcal{D}_i refers to the sub-graph related to *i*th agent, as introduced in Section 2.1.4. Applying the consensus protocol

$$\boldsymbol{u}_i(t) = -\sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} K\Big(\boldsymbol{x}_i(t-\tau_i(t)) - \boldsymbol{x}_j(t-\tau_i(t))\Big),$$

in (2.12), then using (2.13) and (2.14) and recalling that $L_i = \mathcal{D}_i - \mathcal{A}_i$, we get

$$\boldsymbol{u}(t) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{I}_{i} \otimes \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} K(\boldsymbol{x}_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t)) - \boldsymbol{x}_{j}(t-\tau_{i}(t)))$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbb{I}_{i} \otimes K) (\mathbb{I}'_{i} L_{i} \otimes I_{m}) \boldsymbol{x}(t-\tau_{i}(t)).$$
(2.15)

By using the mixed-product property for the Kronecker product, (2.15) becomes,

$$\boldsymbol{u}(t) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbb{I}_{i}\mathbb{I}'_{i}L_{i}\otimes K)\boldsymbol{x}(t-\tau_{i}(t))$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (L_{i}\otimes K)\boldsymbol{x}(t-\tau_{i}(t))$$

Finally, the closed-loop multi-agent system (2.10) can be written in a stacked form as,

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{x}(t)] = (I_n \otimes A)\boldsymbol{x}(t) - (I_n \otimes B) \operatorname{sat}\left(\sum_{i=1}^n (L_i \otimes K)\boldsymbol{x}(t - \tau_i(t))\right).$$
(2.16)

Finally, the operator δ is applied on equation (2.7) and afterwards, the dynamics (2.16) is substituted in $\delta[\boldsymbol{x}(t)]$, this gives us

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = (U \otimes I_m)(I_n \otimes A)\boldsymbol{x}(t) - (U \otimes I_m)(I_n \otimes B) \operatorname{sat}\left(\sum_{i=1}^n (L_i \otimes K)\boldsymbol{x}(t-\tau_i(t))\right). \quad (2.17)$$

Replacing (2.8) in (2.17),

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = (U \otimes I_m)(I_n \otimes A) \left((\mathbf{1}_n \otimes x_1(t)) + (W \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{z}(t) \right) - (U \otimes I_m)(I_n \otimes B) \operatorname{sat} \left(\sum_{i=1}^n (L_i \otimes K) \left((\mathbf{1}_n \otimes x_1(t - \tau_i(t))) + (W \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau_i(t)) \right) \right),$$

then, through Kronecker properties,

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = (U\boldsymbol{1}_n) \otimes (Ax_1(t)) + (UW \otimes A)\boldsymbol{z}(t) - (U \otimes B) \operatorname{sat}\left(\sum_{i=1}^n (L_i\boldsymbol{1}_n) \otimes (Kx_1(t-\tau_i(t))) + (L_iW \otimes K)\boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau_i(t))\right),$$

noticing that $U\mathbf{1}_n = 0$, $L_i\mathbf{1}_n = 0$, and $UW = I_{n-1}$, the following disagreement system is obtained

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = (I_{n-1} \otimes A) \boldsymbol{z}(t) - (U \otimes B) \operatorname{sat}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (L_i W \otimes K) \boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau_i(t))\right).$$
(2.18)

To handle the saturation, we study the stability analysis and the stabilization of (2.18) as a Lur'e problem satisfying a sector condition (Khalil, 2002). Following Tarbouriech et al. (2011), let us consider the dead-zone function

$$\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) = \boldsymbol{g}(t) - \operatorname{sat}(\boldsymbol{g}(t)), \qquad (2.19)$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{g}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (L_i W \otimes K) \boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau_i(t)),$$

then summing and subtracting $(U \otimes B)g(t)$ from the right-hand side of (2.18), it is possible to represent the closed-loop multi-agent system as

$$\delta[\boldsymbol{z}(t)] = (I_{n-1} \otimes A)\boldsymbol{z}(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (U \otimes B)(L_i W \otimes K)\boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau_i(t)) + (U \otimes B)\Theta\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (L_i W \otimes K)\boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau_i(t))\right).$$
(2.20)

Thus, as presented in Lemma 2.2, the stability of (2.20) implies that the multi-agent system reaches consensus. Moreover, because of the dead-zone function $\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t))$, it is possible to define a polyhedral set and a sector condition to assist the the stability analysis and the stabilization of the multi-agent system, specifically: **Lemma 2.3** (Generalized Sector Condition (Tarbouriech and Silva Jr., 2005)). For a given auxiliary signal $\omega(t)$ and saturation limits u_{max} , define the set

$$\mathbb{S}(\boldsymbol{\omega}(t), u_{\max}) = \{\boldsymbol{u}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{np} : |(\boldsymbol{u}(t) - \boldsymbol{\omega}(t))_{(\ell)}| \le u_{\max}, \text{ for } \ell = 1, ..., np\}$$

If $\boldsymbol{u}(t)$ and $\boldsymbol{\omega}(t)$ belongs to $\mathbb{S}(\boldsymbol{\omega}(t), u_{\max})$, then $\Theta(\boldsymbol{u}(t))'T[\Theta(\boldsymbol{u}(t)) + \boldsymbol{\omega}(t)] \leq 0$ is satisfied for any positive diagonal matrix $T \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times np}$, with $\Theta(\boldsymbol{u}(t))$ given in (2.19).

2.2 Consensus of Continuous-Time Systems

This section addresses the problems of consensus analysis and design of the gains with the consensus protocol (2.3). The main results presented in this section are extensions of the work in the Master Thesis in Silva (2019), some important distinctions are; i) the saturation here is modeled as a dead-zone function, which allows to tackle it as a Lur'e problem satisfying a sector condition. Because of that, the stability and design conditions are given directly as LMIs, while in Silva (2019) they were bilinear matrix inequalities and needed to be solved as iterative linear matrix inequalities; ii) the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate is built taking into account more information about delayed state variables of each agent, which possibly diminish the conservativeness of the approach, and iii) it is proposed a methodology to characterize the region of convergence by considering current and delayed states to find a set of initial conditions as large as possible.

An appealing aspect of (2.20) is that it can be analyzed using robust control methodologies. Particularly, in this section we address the stability analysis and stabilization of the continuoustime version of (2.20) by employing the following Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate inspired by the studies in Souza (2013), Savino, Souza, and Pimenta (2014), Savino et al. (2016), and Silva (2019):

$$V(\varphi(t)) = \chi(t)'\bar{P}\chi(t) + \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{\theta}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds d\theta + \int_{-\mu_{m}}^{\mu_{m}} \int_{t+s-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{Z}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds + \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds + (\tau+\mu_{m})\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{-\tau-\mu_{m}}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds, \quad (2.21)$$

with $\chi(t)' = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{z}(t)' & \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \boldsymbol{z}(\epsilon)' d\epsilon \end{bmatrix}$,

$$\bar{P} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{P}_1 & \bar{P}_2 \\ * & \bar{P}_3 \end{bmatrix},$$

 $\varphi(t) \in C_{t,\tau+\mu_m}^{nm}$, and recalling that in continuous-time $\delta[x(t)] = \dot{x}(t)$. Moreover, the main differences between the functional candidate (2.21) and the ones in Savino et al. (2016), Savino, Souza, and Pimenta (2014), and Silva (2019) are the inclusion of the *n* integrals of derivative of states over $[-\tau - \mu_m, 0]$ and the exclusion of a single integral term over $[-\tau, 0]$. The motivation behind these changes is to include delay information for each agent and dissociate delayed from current states. These modifications allowed the use of the Generalized Sector Condition (Lemma 2.3), the characterization of decoupled regions for delayed and current states, as well as less conservatism in the investigated examples. Besides, if (2.21) is a Lyapunov-Krasovskii

functional, then we can calculate an estimate of \mathcal{S} as the associated level set as:

$$\mathcal{L}_V = \{\varphi(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0, \tau + \mu_m}^{nm} : V(\varphi_0) \le 1\},$$
(2.22)

such that $\mathcal{L}_V \subset \mathcal{S}$.

2.2.1 Stability Analysis

The following theorem presents sufficient conditions to certify consensus in the multi-agent system (2.10).

Theorem 2.1. Let the feedback gain matrix K and the scalars τ , μ_m , and ϱ be given. The multi-agent system (2.5) with consensus protocol (2.3) subject to saturating inputs and timevarying delays $\tau_i(t) \in [\tau - \mu_m, \tau + \mu_m]$ with $\tau > 0$, $0 \le \mu_m \le \tau$, reaches consensus if there exist symmetric positive definite matrices P_1 , P_3 , R, S, M, and $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)}$, matrices $P_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)}$, $G \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times nm(n-1)}$, a diagonal positive definite matrix $H \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times np}$, and a non-singular matrix $F \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)}$, such that the following inequalities are satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Phi & \mu_m \Gamma \\ * & -\mu_m Z \end{bmatrix} < 0, \tag{2.23}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} P_1 & P_2 \\ * & P_3 \end{bmatrix} > 0, \qquad (2.24)$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{M} & -\hat{M} & 0 \\ * & \hat{M} & \left(\bar{L}(I_n \otimes F') - G \right)'_{(r)} \\ * & * & u_{\max}^2 \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \quad \forall r \in \{1, \dots, np\},$$
(2.25)

where

$$\Phi = \Phi_P + \Phi_Z + \Phi_R + \Phi_S + \Phi_{\text{sat}} + \Phi_M + \Phi_F, \qquad (2.26)$$

$$\Gamma = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{B}F' \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \Phi_Z = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 2\mu_m Z & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\begin{split} \Phi_{P} = \begin{bmatrix} P_{2} + P'_{2} & P_{1} & -P_{2} & 0 & P_{3} & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & P_{2} & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & -P_{3} & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Phi_{R} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{4}{\tau}R & 0 & -\frac{2}{\tau}R & 0 & \frac{6}{\tau^{2}}R & 0 \\ * & * & R & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Phi_{S} = \begin{bmatrix} -2S & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{\tau}S & 0 \\ * & \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}S & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Phi_{S} = \begin{bmatrix} -2S & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{\tau}S & 0 \\ * & \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}S & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Phi_{S} = \begin{bmatrix} -2S & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{\tau}S & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Phi_{M} = \begin{bmatrix} -nM & 0 & 0 & \mathcal{I}\hat{M} & 0 & 0 \\ * & n(\tau + \mu_{M})^{2}M & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & -\hat{M} & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Phi_{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{AF' + FA'} & \varrho FA' - F' & \overline{BF'} & 0 & 0 & (U \otimes B)H \\ * & -\varrho(F + F') & \varrho \overline{BF'} & 0 & 0 & \varrho(U \otimes B)H \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ , \end{array}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \bar{A} &= I_{n-1} \otimes A, \\ \bar{B} &= -ULW \otimes BK, \\ \bar{L} &= \begin{bmatrix} L_1 W \otimes K & L_2 W \otimes K & \cdots & L_n W \otimes K \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathcal{I} &= \mathbf{1}'_n \otimes I_{m(n-1)} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}, \\ \hat{M} &= I_n \otimes M \in \mathbb{R}^{nm(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, a region from which the consensus is always attainable is given by $\mathcal{L}_V = \{\varphi(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0,\tau+\mu_m}^{nm} : V(\varphi_0) \leq 1\}.$

Proof. In the following, it is demonstrated that if the conditions in the theorem hold the origin of the system in (2.20) is an asymptotically stable equilibrium point, which implies, from Lemma 2.2, that the multi-agent system (2.10) reaches consensus.

In this regard, it is used the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate proposed in (2.21), with $\bar{P} = F^{-1}P(F^{-1})'$, $\bar{R} = F^{-1}R(F^{-1})'$, $\bar{S} = F^{-1}S(F^{-1})'$, $\bar{M} = F^{-1}M(F^{-1})'$, and $\bar{Z} =$ $F^{-1}Z(F^{-1})'$. Therefore, by requiring P > 0, R > 0, S > 0, M > 0 and Z > 0, the positivity of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate is guaranteed. Moreover, the functions $u(\cdot)$ and $v(\cdot)$ in Lemma 2.1 can be built as $u(\|\boldsymbol{z}(t)\|) = \lambda_{\min}(P_1)\|\boldsymbol{z}(t)\|^2$ and $v(\|\varphi(t)\|) = \rho \sup_{\eta \in [t-\tau-\mu_m,t]} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\eta)\|^2 + \lambda_{\max}(P) \sup_{\eta \in [t-\tau,t]} \|[\boldsymbol{z}(t)' \quad \tau \boldsymbol{z}(\eta)']\|^2$, with

$$\rho = \frac{\tau^2}{2}\lambda_{\max}(R) + 2\mu_m \tau \lambda_{\max}(Z) + \frac{\tau^2}{6}\lambda_{\max}(S) + \frac{n(\tau + \mu_m)^2}{2}\lambda_{\max}(M).$$

Next we show that the negativity of the functional derivative is guaranteed if the conditions in the theorem hold.

Using the Newton-Leibniz formula and (2.20), we have the following null term

$$0 = 2\Lambda(t) \left[\dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{B}_{i}\boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau_{i}(t)) - (U \otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) \right]$$

$$= 2\Lambda(t) \left[\dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{B}_{i}\boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{B}_{i} \int_{-\tau_{i}(t)}^{-\tau} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t + \epsilon) d\epsilon - (U \otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) \right]$$

$$= 2\Lambda(t) \left[\dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(t) - \bar{B}\boldsymbol{z}(t - \tau) - (U \otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) \right] + v(t), \qquad (2.27)$$

where,

$$\Lambda(t) = -z(t)'F^{-1} - \varrho \dot{z}(t)'F^{-1}, \qquad (2.28)$$

$$\bar{A} = I_{n-1} \otimes A, \tag{2.29}$$

$$\bar{B}_i = -(UL_iW) \otimes BK, \tag{2.30}$$

$$\bar{B} = -(ULW) \otimes BK, \tag{2.31}$$

$$v(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{-\tau_i(t)}^{-\tau} 2\Lambda(t) \bar{B}_i \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t+\epsilon) d\epsilon, \qquad (2.32)$$

and ρ is a free constant for adjustment. Moreover, assuming Z > 0 we have that¹

$$v(t) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{-\tau_{i}(t)}^{-\tau} \left(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i} \right) n\bar{Z}^{-1} \left(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i} \right)' d\epsilon + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{-\tau_{i}(t)}^{-\tau} \dot{z}(t+\epsilon)' \frac{\bar{Z}}{n} \dot{z}(t+\epsilon) d\epsilon$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{m} \left(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i} \right) n\bar{Z}^{-1} \left(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i} \right)' + \int_{t-\tau-\mu_{m}}^{t-\tau+\mu_{m}} \dot{z}(\epsilon)' \bar{Z} \dot{z}(\epsilon) d\epsilon.$$
(2.33)

Therefore, defining $\hat{F} = F^{-1}$ to alleviate notation, then combining (2.27) and (2.33) it yields

$$0 \leq -2\varrho \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t)' \hat{F} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(t)' \hat{F} \bar{A} \boldsymbol{z}(t) + 2\varrho \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t)' \hat{F} \bar{A} \boldsymbol{z}(t) - 2\boldsymbol{z}(t)' \hat{F} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(t)' \hat{F} \bar{B} \boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau) + 2\varrho \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t)' \hat{F} \bar{B} \boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau) + 2\varrho \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(t)' \hat{F}(U \otimes B) \Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(t)' \hat{F}(U \otimes B) \Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_m \Big(\Lambda(t) \bar{B}_i \Big) n Z^{-1} \Big(\Lambda(t) \bar{B}_i \Big)' + \int_{t-\tau-\mu_m}^{t-\tau+\mu_m} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon)' Z \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon) d\epsilon.$$
(2.34)

¹We used the inequality $2a'b \leq a'Xa + b'X^{-1}b$ where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)}$ and $X > 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)}$.

The functional candidate (2.21) time-derivative is given by

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}(\varphi(t)) = &\chi(t)'\bar{P}\dot{\chi}(t) + \dot{\chi}(t)'\bar{P}\chi(t) + \tau \dot{z}(t)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(t) - \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon + \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(t) \\ &- \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds + 2\mu_{m}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{Z}\dot{z}(t) - \int_{t-\tau-\mu_{m}}^{t-\tau+\mu_{m}} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{Z}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon \\ &+ n(\tau+\mu_{m})^{2}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(t) - (\tau+\mu_{m})\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau-\mu_{m}}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon, \end{split}$$

then, adding in it with (2.34) we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}(\varphi(t)) \leq &\chi(t)'\bar{P}\dot{\chi}(t) + \dot{\chi}(t)'\bar{P}\chi(t) + \tau \dot{z}(t)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(t) - \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon + \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(t) \\ &- \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds + 2\mu_{m}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{Z}\dot{z}(t) + n(\tau + \mu_{m})^{2}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(t) \\ &- (\tau + \mu_{m})\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_{i}(t)}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon - 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}\dot{z}(t) + 2z(t)'\hat{F}\bar{A}z(t) \\ &+ 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}\bar{A}z(t) - 2z(t)'\hat{F}\dot{z}(t) + 2z(t)'\hat{F}\bar{B}z(t-\tau) + 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}\bar{B}z(t-\tau) \\ &+ 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}(U\otimes B)\Theta(g(t)) + 2z(t)'\hat{F}(U\otimes B)\Theta(g(t)) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_{m} \Big(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i}\Big)n\bar{Z}^{-1}\Big(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i}\Big)'. \end{split}$$

Finally, applying Lemma A.1 on the integral with \bar{S} , Lemma A.2 on the integral with term \bar{R} , and Lemma A.3 on each integral term with \bar{M} , assuming that $\boldsymbol{g}(t) \in \mathbb{S}(\boldsymbol{\omega}(t), u_{\max})$ and applying the inequality $-2\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t))'T[\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) + \boldsymbol{\omega}(t)] \geq 0$ from Lemma 2.3, with $\boldsymbol{\omega}(t) = \bar{G}\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t))'$ in which $\bar{G} \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times m(n-1)}$ is a matrix variable and

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t-\boldsymbol{\tau}(t))' = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau_1(t))' & \boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau_2(t))' & \cdots & \boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau_n(t))' \end{bmatrix},$$

yields:

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}(\varphi(t)) \leq &\chi(t)'\bar{P}\dot{\chi}(t) + \dot{\chi}(t)'\bar{P}\chi(t) + \tau \dot{z}(t)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(t) - \frac{1}{\tau}\int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'d\epsilon\bar{R}\int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon - \frac{3}{\tau}\Omega'\bar{R}\Omega \\ &+ \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(t) + 2\mu_{m}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{Z}\dot{z}(t) - \frac{2}{\tau^{2}}\int_{-\tau}^{0}\int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'d\epsilon ds\bar{S}\int_{-\tau}^{0}\int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon ds \\ &+ n(\tau+\mu_{m})^{2}\dot{z}(t)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(t) - \sum_{i=1}^{n}\int_{t-\tau_{i}(t)}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)'d\epsilon\bar{M}\int_{t-\tau_{i}(t)}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon)d\epsilon - 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}\dot{z}(t) \\ &+ 2z(t)'\hat{F}\bar{A}z(t) + 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}\bar{A}z(t) - 2z(t)'\hat{F}\dot{z}(t) + 2z(t)'\hat{F}\bar{B}z(t-\tau) \\ &+ 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}\bar{B}z(t-\tau) + 2\varrho\dot{z}(t)'\hat{F}(U\otimes B)\Theta(g(t)) + 2z(t)'\hat{F}(U\otimes B)\Theta(g(t)) \\ &- 2\Theta(g(t))'T[\Theta(g(t)) + \omega(t)] + \sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{m}(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i})n\bar{Z}^{-1}(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_{i})' \end{split}$$

$$\leq \chi(t)'\bar{P}\dot{\chi}(t) + \dot{\chi}(t)'\bar{P}\chi(t) + \tau \dot{z}(t)'\bar{R}\dot{z}(t) - \frac{1}{\tau} \Big(z(t) - z(t-\tau) \Big)'\bar{R} \Big(z(t) - z(t-\tau) \Big) \\ - \frac{3}{\tau} \Omega'\bar{R}\Omega + \frac{\tau^2}{2} \dot{z}(t)'\bar{S}\dot{z}(t) - 2z(t)'\bar{S}z(t) + \frac{4}{\tau} z(t)'\bar{S} \int_{t-\tau}^t z(\epsilon)d\epsilon \\ - \frac{2}{\tau^2} \int_{t-\tau}^t z(\epsilon)'d\epsilon\bar{S} \int_{t-\tau}^t z(\epsilon)d\epsilon + n(\tau + \mu_m)^2 \dot{z}(t)'\bar{M}\dot{z}(t) \\ - \sum_{i=1}^n \Big(z(t) - z(t-\tau_i(t)) \Big)'\bar{M} \Big(z(t) - z(t-\tau_i(t)) \Big) + 2\mu_m \dot{z}(t)'\bar{Z}\dot{z}(t) - 2\varrho \dot{z}(t)'\bar{F}\dot{z}(t) \\ + 2z(t)'\bar{F}\bar{A}z(t) + 2\varrho \dot{z}(t)'\bar{F}\bar{A}z(t) - 2z(t)'\bar{F}\dot{z}(t) + 2\varrho \dot{z}(t)'\bar{F}(U \otimes B)\Theta(g(t)) \\ + 2z(t)'\bar{F}(U \otimes B)\Theta(g(t)) + 2z(t)'\bar{F}\bar{B}z(t-\tau) + 2\varrho \dot{z}(t)'\bar{F}\bar{B}z(t-\tau) \\ - 2\Theta\Big(g(t)\Big)'T\Big[\Theta\Big(g(t)\Big) + \omega(t)\Big] + \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_m\Big(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_i\Big)n\bar{Z}^{-1}\Big(\Lambda(t)\bar{B}_i\Big)' \\ \leq Y(t)'\hat{\Phi}Y(t) + \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_mY(t)'\Gamma_i n\bar{Z}^{-1}\Gamma_i'Y(t) \\ = Y(t)'\left(\sum_{i=1}^n \Big(\frac{1}{n}\hat{\Phi} + \mu_m\Gamma_i n\bar{Z}^{-1}\Gamma_i'\Big)\right)Y(t),$$

$$(2.35)$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Y}(t)' &= \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{z}(t)' \ \dot{\mathbf{z}}(t)' \ \mathbf{z}(t-\tau)' \ \hat{\mathbf{z}}(t-\tau(t))' \ \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \mathbf{z}(\epsilon)' d\epsilon \ \Theta(\mathbf{g}(t))' \end{bmatrix}, \\ \hat{\mathbf{z}}(t-\tau(t))' &= \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{z}(t-\tau_{1}(t))' \ \mathbf{z}(t-\tau_{2}(t))' \ \cdots \ \mathbf{z}(t-\tau_{n}(t))' \end{bmatrix} \\ \Gamma'_{i} &= \begin{bmatrix} (\hat{F}\bar{B}_{i})' \ \varrho(\hat{F}\bar{B}_{i})' \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$

 $\hat{\Phi}$ defined with similar structure as (2.26), however with matrices \bar{P} , \bar{S} , \bar{Z} , \bar{R} , \bar{M} and

$$\hat{\Phi}_{sat} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 & -\bar{G}'T' \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & -2T \end{bmatrix},$$

instead of P, S, Z, R, M, and Φ_{sat} .

Finally, $\dot{V}(\varphi(t)) \leq -w(\|\boldsymbol{z}(t)\|) = -\alpha \|\boldsymbol{z}(t)\|^2 < 0$ for any $Y(t) \neq 0$, for some $\alpha > 0$ sufficiently small, is achieved whenever the term inside parenthesis in equation (2.35) is negative definite, which from Schur complement is equivalent to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{n} \hat{\Phi} & \mu_m \Gamma_i \\ * & \frac{-\mu_m}{n} Z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\Phi} & \mu_m \Gamma \\ * & -\mu_m \bar{Z} \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$
(2.36)

The inequality (2.36) becomes identical to condition (2.23) after pre- and post-multiplying it with

$$\operatorname{diag}(F, F, \cdots, F, T^{-1}, F)$$

and its transpose respectively, and making the change of variables $H = T^{-1}$, $G = \bar{G}F'$.

Therefore, if conditions (2.23) and (2.24) of Theorem 2.1, and $\boldsymbol{g}(t) \in S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(t), u_{\max})$ hold we have $V(\varphi(t)) > 0$ and $\dot{V}(\varphi(t)) < 0$, which implies that the multi-agent system reaches consensus asymptotically.

Henceforth, we show that if inequality (2.25) is satisfied then $\boldsymbol{g}(t) \in \mathbb{S}(\boldsymbol{\omega}(t), u_{\max})$, and from the generalized sector condition in Lemma 2.3, $-2\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t))'T[\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(t)) + \boldsymbol{\omega}(t)] \geq 0$ holds. In addition, it is demonstrated that all trajectories $\varphi(t)$ starting from \mathcal{L}_V remains within \mathcal{L}_V and go to the origin.

The inequality (2.25) implies that whenever the trajectories of the multi-agent system $\varphi(t)$ belong to \mathcal{L}_V , the inputs belong to the generalised sector condition $S(\omega(t), u_{\text{max}})$, in which \mathcal{L}_V represents a level set of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional. That is

$$\left|\left((\bar{L}-\bar{G})\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t-\boldsymbol{\tau}(t))\right)_{(r)}\right| \leq u_{\max}, \; \forall \varphi(t) \in \mathcal{L}_V,$$

for r = 1, ..., np, where in Lemma 2.3, $\boldsymbol{u}(t) = \bar{L}\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t))$ and $\boldsymbol{\omega}(t) = \bar{G}\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t))$. The previous inequality holds whenever

$$\begin{split} \left((\bar{L} - \bar{G}) \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t)) \right)_{(r)}^{\prime} u_{\max}^{-2} \Big((\bar{L} - \bar{G}) \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t)) \Big)_{(r)} \\ & \leq (\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t)))^{\prime} (I_n \otimes \bar{M}) (\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t))) \leq 1 \end{split}$$

which, by Schur complement and pre- and post-multiplying the result by diag($(I_n \otimes F), 1$) and its transpose, respectively, becomes the inequality (2.25). Furthermore, we have for all trajectories originating from $\varphi_0 \in \mathcal{L}_V$,

$$(\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t)))'(I_n \otimes \bar{M})(\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t) - \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(t - \boldsymbol{\tau}(t))) \leq V(\varphi_0) \leq 1,$$

where the left-hand side inequality is obtained by applying Lemma A.1 in the integral terms with \overline{M} of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate and noticing that $\int_{t-\tau_i(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon) d(\epsilon) =$ $\boldsymbol{z}(t) - \boldsymbol{z}(t-\tau_i(t))$. Hence, with condition (2.25), we ensure that $\boldsymbol{g}(t)$ belongs to $S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(t), u_{\max})$, consequently the condition in Lemma 2.3 is satisfied. Therefore, because \mathcal{L}_V is a level set of $V(\varphi(t))$ and the inequalities $V(\varphi(t)) > 0$ and $\dot{V}(\varphi(t)) < 0$ hold, the set \mathcal{L}_V is positively invariant, which concludes the proof.

Theorem 2.1 presents sufficient conditions to guarantee consensus of multi-agent system with agents described by (2.5), particularly it characterizes the multi-agent system stability described as equation (2.20), which results in consensus. Additionally it gives a procedure to compute a region from which the consensus is always attainable.

It is important to notice that part of the development of the demonstration of Theorem 2.1 is based on (Savino, Souza, and Pimenta, 2014; Savino et al., 2016) and (Souza, 2013). In particular, the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate, the null-term to take into account the dynamics of the system, and the bounds of time-delays are similar to the ones in those studies.

Remark 2.1. The adjustment parameter ρ is an attempt to add a degree of freedom to the conditions, which is added by means of the structure in $\Lambda(t)$ in (2.28). However, no systematic

procedure to tune it was developed. In all examples its value is explicitly given, and, in general, they were found by searching the best result in a given bounded region.

2.2.2 Stabilization

In the next theorem, we present conditions to design stabilizing state feedback matrices for the agents in the continuous-time domain, along with a region of ensured convergence. The results are extensions of the previous one based on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii methodology and are derived by selecting a particular structure for a matrix variable.

Theorem 2.2. Let the scalars τ , μ_m , and ϱ be given. The multi-agent system (2.5) with consensus protocol (2.3) subject to saturating inputs and time-varying delays $\tau_i(t) \in [\tau - \mu_m, \tau + \mu_m]$ with $\tau > 0$, $0 \le \mu_m \le \tau$, reaches consensus with state feedback matrix $K = \bar{K}(F_m^{-1})'$, if there exist symmetric positive definite matrices P_1 , P_3 , R, S, M, and $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}$, matrices $P_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}$, $G \in \mathbb{R}^{np\times nm(n-1)}$, $\bar{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{p\times m}$, a diagonal positive definite matrix $H \in \mathbb{R}^{np\times np}$, and a non-singular matrix $\bar{F} = I_{n-1} \otimes F_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}$ with $F_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m\times m}$, such that the following conditions are satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Phi & \mu_m \Gamma \\ * & -\mu_m Z \end{bmatrix} < 0, \tag{2.37}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} P_1 & P_2 \\ * & P_3 \end{bmatrix} > 0, \tag{2.38}$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{M} & -\hat{M} & 0 \\ * & \hat{M} & (\hat{L} - G)'_{(r)} \\ * & * & u^2_{\max} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \quad \forall r \in \{1, \dots, np\},$$
(2.39)

where

$$\Phi = \Phi_P + \Phi_Z + \Phi_R + \Phi_S + \Phi_{\text{sat}} + \Phi_M + \Phi_F, \qquad (2.40)$$

$$\Gamma = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{B} \\ \rho \hat{B} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Phi_Z = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 2\mu_m Z & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (2.40)$$

$$\Phi_P = \begin{bmatrix} P_2 + P'_2 & P_1 & -P_2 & 0 & P_3 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & P_2 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & -P_3 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Phi_R = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{4}{\tau}R & 0 & -\frac{2}{\tau}R & 0 & \frac{6}{\tau^2}R & 0 \\ * & \tau R & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & -\frac{4}{\tau}R & 0 & \frac{6}{\tau^2}R & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\Phi_{S} = \begin{bmatrix} -2S & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{\tau}S & 0 \\ * & \frac{\tau^{2}}{2}S & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & -\frac{2}{\tau^{2}}S & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \Phi_{\text{sat}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\begin{split} \bar{A} &= I_{n-1} \otimes A, \\ \hat{B} &= -ULW \otimes B\bar{K}, \\ \hat{L} &= \begin{bmatrix} L_1 W \otimes \bar{K} & L_2 W \otimes \bar{K} & \cdots & L_n W \otimes \bar{K} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathcal{I} &= \mathbf{1}'_n \otimes I_{m(n-1)} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}, \\ \hat{M} &= I_n \otimes M \in \mathbb{R}^{nm(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, a region from which the consensus is always attainable is given by $\mathcal{L}_V = \{\varphi(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0,\tau+\mu_m}^{nm} : V(\varphi_0) \leq 1\}.$

Proof. The proof follows directly from the results of Theorem 2.1 as an extension of those conditions. Replacing F by the structured variable $\overline{F} = I_{n-1} \otimes F_m$, $F_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ allows us to benefit from products $\overline{L}(I_n \otimes \overline{F'})$ and $\overline{B}\overline{F'}$. Specifically, those products appear in Γ on inequality (2.23) and in Φ_F on equation (2.26), which is replaced by Φ_F in (2.40). Observe that, because of the chosen structure, the products result in:

$$\bar{B}\bar{F}' = (ULW \otimes BK)(I_{n-1} \otimes F_m) = ULW \otimes BKF'_m,$$

$$\bar{L}(I_n \otimes \bar{F}') = \begin{bmatrix} L_1W \otimes KF'_m & L_2W \otimes KF'_m & \cdots & L_nW \otimes KF'_m \end{bmatrix}.$$

Finally, substituting the product KF'_m , by the variable \bar{K} yields to conditions (2.37) and (2.39), and the state feedback for each agent can be retrieved from $K = \bar{K}(F_m^{-1})'$, which concludes the proof.

Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 provide sufficient conditions to guarantee the convergence in the form of feasibility problems, consequently, the region provided by those conditions might not be the largest one. In this regard, we propose next a procedure to assist the maximization of such regions.

2.2.3 Characterization of the Set of Initial Conditions

Because the Lyapunov-Krasovskii candidate in (2.21) depends on the derivative of current and delayed states, and these values might not affect the safe initialization of the network, it is presented here a characterization of the region of guaranteed convergence for the multi-agent system. The motivation for distinguishing initial regions is to jointly compute distinct regions for the current states, delayed states, and derivative of state variables. Specifically, the estimate of the set of admissible initial conditions is such that:

$$\varphi(t_0) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0, \tau+\mu_m}^{nm} : \varphi \in \mathcal{Y}, \dot{\varphi} \in \mathcal{B}(r_1) \right\},\$$

where \mathcal{Y} is an ellipsoidal set and $\mathcal{B}(r_1)$ is a ball that contains current and delayed first derivative of the state variables, respectively. These sets, which allow to characterize the region of convergence, are defined in the next proposition.

Proposition 2.1. If (2.21) is a Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional of the closed-loop multi-agent system (2.20), then initial states φ_0 verifying

$$\varphi(t_0) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0, \tau + \mu_m}^{nm} : \varphi \in \mathcal{Y}, \dot{\varphi} \in \mathcal{B}(r_1) \right\}, \qquad (2.41)$$

with

$$\mathcal{Y} = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0, \tau + \mu_m}^{nm} : \chi' P \chi \le 1 - \gamma \right\}$$
(2.42)

$$\mathcal{B}(r_1) = \left\{ \dot{\varphi} \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0, \tau+\mu_m}^{nm} : \sup_{\eta \in [-\tau-\mu_m]} \| \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\eta) \| \le r_1 \right\}$$
(2.43)

where

$$\gamma = \rho \sup_{\eta \in [-\tau - \mu_m]} \|\dot{z}(\eta)\|^2,$$

$$\rho = \frac{\tau^2}{2} \lambda_{\max}(\bar{R}) + 2\mu_m \tau \lambda_{\max}(\bar{Z}) + \frac{\tau^2}{6} \lambda_{\max}(\bar{S}) + \frac{n(\tau + \mu_m)^2}{2} \lambda_{\max}(\bar{M}) \qquad (2.44)$$

with

$$\sup_{\eta \in [-\tau - \mu_m]} \| \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\eta) \| \le r_1, \text{ and } 0 \le \rho r_1^2 < 1,$$
(2.45)

do not leave the estimate of the domain of consensus \mathcal{L}_V and converge asymptotically.

Proof. The demonstration is based on the ideas proposed in Lemma 3 in Castro et al. (2020). Provided that (2.21) is a Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional, we can define a level set given by

$$\mathcal{L}_V = \{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0, \tau + \mu_m}^{nm} : \chi' P \chi \le 1 - \gamma \},\$$

by using the terms on \bar{S} , \bar{Z} , \bar{R} , and \bar{M} of (2.21) we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{\theta}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon)' \bar{S} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds d\theta + \int_{-\mu_{m}}^{\mu_{m}} \int_{t+s-\tau}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon)' \bar{Z} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds \\ &+ \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon)' \bar{R} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{-\tau-\mu_{m}}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon)' \bar{M} \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds \leq \rho \sup_{\eta \in [-\tau-\mu_{m}]} \| \dot{\boldsymbol{z}}(\eta) \|^{2}, \end{split}$$

with ρ given in (2.44). To ensure that $0 \leq \gamma < 1$ the inequalities (2.45) are required to be satisfied. Since (2.21) is a Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional, with the conditions in this proposition \mathcal{L}_V is a level set of the functional, satisfying $\mathcal{L}_V = \{\varphi(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}_{t_0,\tau+\mu_m}^{nm} : V(\varphi(t_0)) \leq 1\}$, thus all trajectories starting from \mathcal{L}_V remains in \mathcal{L}_V and attain consensus asymptotically.

The characterization in Proposition 2.1 gives flexibility when estimating the region of convergence when compared, for example, with the method proposed in Silva (2019). Thus, it is possible to explicitly choose which of the sets \mathcal{Y} and $\mathcal{B}(r_1)$ are more significant, allowing to possibly compute less conservative estimates for the required region. For example, it is possible to cast a region in which all current and delayed variables states are inside a ball, as well as the initial time-derivative of the states. It is also possible to ignore their time-derivatives and choose the best solution for current and delayed state variables. Moreover, the structure of $\chi' P \chi$ can be explored to compute a region for current states only, by letting delayed states equals zero the ellipsoid \mathcal{Y} is reduced to $\mathcal{Y} = \{\varphi : \mathbf{z}(t)' P_1 \mathbf{z}(t) \leq 1\}$.

Maximization of the allowed initial conditions

With the conditions proposed in Theorems 2.1 and 2.2, we are interested in finding a set of initial conditions as large as possible included in the domain of consensus. To this end, inspired by the development in Castro et al. (2020), we propose a maximization of an ellipsoid within the region \mathcal{L}_V , which can be obtained by solving the following optimization problem:

$$\min \operatorname{trace} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{5} \alpha_{j} W_{j} \right) \\$$
s.t.
$$\begin{cases}
a) \quad \operatorname{LMIs} (2.23), (2.24) \text{ and } (2.25) \text{ from Theorem 2.1,} \\
\text{ or } (2.37), (2.38) \text{ and } (2.39) \text{ from Theorem 2.2.} \\
\end{cases}$$

$$b) \quad \begin{bmatrix} W_{j} & I \\ I & Y + Y' - X_{j} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0,$$
(2.46)

where α_j are scalar weights, W_j are variable matrices with appropriated dimensions, Y = F for Theorem 2.1 or $Y = \overline{F}$ for Theorem 2.2, and X_j corresponds to the *j*th matrix in the set $\{P, R, S, M, Z\}$.

Remark 2.2. In order to handle the nonlinear matrix inequalities on the estimation for the domain of consensus, the inequality $FX_j^{-1}F' \ge F + F' - X_j$ was used multiple times. That was done because, from the Lyapunov-Krasovskii candidate (2.21), it was chosen $\bar{X}_j = (F^{-1})'X_jF^{-1}$. Although this can insert some conservatism, it leads to a linear optimization problem for synthesizing the gains of the agents and determine a region from which the consensus is always attainable.

2.2.4 Numerical Examples

This section shows examples to illustrate the use of Theorems 2.1 and 2.2. The methodology is compared with the works in You et al. (2016), Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018), and Silva (2019), in which similar conditions are assumed on the consensus problem. In addition, it is discussed the numerical complexity of the approach.

Example 2.1. In this example, the analysis conditions of You et al. (2016) and Silva (2019) are contrasted with the result proposed here, because of this, a similar structure in the example is examined. Consider a multi-agent system composed of five agents with directed communication topology, as shown in Figure 2.3, with Laplacian matrix given by



FIGURE 2.3: Example 2.1–Graph representation of agents interaction.

	0	0	0	0	0]
	-1	3	0	-1	-1
L =	-1	0	3	-1	-1
	0	-1	-1	3	-1
	0	-1	-1	-1	3

This is a leader-following problem-all followers have to synchronize their states with the states of the leader (v_1) . It is assumed that the followers are modeled by,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_i^1(t) \\ \dot{x}_i^2(t) \\ \dot{x}_i^3(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -20 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_i^1(t) \\ x_i^2(t) \\ x_i^3(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \operatorname{sat} \left(\boldsymbol{u}_i(t) \right),$$

numbered i = 2, ..., 5, where $x_i^l(t)$ denote the lth element of $x_i(t)$, and the model of the leader is given by,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_1^1(t) \\ \dot{x}_1^2(t) \\ \dot{x}_1^3(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -20 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1^1(t) \\ x_1^2(t) \\ x_1^3(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

The matrix gain K in the consensus protocol (2.2), is

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} 0.7 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0.7 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0.7 \end{bmatrix},$$

and the limit of actuators $u_{max} = 2.5$.

In the studies in You et al. (2016) and Silva (2019), it is assumed synchronous time-varying delays $\tau_i(t)$, satisfying $0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau$ with $\dot{\tau}_i(t) \leq \mu_m < 1$, where τ and μ_m are positive constants. Table 2.1 shows the maximum allowed constant part for the delays representation (τ_i) obtained by Theorem 4.1 in Silva (2019) with $\varrho = 0.4$, Theorem 1 in You et al. (2016), and Theorem 2.1 with $\varrho = 0.7$, considering different values for the bound of delays time-varying part.

TABLE 2.1: Example 2.1–Comparison of maximum input delay τ_{max} for various time-varying parts μ_m .

	$\mu_m = 0.01$	$\mu_m = 0.05$	$\mu_m = 0.10$
You et al. (2016)	0.35	0.34	0.34
Theorem 4.1 in Silva (2019)	0.43	0.34	0.23
Theorem 2.1	0.45	0.35	0.24

It is shown that as the time-varying part of the delay (μ_m) increases the approach of You et al. (2016) guarantees biggest values for the constant part (τ) in comparison to the values obtained by Silva (2019) and Theorem 2.1, while the approach proposed here appears to have slightly less conservatism as the one in Silva (2019). However, note that the conditions in Silva (2019) and in Theorem 2.1 guarantee consensus for non-uniform and non-differentiable delays within the set $[\tau - \mu_m, \tau + \mu_m]$, while You et al. (2016) consider synchronous and differentiable delays. The conditions presented here are more general and might be applied to a larger number of systems. Besides, unlike You et al. (2016), the approaches in Silva (2019) and in Theorem 2.1 give a region from which the consensus is guaranteed. Furthermore, the conditions in You et al. (2016) are nonlinear, which in general are hard to solve.

Example 2.2. In this example, the numerical complexity of the proposed conditions is investigated. The computational algorithms to solve LMIs have polynomial time in the worst-case scenario with the number of decision variables² (Boyd et al., 1994). Some methods have obtained a computational complexity of O(NL) (Potra and Wright, 2000; Monteiro and Zhang, 1998), while some older ones $O(N^{1.5}L)$ (Monteiro and Zhang, 1998; Boyd et al., 1994), where N is the number of decision variables and L the number of constraints. Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 have symmetric and full matrices variables, in symmetric matrix variables the number of variables is given by N = k(k+1)/2, in which k is the number of lines of the matrix, and in full

²In general, a solution of a semidefinite programming problem cannot be obtained in a finite number of interactions. Hence, an interior-point method for a semidefinite programming is said to be "polynomial" with complexity $O(n^{\omega}L)$, if there is a constant ω such that the distance to the optimum is reduced by a factor of $2^{-O(L)}$ in at most $O(n^{\omega}L)$ interactions, where L is the size of the problem data. Sometimes, in the context of Control Theory, L is accounted as the number of Lyapunov equations with same variables (i.e., number of linear constraints), e.g., $A'_i P + PA_i < 0$, $i = 1, \ldots, L$, where A_i are given matrices and P is a symmetric positive definite matrix variable (Boyd et al., 1994; Potra and Wright, 2000).

	Number of Variables
You et al. (2016)	13
Theorem 4.1 in Silva (2019)	759
Theorem 2.1	1056

 TABLE 2.2: Example 2.2–Contrast of the number of variables in the problem of Example 2.1.

matrices they are given by $N = k^2$. Hence, we have the following equations for the number of variables in each theorem:

$$N_{Theorem \ 2.1} = 5m^2(n-1)^2 + 3m(n-1) + \frac{1}{2}((np)^2 + np) + npm(n-1), \qquad (2.47)$$

$$N_{Theorem \ 2.2} = 4m^2(n-1)^2 + 3m(n-1) + \frac{1}{2}m(m+1) + \frac{1}{2}((np)^2 + np) + npm(n-1). \ (2.48)$$

Therefore, the number of variables of the problems grows quadratically with the number of agents in networks with agents with constant dimensions. Hence, if we increase the number of vertices n in our multi-agent system by a factor of 10 the running time can be expected to increase at least by a hundred if a method with O(NL) is considered. Thus, our approach might be restricted to networks with a relatively small number of agents (when compared to studies on swarms of robots in which the interest hinges in networks with hundreds or even thousand vertices). Nevertheless, some authors consider algorithms with complexity equal or lower than $O(N^3)$ to be scalable in general, see for example Newman (2010). In Table 2.2 it is shown the number of variables of the method proposed here, in You et al. (2016), and in Silva (2019) for the multi-agent system of Example 2.1. It is worth to also mention that in practice, to simply attest the running time based on the complexity of the approach may not give an accurate view. For instance, it is necessary that the entire problem fits in the fast access computer memory. If, for any reason, the computer starts to store the problem variable in a slow access memory (e.g., a hard disk), the performance will be substantially reduced.

Example 2.3. In this example the gain design conditions are contrasted with the methods proposed by Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018) and by Silva (2019). Because the study in Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018) is concerned only with the leader-following problem, this task will be considered. Consider a multi-agent system consisting of four agents with directed communication topology, represented in Figure 2.4, with Laplacian matrix given by



FIGURE 2.4: Example 2.3–Communication topology of multi-agent system.

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & -1 & 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

All agents are subject to input saturation and time-varying delays, the saturation limit is $u_{max}=10$ and the *i*th agent dynamics is

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_i^1(t) \\ \dot{x}_i^2(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.5 & 1 \\ 0 & 0.1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_i^1(t) \\ x_i^2(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \operatorname{sat} \left(\boldsymbol{u}_i(t) \right),$$

note that the open-loop dynamics is unstable.

The optimization problem (2.46), with $\rho = 5.7$ and $\alpha_j = 0$ for j = 2, ..., 5, Theorem 4.1 in Silva (2019), and Theorem 2 in Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018) were used to compute the guaranteed domain of consensus for increasing values of the upper bound of the delay interval. Table

TABLE 2.3: Example 2.3– Radius of the ball inscribed in the domain of consensus for different delay intervals.

$[\tau - \mu_m, \tau + \mu_m]$	[0.02, 0.1]	[0.02, 0.2]	[0.02, 0.3]	[0.02, 0.4]
Theorem 2 (Ding, Zheng, and Guo, 2018)	9.20	9.13	5.24	_
Theorem 4.1 (Silva, 2019)	17.80	17.23	16.62	16.00
Theorem 2.2	60.14	35.41	20.31	17.95

2.3 shows that Theorem 2.2 and Theorem 4.1 in Silva (2019) guarantee consensus for intervals of delay for which the method of Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018) was not able to ensure stability. In addition, Theorem 2.2 achieves a larger domain of consensus than both other approaches for all analyzed sets. Besides, the methods proposed here and in Silva (2019) are appropriated for consensus analysis with or without a leader and non-uniform delays, while Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018) considered only the problem of leader-following with uniform delays.

Another interesting highlight is that the studies made by Silva (2019) and Ding, Zheng, and Guo (2018) compute the region of guaranteed convergence provided by the biggest ball inscribed into the intersection of all the invariant sets calculated directly by the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional. As shown in Proposition 2.1, this might take into account regions that might not be of interest for starting the systems. Also, to search for ellipsoidal sets seems to be much less conservative, as shown in Figure 2.5A where the ball computed with the approach in Silva (2019) and an ellipsoidal set calculated using the optimization problem (2.46) are contrasted, with delays $\tau_i(t) \in [0.02, 0.2]$.

To illustrate the evolution of the network, Figure 2.5B shows the trajectories of the multiagent system with initial conditions belonging to the computed region of convergence, using the consensus protocol matrix gain $K = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0 & 0.258 \end{bmatrix}$, designed with optimization problem (2.46), with $\rho = 5.7$ and $\alpha_j = 0$ for $j = 2, \ldots, 5$.



FIGURE 2.5: Example 2.3– The domain of consensus for $\tau_i(t) \in [0.02, 0.2]$: (A) calculated using Theorem 4.1 (Silva, 2019) (in red), and using Theorem 2.2 (in blue); (B) relative trajectories of the agents for starting outside (in red) and inside (in black) of the domain of consensus calculated with Theorem 2.2.

2.3 Consensus of Discrete-Time Systems: Lyapunov-Krasovskii Approach

This and the next sections investigate the consensus problem subject to time-delays and saturating inputs in the discrete-time domain. Two approaches are provided to tackle this problem: In the first approach, presented in this section, the Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework is applied in the same spirit as in the continuous-time domain proposed in Section 2.2. The second one, presented in Section 2.4, is based on the switching scheme: by converting the delayed multiagent system into an augmented system with the delay modeled as a switching function. The main results are presented in form of theorems, providing sufficient conditions for the network asymptotic convergence and design gains that drive the network towards consensus. As in Section 2.2, there are also proposed optimization procedures in the form of LMIs to estimate the domain of consensus as large as possible.

Let us first present the result based on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework. The next Lemma, borrowed from Castro et al. (2020), is instrumental in the formulation of this result. It provides an inequality that can be used to insert information about delayed states of each agent in the Lyapunov-Krasovskii analysis, in such a way that the new delayed terms are negative. **Lemma 2.4.** (Castro et al., 2020). For any constant matrix M = M' > 0 and integer $c \in [\underline{\tau}, \overline{\tau}]$, with $\overline{\tau} \geq \underline{\tau} \geq 0$, the inequality

$$(\bar{\tau} - \underline{\tau}) \sum_{j=-\bar{\tau}}^{-\underline{\tau}-1} \boldsymbol{y}_j' M \boldsymbol{y}_j \ge \Omega_c' M \Omega_c$$

holds, where $\mathbf{y}_j = \mathbf{x}_j - \mathbf{x}_{j-1}$ for all $j \in [-\bar{\tau} + 1, 0]$, and $\Omega_c = \mathbf{x}_{-\bar{\tau}} - 2\mathbf{x}_{-c} + \mathbf{x}_{-\bar{\tau}}$ for all $c \in [\tau, \bar{\tau}]$.

In this section, we address the stability analysis and stabilization of the discrete-time version of (2.20) by employing the following Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate:

$$V(\varphi(k)) = \sum_{v=1}^{4} V_v(\varphi(k))$$
(2.49)

with

$$\begin{split} V_1(\varphi(k)) &= \boldsymbol{z}'_k \bar{P} \boldsymbol{z}_k, \\ V_2(\varphi(k)) &= \sum_{j=k-\bar{\tau}}^{k-1} \boldsymbol{z}'_k \bar{Q} \boldsymbol{z}_k, \\ V_3(\varphi(k)) &= \sum_{\ell=1-\bar{\tau}}^0 \sum_{j=k+\ell}^k \boldsymbol{y}'_j \bar{Z}_1 \boldsymbol{y}_j, \\ V_4(\varphi(k)) &= \bar{\tau} \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{\ell=1-\bar{\tau}}^0 \sum_{j=k+\ell}^k \boldsymbol{y}'_j \bar{Z}_2 \boldsymbol{y}_j, \end{split}$$

and $\varphi(k) \in \mathcal{C}_{k,\bar{\tau}}^{nm}$. The term $V_4(\varphi(k))$ is added to take into account information of delayed states of each agent employing Lemma 2.4. This accomplishes two things, it allows to model the saturation as a Lur'e problem and it helps to decrease the conservatism of the estimate of the region of convergence. Besides, if (2.49) is a Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional of the multi-agent system (2.20), then an estimate of \mathcal{S} can be computed as the level set

$$\mathcal{L}_V = \{\varphi(t_0) \in \mathcal{C}_{k_0,\bar{\tau}}^{nm} : V(\varphi(t_0)) \le 1\},\tag{2.50}$$

such that $\mathcal{L}_V \subset \mathcal{S}$.

2.3.1 Stability Analysis

The following theorem presents sufficient conditions to certify consensus of the multi-agent system (2.10) on the discrete-time domain.

Theorem 2.3. Let the feedback gain matrix K and the scalars $\bar{\tau}$, ϱ , and u_{\max} be given. The multi-agent system (2.5) with consensus protocol (2.3) subject to saturating inputs and time-varying delays reaches consensus if there exist nonsingular matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}$, a matrix $G = \begin{bmatrix} G_1 & G_2 & G_3 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{np\times(2n+1)m(n-1)}$, symmetric positive definite matrices P, Q, Z_1 , and $Z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}$, and a diagonal positive definite matrix $Y \in \mathbb{R}^{np\times np}$, such that the

following inequalities are satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Pi & \bar{\tau} \Gamma \\ * & -\bar{\tau} Z_1 \end{bmatrix} < 0, \tag{2.51}$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{Z}_2 & -\hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & \hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & * & Z_1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \left[0 & \bar{L}(I_n \otimes S') & 0 \right] - G \end{pmatrix}'_{(r)} \\ * & u_{\max}^2 \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \quad (2.52)$$

for all $r \in \{1, \ldots, np\}$, where

$$\Pi = \Pi_{PQ} + \Pi_{Q} + \Pi_{Z_{1}} + \Pi_{Z_{2}} + \Pi_{S} + \Pi_{sat}, \qquad (2.53)$$

$$\Gamma = \begin{bmatrix} \varrho \bar{B}S' \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{Z_{1}} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\tau}Z_{1} & -\bar{\tau}Z_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & \bar{\tau}Z_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & \bar{\tau}Z_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{Z_{2}} = \begin{bmatrix} n\bar{\tau}^{2}Z_{2} & -n\bar{\tau}^{2}Z_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & n\bar{\tau}^{2}Z_{2} - nZ_{2} & 2\bar{L}\hat{Z}_{2} & -nZ_{2} & 0 \\ * & * & -4\hat{Z}_{2} & 2\hat{Z}_{2}\bar{L}' & 0 \\ * & * & * & -2\hat{L}\hat{Z}_{2} & 2\hat{L}\hat{Z}_{2} & -nZ_{2} & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{PQ} = \begin{bmatrix} P & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & Q - P & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & Q - P & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{sat} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & -G'_{1} \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & -G'_{2} \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{Sat} = \begin{bmatrix} -\varrho(S + S') & -S' + \varrho(\bar{A} - \bar{B})S' & 0 & 0 & \varrho(U \otimes B)S' \\ * & (\bar{A} - \bar{B})S' + S(\bar{A} - \bar{B})' & 0 & 0 & (U \otimes B)S' \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(2.54)$$

and,

$$\bar{A} = I_{n-1} \otimes A,$$

$$\bar{B} = ULW \otimes BK,$$

$$\bar{L} = \begin{bmatrix} L_1 W \otimes K & L_2 W \otimes K & \cdots & L_n W \otimes K \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathcal{I} = \mathbf{1}'_n \otimes I_{m(n-1)} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times nm(n-1)},$$

$$\hat{Z}_2 = I_n \otimes Z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{nm(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}.$$

Furthermore, a region from which the consensus is always attainable is given by \mathcal{L}_V given in (2.50).

Proof. The demonstration follows some of the ideas of the proof of Theorem 2.1. Consider the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate in (2.49) with $P = F^{-1}\bar{P}(F^{-1})'$, $Q = F^{-1}\bar{Q}(F^{-1})'$, $Z_1 = F^{-1}\bar{Z}_1(F^{-1})'$, and $Z_2 = F^{-1}\bar{Z}_2(F^{-1})'$. Therefore, with P > 0, Q > 0, $Z_1 > 0$, and $Z_2 > 0$, the positivity of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional above is guaranteed with functions $u(\|\boldsymbol{z}(k)\|) = \lambda_{\min}(P)\|\boldsymbol{z}(k)\|^2$ and

$$v(\|\varphi(k)\|) = \lambda_{\max}(P) \|\boldsymbol{z}(k)\|^2 + \bar{\rho}_1 \sup_{\eta \in [k-\bar{\tau}, k-1]} \|\boldsymbol{z}_{\eta}\|^2 + \bar{\rho}_2 \sup_{\eta \in [k+1-\bar{\tau}, k]} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{\eta}\|^2$$

in Lemma 2.1, with

$$\bar{\rho}_1 = \bar{\tau} \lambda_{\max}(Q),$$

$$\bar{\rho}_2 = 0.5 \bar{\tau} (\bar{\tau} + 1) (\lambda_{\max}(Z_1) + n \bar{\tau} \lambda_{\max}(Z_2)).$$

Next we show that the negativity of the functional forward difference is guaranteed if the conditions in the theorem hold. Using the discrete counterpart of the Newton-Leibniz formula and (2.20), we have the following null-term

$$0 = 2\Lambda(k) \left[\boldsymbol{z}(k+1) - \bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(k) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{B}_{i}\boldsymbol{z}(k-\tau_{i}(k)) - (U \otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(k)) \right]$$

= $2\Lambda(k) \left[\boldsymbol{z}(k+1) - \bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(k) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{B}_{i}\boldsymbol{z}(k) - (U \otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(k)) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{B}_{i} \sum_{\ell=k-\tau_{i}(k)+1}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell} \right]$
= $2\Lambda(k) \left[\boldsymbol{z}(k+1) - \bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(k) + \bar{B}\boldsymbol{z}(k) - (U \otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(k)) \right] + \boldsymbol{v}(k),$ (2.55)

where, $\boldsymbol{y}_{\ell} = \boldsymbol{z}_{\ell} - \boldsymbol{z}_{\ell-1}$,

$$\Lambda(k) = -\boldsymbol{z}(k)'F - \boldsymbol{z}(k+1)'\varrho F, \qquad (2.56)$$

$$\bar{B}_i = (UL_iW) \otimes BK, \tag{2.57}$$

$$\bar{B} = (ULW) \otimes BK, \tag{2.58}$$

$$v(k) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\ell=k-\tau_i(k)+1}^{k} 2\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_i \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}.$$
(2.59)

Moreover, assuming $\bar{Z}_1 > 0$ we have that³

$$v(k) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\ell=k-\tau_{i}(k)+1}^{k} \left(\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_{i} \right) n\bar{Z}_{1}^{-1} \left(\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_{i} \right)' + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\ell=k-\tau_{i}(k)+1}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}' \frac{\bar{Z}_{1}}{n} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{\tau} \left(\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_{i} \right) n\bar{Z}_{1}^{-1} \left(\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_{i} \right)' + \sum_{\ell=k+1-\bar{\tau}}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}.$$
(2.60)

³We used the inequality $-2a'b \leq a'Xa + b'X^{-1}b$ where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)}$ and $X > 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)}$.

Combining (2.55) and (2.60) it yields

$$0 \leq -2\boldsymbol{z}(k+1)'\varrho F\boldsymbol{z}(k+1) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(k)'F\bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(k) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(k+1)'\varrho F\bar{A}\boldsymbol{z}(k) - 2\boldsymbol{z}(k)'F\boldsymbol{z}(k+1) -2\boldsymbol{z}(k)'F\bar{B}\boldsymbol{z}(k) - 2\boldsymbol{z}(k+1)'\varrho F\bar{B}\boldsymbol{z}(k) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(k+1)'\varrho F(U\otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(k)) + 2\boldsymbol{z}(k)'F(U\otimes B)\Theta(\boldsymbol{g}(k)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{\tau} \left(\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_{i}\right)n\bar{Z}^{-1} \left(\Lambda(k)\bar{B}_{i}\right)' + \sum_{\ell=k+1-\bar{\tau}}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}'\bar{Z}_{1}\boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}.$$
 (2.61)

To calculate the functional candidate (2.49) forward difference consider,

$$\Delta V_{1}(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) = \boldsymbol{z}(k+1)' \bar{P} \boldsymbol{z}(k+1) - \boldsymbol{z}' \bar{P} \boldsymbol{z}, \qquad (2.62)$$

$$\Delta V_{2}(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) = \sum_{j=k+1-\bar{\tau}}^{k} \boldsymbol{z}'_{j} \bar{Q} \boldsymbol{z}_{j} - \sum_{j=k-\bar{\tau}}^{k-1} \boldsymbol{z}'_{j} \bar{Q} \boldsymbol{z}_{j} = \boldsymbol{z}(k)' \bar{Q} \boldsymbol{z}(k) - \boldsymbol{z}(k-\bar{\tau})' \bar{Q} \boldsymbol{z}(k-\bar{\tau}), \qquad (2.63)$$

$$\Delta V_{3}(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) = \sum_{\ell=1-\bar{\tau}}^{0} \left[\sum_{j=k+1+\ell}^{k+1} \boldsymbol{y}_{j}' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}_{j} - \sum_{j=k+\ell}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{j}' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}_{j} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1-\bar{\tau}}^{0} \left[\boldsymbol{y}(k+1)' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}(k+1) - \boldsymbol{y}(k+\ell)' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}(k+\ell) + \sum_{j=k+1+\ell}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{j}' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}_{j} - \sum_{j=k+\ell+1}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{j}' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}_{j} \right]$$

$$= \bar{\tau} \boldsymbol{y}(k+1)' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}(k+1) - \sum_{\ell=k+1-\bar{\tau}}^{k} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}' \bar{Z}_{1} \boldsymbol{y}_{\ell}, \qquad (2.64)$$

and lastly

$$\Delta V_4(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) = \bar{\tau} \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{\ell=1-\bar{\tau}}^0 \left[\sum_{j=k+1+\ell}^{k+1} \boldsymbol{y}_j' \bar{Z}_2 \boldsymbol{y}_j - \sum_{j=k+\ell}^k \boldsymbol{y}_j' \bar{Z}_2 \boldsymbol{y}_j \right]$$

= $\bar{\tau}^2 n \boldsymbol{y}(k+1)' \bar{Z}_2 \boldsymbol{y}(k+1) - \bar{\tau} \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{\ell=k+1-\bar{\tau}}^k \boldsymbol{y}_\ell' \bar{Z}_2 \boldsymbol{y}_\ell.$ (2.65)

Then, by applying Lemma 2.4 in the *i*th term of the sum in (2.65), with $c = \tau_i(k)$, we get

$$-\bar{\tau}\sum_{\ell=k+1-\bar{\tau}}^{k} \mathbf{y}_{\ell}' \bar{Z}_{2} \mathbf{y}_{\ell} \leq -(\mathbf{z}(k) - 2\mathbf{z}(k - \tau_{i}(k)) + \mathbf{z}(k - \bar{\tau}))' \bar{Z}_{2}(\mathbf{z}(k) - 2\mathbf{z}(k - \tau_{i}(k)) + \mathbf{z}(k - \bar{\tau})).$$
(2.66)

Finally, as in the demonstration of Theorem 2.1, we first assume that $u(k) \in S(\omega(k), u_{\text{max}})$ and show afterward that condition (2.52) ensures this inclusion. Additionally, adding the result of Lemma 2.3, the null term (2.34), with equations (2.62), (2.63), (2.64), and (2.66) the Lyapunov-Krasovskii candidate forward difference becomes

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) \leq \mathbf{Y}(k)' \hat{\boldsymbol{\Pi}} \mathbf{Y}(k) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{\tau} \mathbf{Y}(k)' \Gamma_{i} n \bar{Z}_{1}^{-1} \Gamma_{i}' \mathbf{Y}(k)$$
$$= \mathbf{Y}(k)' \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{n} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Pi}} + \bar{\tau} \Gamma_{i} n \bar{Z}_{1}^{-1} \Gamma_{i}' \right) \right) \mathbf{Y}(k),$$
(2.67)

with

$$Y(k)' = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{z}(k+1)' & \boldsymbol{z}(k)' & \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(k-\boldsymbol{\tau}(k))' & \boldsymbol{z}(k-\bar{\boldsymbol{\tau}})' & \Theta' \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(k-\boldsymbol{\tau}(k))' = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{z}(k-\tau_1(k))' & \boldsymbol{z}(k-\tau_2(k))' \cdots \boldsymbol{z}(k-\tau_n(k))' \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\Gamma_i = \begin{bmatrix} \varrho F \bar{B}_i \\ F \bar{B}_i \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and $\hat{\Pi}$ defined as in (2.26), however with the matrices \bar{P} , \bar{Q} , \bar{Z}_1 , \bar{Z}_2 , and

$$\hat{\Pi}_{\rm sat} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\bar{G}_1'T' \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & -\bar{G}_2'T' \\ * & * & * & 0 & -\bar{G}_3'T' \\ * & * & * & * & -2T \end{bmatrix},$$

instead of P, Q, Z_1 , Z_2 , and Π_{sat} , respectively.

Finally, $\Delta V(\varphi(k)) \leq -w(\|\boldsymbol{z}(k)\|) = -\alpha \|\boldsymbol{z}(k)\|^2 < 0$ for any $Y(k) \neq 0$, and for some sufficiently small $\alpha < 0$, is achieved whenever the parenthesis term in equation (2.67) is negative definite, which from Schur complement is equivalent to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{n} \hat{\Pi} & \bar{\tau} \Gamma_i \\ * & -\frac{\bar{\tau}}{n} \bar{Z}_1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\Pi} & \bar{\tau} \Gamma \\ * & -\bar{\tau} \bar{Z}_1 \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$
(2.68)

The inequality (2.68) becomes identical to condition (2.51) after pre- and post-multiplying with

diag
$$(F^{-1}, F^{-1}, F^{-1}, \cdots, F^{-1}, T^{-1}, F^{-1})$$

and its transpose respectively, and making the change of variables $S = F^{-1}$, $Y = T^{-1}$, $G_1 = \bar{G}_1(F^{-1})'$, $G_2 = \bar{G}_2(F^{-1})'$, $G_3 = \bar{G}_3(F^{-1})$.

Therefore, if condition (2.51) of Theorem 2.3 and $\boldsymbol{u}(k) \in S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$ hold we have $V(\varphi(k)) > 0$ and $\Delta V(\varphi(k)) < 0$, which ensures that the multi-agent system reaches consensus asymptotically.

Next, it is shown that if inequality (2.52) is satisfied then $\boldsymbol{u}(k) \in S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$, and from the generalized sector condition in Lemma 2.3, $-2\Theta(\boldsymbol{u}(k))'T[\Theta(\boldsymbol{u}(k)) + \boldsymbol{\omega}(k)] \geq 0$ holds. In addition, all trajectories of $\varphi(k)$ starting from \mathcal{L}_V remains within \mathcal{L}_V . Inequality (2.52) implies that whenever the trajectories of the multi-agent system $\varphi_0(k)$ belong to \mathcal{L}_V , the inputs of the agents will belong to the set $S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$, in which \mathcal{L}_V represents a level set of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional. That is

$$\left| \left(\left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \bar{L} & 0 \end{bmatrix} - G \right\} \chi \right)_{(r)} \right| \le u_{\max}, \ \forall \boldsymbol{z}(k) \in \mathcal{L}_V,$$

for r = 1, ..., np, where $\boldsymbol{u}(k) = \bar{L}\hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(k - \boldsymbol{\tau}(k)), \, \boldsymbol{\omega}(k) = G\chi$, with

$$\chi = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)' & \hat{\boldsymbol{z}}(k-\boldsymbol{\tau}(k))' & \boldsymbol{y}(k+1-\bar{\tau})' \end{bmatrix}'.$$

The previous inequality holds whenever

$$0 \le \left(\left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \bar{L} & 0 \end{bmatrix} - G \right\} \chi \right)_{(r)}' u_{\max}^{-2} \left(\left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \bar{L} & 0 \end{bmatrix} - G \right\} \chi \right)_{(r)} \le \chi' \begin{bmatrix} \hat{Z}_2 & -\hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & \hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & * & \bar{Z}_1 \end{bmatrix} \chi$$

which, by Schur complement and pre- and post-multiplying the result by diag $(F^{-1}, (I_n \otimes F^{-1}), F^{-1}, 1)$ and its transpose, respectively, becomes similar to inequality (2.52). Furthermore, we have that all trajectories $\varphi_0(k)$ originating from $\varphi_0 \in \mathcal{L}_V$ verifies:

$$\chi' \begin{bmatrix} \hat{Z}_2 & -\hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & \hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & * & \bar{Z}_1 \end{bmatrix} \chi = (\hat{z}(k) - \hat{z}(k - \tau(k)))' \hat{Z}_2(\hat{z}(k) - \hat{z}(k - \tau(k))) \\ + y(k + 1 - \bar{\tau})' \bar{Z}_1 y(k + 1 - \bar{\tau}) \\ \leq V(\varphi_0) \leq 1.$$

Hence, with condition (2.52), we ensure that $\boldsymbol{u}(k)$ belongs to $S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$, consequently the condition of Lemma 2.3 is satisfied. Because \mathcal{L}_V is a level set of V and the inequalities $V(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) > 0$ and $\Delta V(\boldsymbol{z}(k)) < 0$ hold, the multi-agent systems converges asymptotically.

2.3.2 Stabilization

In the next theorem, we present conditions to design stabilizing state feedback matrices for the agents along with a region of ensured convergence. The results in the next theorem are extensions of the previous one.

Theorem 2.4. Let the scalars $\bar{\tau}$, ϱ and u_{\max} be given. The multi-agent system (2.5) with consensus protocol (2.3) subject to input saturation and time-varying delays reaches consensus with state feedback matrix $K = \bar{K}(F_m^{-1})'$, if there exist symmetric positive definite matrices $P, Q, Z_1, and Z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}, matrices \bar{F} = I_{n-1} \otimes F_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)\times m(n-1)}$ with $F_m \in$ $\mathbb{R}^{m\times m}, G = \begin{bmatrix} G_1 & G_2 & G_3 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{np\times (2n+1)m(n-1)}, \bar{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{p\times m}, a \text{ diagonal positive definite matrix}$ $H \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times np}$, such that the following inequalities are satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\Pi} & \bar{\tau}\bar{\Gamma} \\ * & -\bar{\tau}Z_1 \end{bmatrix} < 0, \qquad (2.69)$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{Z}_2 & -\hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & \hat{Z}_2 & 0 \\ * & * & Z_1 \end{bmatrix} \quad \begin{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \hat{L} & 0 \end{bmatrix} - G \end{pmatrix}'_{(r)} \\ * & & u_{\max}^2 \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \ \forall r \in \{1, \dots, np\}, \tag{2.70}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \bar{\Pi} &= \Pi_P + \Pi_Q + \Pi_{Z_1} + \Pi_{Z_2} + \Pi_F + \Pi_{\text{sat}}, \qquad (2.71) \\ \bar{\Gamma} &= \begin{bmatrix} \varrho \bar{B} \\ \bar{B} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \ \Pi_{Z_1} &= \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\tau} Z_1 & -\bar{\tau} Z_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & \bar{\tau} Z_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & \bar{\tau} Z_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & \bar{\tau} Z_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & \bar{\tau} Z_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Pi_{Z_2} &= \begin{bmatrix} n \bar{\tau}^2 Z_2 & -n \bar{\tau}^2 Z_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & n \bar{\tau}^2 Z_2 - n Z_2 & 2 \bar{L} \hat{Z}_2 & -n Z_2 & 0 \\ * & * & -4 \hat{Z}_2 & 2 \hat{Z}_2 \bar{L}' & 0 \\ * & * & * & -n Z_2 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Pi_{PQ} &= \begin{bmatrix} P & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & Q - P & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & Q - P & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Pi_{\text{sat}} &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & 0 & 0 & 0 & -G_1 \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & -G_2 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & * & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \Pi_F &= \begin{bmatrix} -\varrho (\bar{F} + \bar{F}') & -\bar{F}' + \varrho (\bar{A} \bar{F}' - \bar{B}) & 0 & 0 & \varrho (U \otimes B) \bar{F}' \\ * & \bar{A} \bar{F}' - \bar{B} + \bar{F} \bar{A}' - \bar{B}' & 0 & 0 & (U \otimes B) \bar{F}' \\ * & * & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ * & * & * & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and,

$$\begin{split} \bar{A} &= I_{n-1} \otimes A, \\ \bar{B} &= ULW \otimes B\bar{K}, \\ \hat{L} &= \begin{bmatrix} L_1 W \otimes \bar{K} & L_2 W \otimes \bar{K} & \cdots & L_n W \otimes \bar{K} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathcal{I} &= \mathbf{1}'_n \otimes I_{m(n-1)} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}, \\ \hat{Z}_2 &= I_n \otimes Z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{nm(n-1) \times nm(n-1)}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, a region from which the consensus is always attainable is given by \mathcal{L}_V given in (2.50).

Proof. In the same spirit of Theorem 2.2, the demonstration of Theorem 2.4 follows from inequalities (2.51) and (2.52). Replacing S by the structured variable $\bar{F} = I_{n-1} \otimes F_m$, $F_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ allows us to benefit from products $\bar{L}(I_n \otimes \bar{F}')$ and $\bar{B}\bar{F}'$. Observe that, because of the chosen structure, the products result respectively in:

$$\bar{B}\bar{F}' = (ULW \otimes BK)(I_{n-1} \otimes F_m) = ULW \otimes BKF'_m,$$

$$\bar{L}(I_n \otimes \bar{F}') = \begin{bmatrix} L_1W \otimes \bar{K}F'_m & L_2W \otimes \bar{K}F'_m \cdots & L_nW \otimes \bar{K}F'_m \end{bmatrix}.$$

Finally, replacing the product KF'_m , by the variable \bar{K} yields to conditions (2.69) and (2.70), and the state feedback for each agent can be retrieved from $K = \bar{K}(F^{-1})'$, which concludes the proof.

As the results in continuous-time, Theorems 2.3 and 2.4 provide sufficient conditions to guarantee the convergence in the form of feasibility problems, hence, the region provided might not be the largest one. Following the same strategy as in Section 2.2.3, we propose next a procedure to assist in the maximization of such regions and to represent them more precisely.

2.3.3 Characterization of the Set of Initial Conditions

Inspired by the approaches in Castro et al. (2020), we present next a characterization of the region of guaranteed convergence for the multi-agent system. This procedure permits to jointly compute distinct regions for the current states, the couplings between current and previous states, and delayed states. Specifically, the estimate of set of admissible initial conditions is such that:

$$\varphi(k_0) = \{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{\bar{\tau}}^{nm} : \boldsymbol{z}_0 \in \mathcal{C}, \boldsymbol{y}_0 \in \mathcal{Y}, \bar{\varphi}_0 \in \mathcal{B}(r_1, r_2) \},$$
(2.73)

where \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{Y} are ellipsoidal sets confining allowed values of $\boldsymbol{z}(k_0)$ and $\boldsymbol{y}(k_0)$, and the set $\mathcal{B}(r_1, r_2)$ contains the delayed states $\bar{\varphi}_0 \in \mathcal{C}_{\bar{\tau},1}^{nm}$, which $\mathcal{C}_{\bar{\tau},1}^{nm}$ representes sequences of states on the interval $[k_0 - \bar{\tau}, k_0 - 1]$. The sets \mathcal{C}, \mathcal{Y} , and $\mathcal{B}(r_1, r_2)$, which characterize the set of admissible initial conditions, are defined in the next proposition considering the multi-agent system (2.5).

Proposition 2.2. If the functional (2.49) is a Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional of the multi-agent system (2.20), then initial sequences φ_0 verifying (2.73) with

$$C = \{ \boldsymbol{z}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)} : V_1(\boldsymbol{z}_0) \le 1 - \gamma \}, \\ \mathcal{Y} = \{ \boldsymbol{y}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)} : \boldsymbol{y}_0' J \boldsymbol{y}_0 \}, \\ \mathcal{B}(r_1, r_2) = \{ \bar{\varphi}_0 \in \mathcal{C}_{\bar{\tau}, 1}^{nm} : \| \bar{\varphi}_0 \| \le r_1, \| \Delta \bar{\varphi}_0 \| \le r_2 \}, \\ \gamma = \rho_1 \| \bar{\varphi}_0 \|^2 + \rho_2 \| \Delta \bar{\varphi}_0 \|^2 + \boldsymbol{y}_0' J \boldsymbol{y}_0, \end{cases}$$

where $\Delta \bar{\varphi}_0 = \{ \boldsymbol{z}(k_0+i) - \boldsymbol{z}(k_0+i-1) : i = -\bar{\tau}, \dots, -1 \}$ is the sequence variation and $\|\bar{\varphi}_0\| = \max_{i \in [-\tau, -1]} \|\boldsymbol{z}(k_0+i) - \boldsymbol{z}(k_0+i-1)\|$, and r_1 and r_2 are such that $0 \leq \rho_1 r_1^2 + \rho_2 r_2^2 + \boldsymbol{y}'_0 J \boldsymbol{y}_0 < 0$

1, with

$$J = \bar{\tau} Z_1 + n \bar{\tau}^2 Z_2, \tag{2.74}$$

$$\rho_1 = \bar{\tau} \lambda_{\max}(Q), \qquad (2.75)$$

$$\rho_2 = 0.5(\bar{\tau} - 1) \Big(\bar{\tau} \lambda_{\max}(Z_1) + n \bar{\tau}^2 \lambda_{\max}(Z_2) \Big), \qquad (2.76)$$

are such that the trajectories of the multi-agent system do not leave the region of attraction and converges asymptotically.

Proof. In the same lines of demonstration of Proposition 2.1, where the sets of interest are defined by employing an upper-bound of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional, we can define the following upper-bound

$$V(\varphi(k_0)) = \sum_{v=1}^{4} V_v(\varphi(k_0)) \le V_1(\boldsymbol{z}(0)) + \rho_1 \|\bar{\varphi}_0\|^2 + \rho_2 \|\Delta\bar{\varphi}_0\|^2 + \boldsymbol{y}_0' J \boldsymbol{y}_0 < 1,$$

on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional give in (2.21). In which J, ρ_1 , and ρ_2 are given in (2.74), (2.75), and (2.76). To guarantee $0 \le \gamma < 1$ the inequality $0 \le \rho_1 r_1^2 + \rho_2 r_2^2 + y'_0 J y_0 < 1$ is required to be satisfied.

As pointed out in the works by Castro et al. (2020), Silva et al. (2020), and Silva et al. (2018b), the main advantage of employing characterizations such as the one in Proposition 2.2 is the flexibility it gives when estimating specific regions for states in different time-instants, allowing to possibly compute less conservative sets. For example, it is possible to cast the region of convergence inside a ball, to compute the largest possible set for transition states y_0 , or even to calculate a region of convergence considering only current states, with all previous states being zero.

An important observation is that unlike the result presented in Castro et al. (2020), Proposition 2.2 is based on a distinct augmented Lyapunov-Krasovskii function which takes into account the difference between states of agents in multi-agent systems interconnected through a directed graph. Hence, the characterization we propose not only is incommensurable with the one by Castro et al. (2020) but it is applied to a different problem.

Maximization of the allowed initial conditions

In possession of the conditions presented in Theorems 2.3 and 2.4, we consider the maximization of an ellipsoid within the region \mathcal{L}_V to find a set of initial conditions as large as possible, which can be obtained by solving the following optimization problem based on Castro et al. (2020).

$$\min \operatorname{trace} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{4} \alpha_{j} H_{j} \right)$$
s.t.
$$\begin{cases} a) \quad \text{LMIs (2.51) and (2.52) from Theorem 2.3,} \\ \text{or (2.69) and (2.70) from Theorem 2.4.} \end{cases}$$

$$(2.77)$$

$$b) \quad \begin{bmatrix} H_{j} & I \\ I & Z + Z' - X_{j} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0,$$

where α_j are scalar weights, $H_j \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1) \times m(n-1)}$ are variable matrices, Z = S for Theorem 2.3 or $Z = \overline{F}$ for Theorem 2.4, and X_j corresponds to the *j*th matrix in the set $\{P, Q, Z_1, Z_2\}$.

2.4 Consensus of Discrete-Time Systems: Augmented System Approach

This section explores the consensus problem subject to time delays and saturating inputs in the discrete-time domain by converting the delayed multi-agent system in (2.20) into an augmented switching system with the delay modeled as a switching function. As in Sections 2.2 and 2.3, it is also proposed an optimization procedure in the form of LMIs to compute estimates of the domain of consensus as large as possible.

The procedure presented is based on the framework proposed in Silva et al. (2018a) to take into account possible bounded time delay variations. This method allows us to introduce more information about the delay, and as such, it might reduce the computational burden by reducing the number of variables of the problem. To further reduce the computational burden, in this section we also assume homogeneous varying delays in the network (i.e., $\tau_i(k) = \tau(k)$ for all $i \in \mathcal{V}$).

A bound on the time-delay variation is such that,

$$|\tau(k+1) - \tau(k)| \le \Delta \tau_{\max} \le \bar{\tau},$$

where $\Delta \tau_{\text{max}}$ represents the biggest transition between two successive instants, this allows us to define the set of all possible values of the next delay as

$$\mathcal{C}(\tau) = \{\tau^+ : \tau^+ \in \{\max(0, \tau - \Delta\tau_{\max}), \max(0, \tau - \Delta\tau_{\max}) + 1, \dots, \min(\bar{\tau}, \tau + \Delta\tau_{\max})\}\},\$$

where τ^+ is a shorthand for $\tau(k+1)$.

Inspired by the studies in Hetel, Daafouz, and Iung (2008), Silva et al. (2018a), and in Souza et al. (2019) for single agent systems, the delayed multi-agent system is represented by an augmented switching system with the delay acting as the switching function. In our context, the discrete-time version of the multi-agent system (2.20) is represented by

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k+1) = \mathbb{A}\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) + \mathbb{B}\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)), \qquad (2.78)$$

where $\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{z}(k)' & \boldsymbol{z}(k-1)' & \cdots & \boldsymbol{z}(k-\bar{\tau})' \end{bmatrix}'$ is the augmented vector taking into account delayed states, $\mathbb{B} = \begin{bmatrix} (U \otimes B)' & 0' \end{bmatrix}'$ and the matrices \mathbb{A} and Γ switches according to the current delay as follow,

$$\mathbb{A} = \begin{bmatrix} (I_{n-1} \otimes A) - (U \otimes B)\Gamma_{0,\tau_k} & -(U \otimes B)\Gamma_{1,\tau_k} & \cdots & -(U \otimes B)\Gamma_{\bar{\tau}-1,\tau_k} & | & -(U \otimes B)\Gamma_{\bar{\tau},\tau_k} \\ \hline I_{\bar{\tau}m(n-1)} & & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\Gamma = \begin{bmatrix} \Gamma_{0,\tau_k} & \Gamma_{1,\tau_k} & \cdots & \Gamma_{\bar{\tau},\tau_k} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$\Gamma_{j,\tau_k} = \begin{cases} (LW \otimes K), & \text{if } j = \tau_k, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.79)

Observe that the system (2.78) is equivalent to (2.20), with augmented states $\boldsymbol{z}(k-1)$, $\boldsymbol{z}(k-2)$, ..., $\boldsymbol{z}(k-\bar{\tau})$, and the delay as the switching function. Moreover, to write (2.79) we take advantage of homogeneous delays, i.e., in this case it is possible to carry out the sum $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (L_i W \otimes K) \boldsymbol{z}(k-\tau(k)) = (LW \otimes K) \boldsymbol{z}(k-\tau(k))$.

2.4.1 Stability Analysis

The following theorem presents sufficient conditions to verify the consensus of the discrete-time multi-agent system (2.5) represented as the augmented system (2.78).

Theorem 2.5. Let the feedback matrix $K \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times m}$ and scalars u_{\max} and $\bar{\tau}$ be given. The multiagent system (2.5) with consensus protocol (2.3) subject to input saturation and time-varying delay reaches consensus if there exist a diagonal positive definite matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times np}$, symmetric positive definite matrices $R_{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1) \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$, matrices $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$, and $Q_{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1) \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$, $\tau = 0, 1, \ldots, \bar{\tau}$, such that the following conditions are satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} -R_{\tau^{+}} & \mathbb{A}_{\tau}Q_{\tau} & \mathbb{B}S \\ * & R_{\tau} - Q_{\tau} - Q_{\tau}' & -Z' \\ * & * & -2S \end{bmatrix} < 0, \qquad (2.80)$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} Q_{\tau} + Q'_{\tau} - R_{\tau} & Q_{\tau} \Gamma'_{(\ell)} - Z'_{(\ell)} \\ * & u^2_{\max} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \qquad (2.81)$$

for $\tau = 0, \ldots, \overline{\tau}$; $\tau^+ \in \mathcal{C}(\tau)$; $\ell = 1, \ldots, np$, where

$$\mathbb{A}_{\tau} = \begin{bmatrix} (I_{n-1} \otimes A) - (U \otimes B)\Gamma_{0,\tau_{k}} & -(U \otimes B)\Gamma_{1,\tau_{k}} & \cdots & -(U \otimes B)\Gamma_{\bar{\tau}-1,\tau_{k}} & | & -(U \otimes B)\Gamma_{\bar{\tau},\tau_{k}} \\ \hline I_{\bar{\tau}m(n-1)} & & 0 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \mathbb{B} = \begin{bmatrix} (U \otimes B)' & 0' \end{bmatrix}',$$

and for $k = 0, ..., \bar{\tau}$, if $k = \tau$, then $\Gamma_{k,\tau} = (LW \otimes K)$. Otherwise we have $\Gamma_{k,\tau} = 0$. Furthermore, a region from which the consensus is always attainable is given by the level set $\mathcal{L}_V = \{ \bar{z}(k) : \bar{z}(k)' P(\tau(k)) \bar{z}(k) \leq 1 \}.$

Proof. The proof follows the same lines of the proof of Theorem 1 (Hetel, Daafouz, and Iung, 2008) and Theorem 6 in Silva et al. (2018a) for single agent systems. In the following we show that if the conditions in the theorem hold, then the system in (2.20) is asymptotically stable which implies, from Definition 2.2, that the multi-agent system (2.5) reaches consensus. To this end we choose the following augmented Lyapunov functional candidate:

$$V(\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) = \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)' P(\tau_k) \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k).$$

Therefore, with $P(\tau(k)) > 0$, and functions in Lemma 2.1 $u(\|\bar{z}(k)\|) = \lambda_{\min}(P(\tau_k))\|\bar{z}(k)\|^2$ and $v(\|\bar{z}(k)\|) = \lambda_{\max}(P(\tau_k))\|\bar{z}(k)\|^2$, the positivity of the Lyapunov functional candidate above is guaranteed. Next we show that the negativity of $\Delta V(\bar{z}(k))$ along the trajectories of (2.78) is guaranteed if the conditions in the theorem hold. Indeed, we have that

$$\Delta V(\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) = \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k+1)' P(\tau(k+1)) \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k+1) - \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)' P(\tau(k)) \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) = \left[\mathbb{A}\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) + \mathbb{B}\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \right]' P(\tau(k+1)) \left[\mathbb{A}\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) + \mathbb{B}\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \right] - \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)' P(\tau(k)) \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k).$$

Assuming that $u(k) \in S(\omega(k), u_{\text{max}})$ and applying the generalized sector condition in Lemma 2.3, with $\omega(k) = G\bar{z}(k)$ yields

$$\Delta V(\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \leq \left[\mathbb{A}\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) + \mathbb{B}\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \right]' P(\tau(k+1)) \left[\mathbb{A}\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) + \mathbb{B}\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \right] -\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)' P(\tau(k))\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) - 2\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k))' T\left(\Theta(\Gamma\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) + G\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k))\right) \leq \xi'_k \Pi\xi_k,$$
(2.82)

with $\xi'_k = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{z}(k)' & \Theta(\Gamma \bar{z}(k))' \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{A}' B(\tau(k+1)) \end{bmatrix}$

$$\Pi = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{A}' P(\tau(k+1))\mathbb{A} - P(\tau(k)) & \mathbb{A}' P(\tau(k+1))\mathbb{B} - G'T' \\ * & -2T + \mathbb{B}' P(\tau(k+1))\mathbb{B} \end{bmatrix}.$$

By applying Schur's complement, left- and right-multiplying the resulting matrix by diag (I, Q_{τ}, T^{-1}) , the negativity of (2.82) is guaranteed by requiring

$$\begin{bmatrix} -P_{\tau^+}^{-1} & \mathbb{A}_{\tau}Q_{\tau} & \mathbb{B}T^{-1} \\ * & -Q_{\tau}P_{\tau}Q_{\tau} & -Q_{\tau}G' \\ * & * & -2T^{-1} \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$

Finally, by applying the upper bound $-Q_{\tau}P_{\tau}Q_{\tau} \leq P_{\tau}^{-1} - Q_{\tau}' - Q_{\tau}$, and the change of variables $R_{\tau} = P_{\tau}^{-1}$, $S = T^{-1}$, and $Z_{\tau}' = Q_{\tau}G'$, one obtains the inequality (2.80).

Therefore, if $\boldsymbol{u}(k) \in \mathbb{S}(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$ and the condition (2.80) of Theorem 2.5 hold, we have $0 < u(\|\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)\|) \leq V(\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \leq v(\|\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)\|)$ and $\Delta V(\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)) \leq -w(\|\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)\|) = -\alpha \|\bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)\|^2 < 0$ for some

sufficient small α , which implies that the multi-agent system reaches consensus asymptotically.

Henceforth, we show that if inequality (2.81) is satisfied then $\boldsymbol{u}(k) \in S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$, and the inequality in Lemma 2.3 is always satisfied. The inequality (2.81) implies that whenever the trajectories of the multi-agent system belong to \mathcal{L}_V , $\boldsymbol{u}(k) \in S(\boldsymbol{\omega}(k), u_{\max})$ is satisfied, where \mathcal{L}_V represents a level set of the Lyapunov function given by

$$\mathcal{L}_V = \{ \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) : \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k)' P(\tau(k)) \bar{\boldsymbol{z}}(k) \le 1 \}.$$

This is equivalent to

$$|(\Gamma_{(\ell)} - G_{(\ell)})oldsymbol{ar{z}}(k)| \leq u_{ ext{max}}, \ orall oldsymbol{ar{z}}(k) \in \mathcal{L}_V,$$

for $\ell = 1, \ldots, np$. The previous inequality holds whenever

$$egin{aligned} & \left(ar{m{z}}(k)'(\Gamma'_{(\ell)}-G'_{(\ell)})
ight)\left((\Gamma_{(\ell)}-G_{(\ell)})ar{m{z}}(k)
ight) \leq u_{\max}^2ar{m{z}}(k)'P(au(k))ar{m{z}}(k), \ & ar{m{z}}(k)'\left(P(au(k))-\left(\Gamma'_{(\ell)}-G'_{(\ell)}
ight)u_{\max}^{-2}\left(\Gamma_{(\ell)}-G_{(\ell)}
ight)
ight)ar{m{z}}(k) \geq 0, \end{aligned}$$

which, by Schur's complement, left- and right-multiplying the resulting matrix by diag $(Q_{\tau}, 1)$, and applying the inequality $Q_{\tau}P_{\tau}Q_{\tau} \ge -P_{\tau}^{-1} + Q' + Q$, have the positivity guaranteed by

$$\begin{bmatrix} -P_{\tau}^{-1} + Q_{\tau}' + Q_{\tau} & Q_{\tau} \Gamma_{(\ell)}' - Q_{\tau} G_{(\ell)}' \\ * & u_{\max}^2 \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \text{ for } \ell = 1, \dots, np; \ \tau = 0, \dots, \bar{\tau}.$$
(2.83)

Finally, the inequality (2.83) becames equal to (2.81) with the change of variables $R_{\tau} = P_{\tau}^{-1}$, and $Z'_{\tau} = Q_{\tau}G'$. Hence, if (2.81) is satisfied the condition of Lemma 2.3 is also satisfied, and whenever (2.80) is jointly satisfied, \mathcal{L}_V is a level set of the Lyapunov functional and we have $V(\bar{z}(k)) > 0$ and $\Delta V(\bar{z}(k)) < 0$. Thus all the trajectories of $\bar{z}(k)$ starting from \mathcal{L}_V remains within \mathcal{L}_V and go to origin.

2.4.2 Stabilization

In the following theorem, we extend the previous result and present new conditions to synthesize stabilizing feedback controls for the agents. The asymptotic convergence and gain design conditions are given separately because a particular structure is chosen in the matrices variables of the latter. This choice would introduce some conservatism in the stability conditions if the same structure of the design conditions were considered. In fact, as it is shown in the numerical examples, this particular choice makes the design conditions using the augmented approach *more* conservative than the conditions derived through the Lyapunov-Krasovskii approach, even though in the former no sum inequalities is used. We provide design conditions based on Theorem 2.5 as follows.

Theorem 2.6. Let the scalars $\bar{\tau}$ and u_{\max} be given. The multi-agent system (2.5) with consensus protocol (2.3) subject to input saturation and time-varying delay reaches consensus with state feedback matrix $K = \bar{K}Q_m^{-1}$, if there exist a diagonal positive definite matrix $S \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times np}$, symmetric positive definite matrices $R_{\tau} \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1) \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$, for $\tau = 0, 1, \ldots, \bar{\tau}$, and matrices $\bar{Q} = I_{(\bar{\tau}+1)(n-1)} \otimes Q_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1) \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$ with $Q_m \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$, $\bar{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times m}$, and $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{np \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$, such that the following conditions are satisfied:

$$\begin{bmatrix} -R_{\tau^+} & \hat{\mathbb{A}}\bar{Q} - \mathbb{B}\hat{\Gamma}_{\tau} & \mathbb{B}S\\ * & R_{\tau} - \bar{Q} - \bar{Q}' & -Z'\\ * & * & -2S \end{bmatrix} < 0, \qquad (2.84)$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{Q} + \bar{Q}' - R_{\tau} & \hat{\Gamma}'_{(\ell)} - Z'_{(\ell)} \\ * & u^2_{\max} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \qquad (2.85)$$

for $\tau = 0, \ldots, \overline{\tau}$; $\tau^+ \in \mathcal{C}(\tau)$; $\ell = 1, \ldots, np$, where

$$\hat{\mathbf{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} (I_{n-1} \otimes A) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \hline & I_{\bar{\tau}m(n-1)} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\mathbb{B} = \begin{bmatrix} (U \otimes B)' & 0' \end{bmatrix}',$$
$$\hat{\Gamma}_{\tau} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\Gamma}_{0,\tau} & \hat{\Gamma}_{1,\tau} & \cdots & \hat{\Gamma}_{\bar{\tau},\tau} \end{bmatrix},$$

and for $k = 0, ..., \bar{\tau}$, if $k = \tau$, then $\hat{\Gamma}_{k,\tau} = (LW \otimes \bar{K})$. Otherwise we have $\hat{\Gamma}_{k,\tau} = 0$. Furthermore, a region from which the consensus is always attainable is given by the level set $\mathcal{L}_V = \{ \bar{z}(k) : \bar{z}(k)' P(\tau(k)) \bar{z}(k) \leq 1 \}.$

Proof. The conditions (2.84) and (2.85) of Theorem 2.6 are derived directly from the inequalities (2.80) and (2.81), by replacing the variables Q_{τ} , for all $\tau \in \{1, \ldots, \bar{\tau}\}$, with the structured variable $\bar{Q} = I_{(\bar{\tau}+1)(n-1)} \otimes Q_m$, with $Q_m > 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$. The product $\Gamma \bar{Q}$ in (2.84) and in (2.85) leads to

$$\Gamma \bar{Q} = \begin{bmatrix} \Gamma_0 (I_{n-1} \otimes Q_m) & \Gamma_1 (I_{n-1} \otimes Q_m) & \cdots & \Gamma_{\bar{\tau}} (I_{n-1} \otimes Q_m) \end{bmatrix},$$

where the jth element is given by,

$$\Gamma_j \Big(I_{n-1} \otimes Q_m \Big) = - \Big(LW \otimes K \Big) \Big(I_{n-1} \otimes Q_m \Big)$$
$$= -LW I_{n-1} \otimes KQ_m.$$

Defining $\bar{K} = KQ_m$ and $\hat{\Gamma}_{k,\tau} = LW \otimes \bar{K}$, the state feedback matrices for the agents can be computed by $K = \bar{K}Q_m^{-1}$, which completes the demonstration.

Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 present sufficient conditions to guarantee consensus in the multi-agent systems with agents described by (2.78), and additionally, they give a procedure to compute a region from which the consensus is always attainable. We propose next a simple procedure to maximize the domain of consensus along with the given conditions.

Maximization of the allowed initial conditions

With the conditions presented in Theorems 2.5 and 2.6, as in the previous approaches, we consider the maximization of an ellipsoid included in the level set \mathcal{L}_V , which is obtained by solving the following optimization problem.

min trace(*H*)
s.t.
$$\begin{cases}
a) \quad \text{LMIs (2.80) and (2.81) from Theorem 2.5,} \\
\text{or (2.84) and (2.85) from Theorem 2.6.} \\
b) \quad \begin{bmatrix} H & I \\ I & R_{\tau} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \text{ for } \tau = 0, ..., \bar{\tau},
\end{cases}$$
(2.86)

where $H \in \mathbb{R}^{m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1) \times m(n-1)(\bar{\tau}+1)}$.

An interesting aspect of this method is that the computation of the region included in the domain of consensus readily gives an estimate for current and delayed states. Hence, with the region in the augmented space $\bar{z}(k)$ it is possible to define the essential states for a given problem, and specific characterization of separate regions is not necessary.

2.4.3 Numerical Examples

In this section, we contrast the conservatism associated with the time-delay between our results and recent ones found in the literature. We also present two simulated experiments illustrating the findings in Sections 2.3 and 2.4. In the first example, we address a multi-agent system with scalar agents to facilitate the comprehension of the computed region of attraction in the method offered in Section 2.4. In the second simulation, the focus is to exemplify the conservatism of the region of convergence using the method proposed in Section 2.3.

Example 2.4. Consider a multi-agent system in the discrete-time domain with two agents that communicate with each other, and have dynamics given by (2.5), with input bound $u_{\text{max}} = 0.5$ and

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0.866 & -0.5\\ 0.5 & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } B = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
 (2.87)

Firstly, to compare the proposed conditions with the result in Zhang, Saberi, and Stoorvogel (2020) we consider the design approaches, Theorems 2.4 and 2.6. The solutions are presented in Table 2.4, in which Theorem 2.4 was considered with $\rho = 5$.

Method	$\bar{\tau}_{\mathrm{max}}$
Theorem 1 in Zhang, Saberi, and Stoorvogel (2020)	4
Theorem 2.6	8
Theorem 2.4	10

TABLE 2.4: Example 2.4–Comparison of maximum delay for design conditions of the multi-agent system given in (2.87).

One can see that Theorems 2.6 and 2.4 achieve less conservative results in this example. However, contrary to what was expected, Theorem 2.6 showed to be more conservative than Theorem 2.4. The tests suggest that this might be due to the structure variable necessary to derive the synthesis conditions, the specific structures have shown to be more taxing in Theorem 2.6 than in 2.4. As evidence, Table 2.5 presents solutions for the stability conditions, which employ more variables. In both, Theorems 2.3 and 2.5, it was considered $K = \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & 0.02 \end{bmatrix}$.

Method	$\bar{\tau}_{\mathrm{max}}$
Theorem 2.3	15
Theorem 2.5	18

TABLE 2.5: Example 2.4–Comparison of maximum delay for synthesis conditions of the multi-agent system given in (2.87).

As shown, the approach used in Theorem 2.5 indeed leads to less conservatism. However, this advantage might be lost in the extension to design conditions.

Example 2.5. Consider a multi-agent system composed of four agents with directed communication topology illustrated in Figure 2.6, which has the following Laplacian matrix:

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$



FIGURE 2.6: Example 2.5–Communication topology of multi-agent system.

In this scenario, it is considered the following dynamics for the agents:

$$x_i(k+1) = 1.2x_i(k) + 0.5 \operatorname{sat}(u(k)),$$

for i = 1, ..., 4, subjected to a maximum input delay of $\bar{\tau} = 1$, with biggest allowed transition $\Delta \tau_{\max} = 1$, and input saturation $u_{\max} = 1$.

Designing the controller gains by solving the optimization problem (2.86) gives the gain K = 0.476. Note that in this case, the domain of consensus has order six. To facilitate the understanding of such a region it is performed the projection into the planes $z_i(k) \times z_i(k-1)$, i = 1, ..., 3, and an ellipsoid is inflated in the intersection of these projections (shown in blue line in Figure 2.7). Because the proposed approach readily takes into account the region of convergence for current and delayed states, the order of the domain of consensus increase with

the upper bound of delay. For instance, if in this scenario the agents were subject to $\bar{\tau} = 3$, the domain of consensus would have order 12 and it might be harder to visualize such a region.

The ellipsoidal region for the domain of consensus is presented in Figure 2.7. To illustrate the evolution of the network and demonstrate the low conservatism of our approach, Figure 2.7 shows trajectories of the multi-agent system with initial conditions inside (in black line) and outside (in red line) of the computed domain of consensus. Note that the trajectories starting outside the domain of consensus do not achieve consensus.



FIGURE 2.7: Example 2.5–The domain of consensus calculated using Theorem 2.6 (in blue), and relative trajectories of the agents starting outside (in red) and inside (in black) of the calculated domain of consensus.

Example 2.6. In this example, consider that the matrices of the agents in (2.5) are given by

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1.01 & 0.2\\ 0.0 & -0.5 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } B = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0.1 \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.88)

with input saturation $u_{\text{max}} = 0.5$, and that the multi-agent system is composed of ten agents, with communication topology represented by the following Laplacian matrix:

	3	0	-1	0	-1	0	0	-1	0	0
	-1	3	0	0	0	-1	0	0	-1	0
	-1	-1	6	-1	-1	0	0	-1	0	-1
	-1	-1	-1	6	-1	-1	0	-1	0	0
τ_	0	-1	0	-1	6	-1	0	-1	-1	-1
L -	0	-1	-1	0	-1	5	-1	-1	0	0
	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	9	-1	-1	-1
	0	0	0	-1	-1	-1	-1	5	0	-1
	-1	-1	0	-1	0	-1	-1	-1	7	-1
	[-1]	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	9

For this network, we exemplify the characterization of the region of guaranteed convergence by using the synthesis conditions of Theorem 2.4, with parameter $\rho = 5$, through the optimization problem given in Section 2.2. We design three regions: (1) the biggest set for transition states \mathbf{y}_0 ; (2) the region in which \mathcal{Y} and $\mathcal{B}(r_1, r_2)$ define a ball with radius $r = r_1 = r_2 = \|\mathbf{y}_0\|$; and (3) the biggest set for current states \mathbf{z}_0 .

To define a region for (1), we set $r_1 = r_2 = 0$, and $\alpha_2 = 0$, which gives us $||\mathbf{y}_0|| < 1/\sqrt{(\bar{\tau}\lambda_{\max}(Z_1) + n\bar{\tau}^2\lambda_{\max}(Z_2))}$. The regions $\mathcal{C}_{(1)}$ and $\mathcal{Y}_{(1)}$ in this scenario are represented in Figure 2.8 with solid blue line. For the region of convergence (2), we obtain the condition $r < 1/\sqrt{(\rho_1 + \rho_2 + \rho_3)}$, where $\rho_3 = (\bar{\tau}\lambda_{\max}(Z_1) + n\bar{\tau}^2\lambda_{\max}(Z_2))$. Computing the sets with $\alpha_j = 1$, for $j = 1, \ldots, 4$, give us the regions $\mathcal{C}_{(2)}, \mathcal{Y}_{(2)}$, and $\mathcal{B}_{(2)}$, represented in Figure 2.8 in dashed red line. Finally, to compute the region (3) we set $\alpha_j = 0$, for $j = 2, \ldots, 4$, $\alpha_1 = 1$, and $r_1 = r_2 = 0$, which give us the region $\mathcal{C}_{(3)}$, depicted in Figure 2.8 in solid black line.



FIGURE 2.8: Example 2.6–Geometrical characterization of the domain of consensus computed using Lemma 2.2. The sets $C_{(1)}$ and $\mathcal{Y}_{(1)}$ in solid blue line, $C_{(2)}$, $\mathcal{Y}_{(2)}$, and $\mathcal{B}_{(2)}$ in dashed red line, and $\mathcal{C}_{(3)}$ in solid black line.

It is possible to see through the three different representations of the region of convergence that there is a trade-off between the sets associated with each initializing state. Consequently, this representation gives flexibility in structuring a specific set of initial conditions for a given problem, which might lead to less conservative estimate.

Example 2.7. A numerical complexity analysis of the two proposed approaches of discrete-time systems is provided. The theoretical advantage of the augmented approach is that, because an equivalent form of general quadratic Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional is used, and no conservative inequalities were employed to derive linear conditions, e.g., Jensen's inequality (Kim, 2016), those conditions should lead to nonconservative conditions. In fact, for single-agent systems with time varying delays, the switching augmented system approach is equivalent to employ the most general form of a Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate that involves sums of quadratic terms (Hetel, Daafouz, and Iung, 2008). The drawback of the method is that the dimension of the problem increases with the delay upper-bound. Thus, the Lyapunov-Krasovskii methodology offered in Theorems 2.3 and 2.4, although possibly more conservative, might suit better multi-agent systems. To better understand this growth, it is analyzed the number of variables of the LMI problem, as in Example 2.2, and the two methods in the discrete-time domain are contrasted.

The number of variables in each theorem is given by:

$$\begin{split} N_{Theorem \ 2.3} = & 3m^2(n-1)^2 + 2m(n-1) + np(n+2)m(n-1) + np, \\ N_{Theorem \ 2.4} = & 2m^2(n-1)^2 + 2m(n-1) + m^2 + 2m(m+1) + np(n+2)m(n-1) \\ & + np + pm, \\ N_{Theorem \ 2.5} = & (1+\bar{\tau})^3 m^2(n-1)^2 + (1+\bar{\tau})^2 m(n-1) + (1+\bar{\tau})npm(n-1) + np, \\ N_{Theorem \ 2.6} = & \frac{1}{2} \Big((1+\bar{\tau})^3 m^2(n-1)^2 + (1+\bar{\tau})^2 m(n-1) \Big) + m^2 \\ & + mp + (1+\bar{\tau})npm(n-1) + np. \end{split}$$

As it can be seen, the number of variables grows roughly the same way in both methods regarding the number of agents in the network and their dimension. However, the conditions in Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 grow cubically as the upper-bound delay increases. This can be highly restrictive depending on the network to be studied and expected delays. Besides, it should be highlighted again that, because the structure on the variable matrices, Theorem 2.6 shows no improvement regarding the conservatism reduction. To give a glimpse of the effect caused by dependence on the time-delay, Figure 2.9 depicts the number of variables in different scenarios.

2.5 Chapter Conclusions

In this chapter, it was proposed new conditions to analyze and design consensus protocols for multi-agent systems under communication topology described by directed graphs, and inputs subject to saturation and time-delays. The obtained results were investigated in the continuousand discrete-time domains. The analysis and design of the distributed protocols were formulated in such a way that the region in which the consensus is ensured is maximized.

In all presented approaches, the saturation was modeled with the use of a dead-zone function. With this, it was possible to employ a sector condition that permits the inclusion of more variables in the problem, which led to less conservative estimates of the region of convergence when compared with other saturation representations, for example, the polytopic model in Silva (2019). In addition, the dead-zone function eases the manipulation of the equations of the system because the sector feature of the non-linearity is explored, allowing the use of tools developed for the analysis of uncertain linear systems.

In the continuous-time domain, the time-varying delays were assumed to be specified by intervals and it was not assumed the existence of the delays derivative. This reduces the conservatism of the conditions, in the sense that it allows the methodology to be applicable to scenarios where the variation of the delays is not known and might even be random. Another key feature is that the used representation for delays fits well in the context of multi-agent systems, once it allows representing arbitrary delays for each agent within the same set and, consequently, to represent the whole networked system in a compact form.

In the discrete-time domain, two approaches were given. As a first result, it was proposed a technique based on the Lyapunov-Krasovskii framework for discrete-time multi-agent systems. With this method, we were able to derive conditions in which the computational burden does



FIGURE 2.9: Example 2.7– Growth of the number of variables in Theorems 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, and 2.6 for different values of delays (Figures 2.9A and 2.9A) and agents in the network (Figures 2.9C and 2.9D), with second-order agents and single input (m = 2, and p = 1).

not increase with delays, while still managed to obtain less conservative conditions than previous studies from the literature for the numerical problems considered.

With the goal of reducing the conservatism of the first approach, we rewrote the problem as the study of convergence of an augmented switching system subject to input saturation. This transformation allowed the use a Lyapunov functional that depends on the modes of the switched system, which is equivalent to use a general delay-dependent Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional (Hetel, Daafouz, and Iung, 2008). As pointed by Hetel, Daafouz, and Iung (2008), this functional might represent the most general form that can be obtained using a sum of quadratic terms. The main drawback of the proposed approach is that the computational complexity of the conditions might increase rapidly as the delay upper bound increases, despite this value be considered known a priori. This is a trade-off between conservatism and computational burden. An interesting finding is that despite the trade-off between the two methods, the conservatism of the synthesis conditions of the augmented system approach seems to be higher than the conditions from the Lyapunov-Krasovskii approach.

In the development process of the stability conditions some possibly conservative approaches were made—and, naturally, they propagated to the synthesis conditions. These decisions may have led to conservative results, in the sense that there may exist conditions that ensure the convergence with larger region for consensus with tighter input saturation, and with larger time-delays. This is the price to be paid for the use of LMIs, if in one hand they concede the possibility to formulate sufficient conditions for convergence that can be easily solved using efficient well known methods, in another hand, more often than not, it is necessary to insert some conservatism on the conditions.

Finally, the numerical examples showed that our approach is less conservative and/or more general than recent similar approaches found in the literature for the considered examples. More specifically, our results can deal with the problem of consensus with and without leader, with directed communication topology, non-differentiable input time-delays, and provide a region in which the consensus is guaranteed.

Chapter 3

Formation-Containment of Euler-Lagrange Systems

This chapter addresses the formation-containment on interconnected systems modeled by using the Euler-Lagrange formalism, which are subject to input saturation and time-varying delays in the communication channels. The main results are the design of distributed control algorithms and sufficient conditions to ensure the multi-agent system convergence. The design and convergence analysis of leaders and followers are addressed separately. This is possible because the problem can be seen as a composition of two other sub-problems. First, the design of distributed protocols for leaders is presented and, in the sequence, the design for followers. Lastly, a theorem addressing the complete formation-containment problem is proposed. Finally, the use of the approach is illustrated using numerical examples in different scenarios.

3.1 Introduction and Preliminaries

The main objective in this chapter on the cooperative control of nonlinear systems subject to communication delays and input saturation is to generalize the approach that has usually been made in the literature, by providing a framework to handle both problems simultaneously. Given that delays and input saturation are part of the nature of networked systems, we aim to derive convergence guarantees by taking into account these characteristics.

In this chapter, an approach for the problem of formation-containment of networked Euler-Lagrange systems is proposed, which has started to be studied recently in the literature. For example, in Xu et al. (2020a) the time-varying formation is studied using finite-time estimators for velocity and states of leaders, and neural networks are used to handle uncertainties. In Xu et al. (2020b) the transient and steady-state performance of the formation-containment convergence is investigated along with unknown control directions. In the same lines, Hua et al. (2021) propose the fixed-time convergence by employing slide-mode strategy, which is also able to deal with parametric uncertainties and input disturbances. Zhou and Chen (2020) proposed an approach based on adaptive obervers to solve the formation-containment, but modeling leaders using linear dynamics and only followers using the Euler-Lagrange formalism. In addition, considering similar conditions as the ones in this chapter can be found in the work of Yang, Shi, and Constantinescu (2019) and Hernández-Guzmán and Orrante-Sakanassi (2019) on the *consensus* problem. In Yang, Shi, and Constantinescu (2019) it is studied the connectivity-preserving problem for consensus, and their approach have significant distinctions from ours. Particularly, they are mainly concerned with the connectivity-preserving consensus, which is an
interesting problem *per se* and present some challenges associated with the implementation on real-world systems. For this reason, for example, they assume that each agent of the network is initially at rest. Our proposed framework is appropriated for a more general problem than the consensus and, since we are not concerned with the problem of connectivity-preserving, no assumptions related with the behavior of the agents are necessary. Hernández-Guzmán and Orrante-Sakanassi (2019) are also concerned with the consensus problem, they proposed an integration action in the controllers of Euler-Lagrange systems considering communication delays, but input saturation was not analyzed. Moreover, the approach used by Yang, Shi, and Constantinescu (2019) and Hernández-Guzmán and Orrante-Sakanassi (2019) to deal with the delays among agents corresponds to the one proposed by Nuño and collaborators on previous years (Nuño et al., 2011; Nuño et al., 2012; Nuño, Sarras, and Basanez, 2013; Nuño and Ortega, 2018).

Here, the communication delays are handled in a different way leading to an LMI test that relates the delays upper bounds with some parameters of the controllers. As a result, it is shown via numerical examples that the proposed conditions are less conservative in ensuring convergence on multi-agent systems subject to communication delays. More precisely, the main contributions in this chapter can be highlighted as:

- i) The dynamics of all agents in the multi-agent system are nonlinear and modeled by Euler-Lagrange equations which, as it is well known, can be used to represent numerous mechanical and electrical systems. Most of the literature on formation-containment control is focused on linear dynamics, with some recent exceptions, (Mei, Ren, and Ma, 2012; Chen et al., 2017b; Li et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2019a; Chen et al., 2019b).
- ii) The actuators limits are considered along with the nonlinear dynamics. This consideration is pertinent because it eases the implementation of the control strategy on real systems. Moreover, in addition to the control performance degradation caused by saturation, there is also the risk of thermal and mechanical failure when the actuators constraints are neglected. This premise was previously studied in a related context by Li et al. (2018) and Ren (2009), but with some important distinctions from our approach, namely: i) the formation-containment problem is more general than the consensus problem, ii) we propose a strategy to deal with input saturation and communication delays simultaneously, iii) different from Li et al. (2018) our dynamic controller does not rely on the inertia and Coriolis matrices and, iv) in contrast with both approaches, the control strategy proposed here does not depend on relative velocity measurements.
- iii) The delay in the communication among agents is explicitly considered. Communication is a necessary condition for distributed control, and delays in the communication of networked systems are almost an inherent feature that might prevent the system from achieving the desired formation, thus it is desirable to consider its effects on the analysis. It is worth mentioning that the majority of works that approach this problem consider the self and neighbors states subject to the *same* delay, but it is easy to note that this consideration does not represent a realistic case. In fact, the results of Nuño and collaborators (Nuño et al., 2011; Nuño et al., 2012; Nuño, Sarras, and Basanez, 2013; Nuño and Ortega, 2018) seem

to contribute with the least conservative conditions in communication delays in networked Euler-Lagrange systems. On the numerical examples we show that, even though we also consider the input saturation, the proposed conditions are less conservative than the ones in their approach.

iv) The proposed distributed control strategy does not depend on the knowledge of the agent's inertia matrix or the Coriolis forces, and it does not rely on the neighbors velocity information, which reduces the communication burden on the network.

3.1.1 Nonlinear Dynamics

The majority of real-world systems are intrinsically nonlinear, and the linearization often does not provide a desirable representation when the systems do not operate in the vicinity of the linearization point (Slotine and Li, 1991). Even though in the previous section we provided a rigorous definition of the region in which the convergence is ensured, we had assumed that the agents' models are well represented by the linear dynamics. We acknowledge that this might be a strong assumption, and in order to draw a methodology closer to realistic systems, it is now assumed nonlinear dynamics for the networked nodes.

From an engineering perspective it is of great interest to model mechanical and electrical systems, and if we look from the cooperative control point of view the set of systems of interest is even more specific–it essentially encompasses the control and coordination of groups of robots, unnamed aerial vehicles, and sensors. We, thereby, draw upon the large body of interest of the field, by addressing nonlinear Euler-Lagrange systems with input saturation, represented by

$$M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i)\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i)\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + \boldsymbol{g}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) = \operatorname{sat}(\boldsymbol{u}_i), \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, M\},$$
(3.1)

where the vectors $\boldsymbol{q}_i \in \mathbb{R}^m$ are the generalized coordinates, the inertia matrix $M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ is symmetric and positive-definite, the Coriolis and centripetal effects are represented with the matrix $C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$, and the vector $\boldsymbol{g}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ maps the gravitational effects. The input signal produced by the actuators are represented by $\boldsymbol{u}_i \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and the element-wise function sat(·) maps the bound on the input, that is $||\text{sat}(\boldsymbol{u}_i)||_{\infty} \leq u_{\max i}$ where the scalar $u_{\max i}$ represents the actuator limit and the saturation function is defined as

sat
$$(\boldsymbol{u}_i) = [\operatorname{sat}(u_{i(1)}) \dots \operatorname{sat}(u_{i(m)})]'$$
, with
sat $(u_{i(r)}) = \operatorname{sign}(u_{i(r)}) \min(u_{\max i}, |u_{i(r)}|), \quad \forall r \in \{1, \dots, m\},$ (3.2)

in which the subscript inside the parenthesis represents the rth element of the vector u_i . Here, for simplicity, we slightly abuse notation using the same notation for vector saturation function and scalar function. The agents dynamics are assumed to be possible distinct and to have the following properties of Euler-Lagrange systems (Spong, Hutchinson, and Vidyasagar, 2005):

Property 1. The matrix $\dot{M}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) - 2C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i)$ is skew-symmetric, that is

$$oldsymbol{z}' \Big(\dot{M}_i(oldsymbol{q}_i) - 2C_i(oldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{oldsymbol{q}}_i) \Big) oldsymbol{z} = 0, ext{ for any vector } oldsymbol{z} \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

Property 2. There are positive constants a_i, b_i such that

$$0 < I_m a_i \leq M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \leq I_m b_i, \ \forall \boldsymbol{q}_i \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

Property 3. There exist positive constants c_i , such that

$$||C_i(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y})\boldsymbol{z}|| \leq c_i ||\boldsymbol{z}||||\boldsymbol{y}||, \ \forall \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{z} \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

In addition to considering nonlinear dynamics for the nodes, we take a step further in relation to the consensus problem and approach a more general problem. We address the problem of formation-containment (Mei, Ren, and Ma, 2012; Chen et al., 2019b), which is a composition of the formation problem, where a group of agents are required to maintain a given formation, and the containment problem, where the purpose is to guarantee that the agents move into a given region. To achieve the so-called formation-containment, the agents of the network are split into two groups, one is required to achieve a relative formation and the other is required to move into the region formed by the first one. With this strategy, it is possible to generalize some other approaches of cooperative control, in the sense that some problems can be solved as a particular case of the formation-containment. To make this more clear, consider for example the case where all agents are required to perform a formation described by a single point and no agent is required to move "into" this region. In this scenario, the behavior of the multi-agent system is analogous to the leaderless consensus. Now consider the case in which the group that is required to achieve a relative formation is reduced to a single agent, that is just one leader, and there are agents in the group of followers. The relative formation would be "completed" from the beginning (as it is made by only one leader), and, as the followers are required to move into the given formation, they will synchronize with the leader. This gives an identical behavior as the leader following problem.

Henceforth, the group of agents required to achieve the relative formation will be called *leaders*, and will be indexed in the set $\mathcal{V}_L = \{1, \ldots, N\}$, and the agents required to move into this formation will be called *followers*, indexed in $\mathcal{V}_F = \{N + 1, \ldots, M\}$. Because the overall network behavior can be seen as a composition of two other behaviors, even though they happen simultaneously, we will address each one separately. The formal definition of the leaders convergence is given as,

Definition 3.1. The leaders formation with a desired constant configuration is achieved if the leaders states converge asymptotically to a constant relative configuration, that is,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} ||\boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{q}_j(t) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}|| = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} ||\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i(t)|| = 0, \quad \forall i, j \in \mathcal{V}_L,$$
(3.4)

in which the variable $\mathbf{q}_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ represents the generalized coordinates of the *i*th Euler-Lagrange system, the constant vector $\boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ denotes the desired relative configuration on the generalized coordinates, and \mathcal{V}_L represents the leaders set.

It is assumed that the formation-containment is achieved if the followers states converge to the convex hull spanned by the leaders states. Specifically, a convex hull is defined as, **Definition 3.2.** The convex hull of a finite set of points $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is denoted by,

$$\operatorname{Co}(X) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} x_{i} : x_{i} \in X, \quad \forall \alpha_{i} \ge 0, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} = 1 \right\},$$

where $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$.

With this characterization, the formal definition of the followers convergence is stated as,

Definition 3.3. The followers containment into the leaders formation is achieved if the followers states converge asymptotically into the convex hull spanned by the leaders, that is, there exist constant values α_{ij} such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left\| \boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_{ij} \boldsymbol{q}_j(t) \right\| = 0, \quad \alpha_{ij} \ge 0, \quad \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_{ij} = 1 \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_F, \quad \forall j \in \mathcal{V}_L, \tag{3.5}$$

in which the variable $q_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ represents the generalized coordinates of the *i*th Euler-Lagrange system, \mathcal{V}_F represents the followers set and \mathcal{V}_L represents the leaders set.

Therefore, the problem of formation-containment is said to be solved when the convergence of leaders and followers occur simultaneously, that is,

Definition 3.4. The distributed saturated input control, sat (u_i) for all $i \in \{1, \dots, M\}$, is said to solve the formation-containment problem of the networked Euler-Lagrange system (3.1), if all leaders converge asymptotically to the desired formation and, simultaneously, all followers move into the convex hull spanned by the configuration of leaders, that is, the limits (3.3), (3.4), and (3.5) hold simultaneously.

Next, it is shown explicitly how the interactions among leaders and followers is assumed to happen.

3.1.2 Communication Topology on the Formation-Containment

The network communication topology on the formation-containment problem is represented by a graph $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$. According to the sets of leaders and followers, the adjacency matrix of the multi-agent system can be partitioned into the block lower triangular form

$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}_L & 0\\ \mathcal{A}_{LF} & \mathcal{A}_F \end{bmatrix}$$

in which $\mathcal{A}_L \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ denotes the communication topology among leaders, $\mathcal{A}_F \in \mathbb{R}^{M-N \times M-N}$ denotes the communication topology among followers, and $\mathcal{A}_{LF} \in \mathbb{R}^{M-N \times N}$ denotes the topology of information flow from leaders to followers. Recall, from the definition of the degree matrix in Section 2.1.4 that the elements of the degree matrix are given by $d_{ii} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}$. Hence, as a result of the structure of \mathcal{A} above, the information flow from leaders to followers is reflected into the degree matrix of the followers, and consequently, into the Laplacian matrix of the followers L_F . Moreover, it is assumed that the Laplacian matrix associated to the leaders communication topology L_L and to the followers L_F , are both symmetric. This means, accordingly to the definition of the Laplacian matrix on Section 2.1.4, that the communication topology among agents of the same group (leaders or followers) is undirected. Besides, because leaders do not receive any information from followers and only some followers receive information from leaders, the matrix L_{LF} is non-symmetric.

To ensure the convergence the following assumptions are necessary:

Assumption 3.1. The graphs \mathcal{G} and the subgraph \mathcal{G}_L associated with the communication topology of the network and of the leaders, respectively, have a directed spanning tree.

Assumption 3.2. There exists a path from at least one leader to each follower.

The following lemma is used to derive the main results on the containment of followers:

Lemma 3.1 (Mei, Ren, and Ma (2012)). Under the Assumptions 3.1 and 3.2, the matrix L_F^{-1} is positive definite and, additionally, each entry of the matrix $-L_F^{-1}L_{LF}$ is non-negative and each row of $-L_F^{-1}L_{LF}$ has sum equal to one.

In fact, Assumption 3.2 is a consequence of Assumption 3.1–if Assumption 3.2 is not met, then \mathcal{G} will have no spanning tree. Also, the result in Lemma 3.1 follows from the fact that a spanning tree in \mathcal{G} is equivalent to the Laplacian matrix L having a single zero eigenvalue and all other eigenvalues with positive real part (Ren and Beard, 2008). Because the communication among leaders happens only among them and \mathcal{G}_L is required to have a spanning tree, the single zero eigenvalue is related to L_L .

3.1.3 Communication Channels Subject to Delay

On the study of nonlinear cooperative control, one of the problems that we are concerned with is how a delayed information exchanged by the nodes affects the network convergence, different from the problem of input delay which was studied in Chapter 2. The objective is to represent time-delays in the network itself. More specifically, the time spent between sending and receiving information might prevent a multi-agent system to behave in a desired way. We aim to be able to assert for which delays values the convergence is guaranteed. When analysing this aspect we assume that each agent access its own states instantaneously, without input delay. Thus, the study is carried under the following assumption:

Assumption 3.3. Each agent has access to its neighbors states subject to communication delay, but it access its own states instantaneously. Moreover, the time-delay derivative $\dot{\tau}_{ji}(t)$ is bounded for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_L \cup \mathcal{V}_F$, that is, there exists some unknown positive scalar $\hat{\tau}$ such that $|\dot{\tau}_{ji}(t)| \leq \hat{\tau}$.

3.1.4 Saturation on the Formation-Containment

When considering saturation limits on Euler-Lagrange systems it is imperative to assume a compatibility between the saturation limits, $u_{\max i}$, and the steady-state generalized forces. This assumption has been made in works on similar scenarios (Morabito, Teel, and Zaccarian, 2004; Hashemzadeh, Hassanzadeh, and Tavakoli, 2013), and is formalized on the following assumption:

Assumption 3.4. Given the gravitational vector $g(q_i)$ of the Euler-Lagrange agents (3.1) and the saturation limits $u_{max i}$, for i = 1, ..., M, the following inequality always holds:

$$\sup_{\boldsymbol{q}_i \in \mathbb{R}^m} \|\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{q}_i)\|_{\infty} < u_{max\,i}, \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, M\}.$$

Note that Assumption 3.4 is necessary for the systems to be stabilized under saturated inputs in some configurations. To make this clear, note from equation (3.1) that for $\ddot{q}_i = \dot{q}_i = 0$ the input is required to fully compensate the gravitational effects. Hence, Assumption 3.4 requires that the saturation limit is large enough so the input can stabilize the agents at any configuration.

3.2 Leaders Distributed Formation Control

The role of leaders on the formation control is, in a precise description, to establish the region in which the followers are required to stay. This kind of task can be employed, for example, when some systems have more sensing capabilities and could assist a subset of systems, the followers, to move in the environment. In this work, this region is characterized by the convex hull defined by the leaders' configuration, and the relative configuration among leaders can be adjusted by changing a control parameter.

In order to the leaders modeled by the Euler-Lagrange equation subject to input saturation,

$$M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i)\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i)\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + \boldsymbol{g}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) = \operatorname{sat}(\boldsymbol{u}_i),$$

to attain the desired constant formation in a distributed fashion, inspired by Li et al. (2018) we propose the following distributed dynamic controller, constituted by the dynamic part

$$D_{i}\ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(t) = k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}\Big) - k_{3i}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(t), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{L}, \quad (3.6)$$

and algebraic portion, that provides the *i*th leader input as

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{i} = -k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}(t)) - k_{4i}\sigma(\beta_{2i}\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}(t)) + \boldsymbol{g}_{i}(\boldsymbol{q}_{i}), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{L},$$

$$(3.7)$$

where $\mathcal{V}_L = \{1, \ldots, N\}$ is the index set of leaders, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i = \boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t)$ is the coupling between the *i*th agent and its dynamic controller, the desired relative configuration is represented by the constant $\boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}^m$, the state of the *i*th dynamic controller is represented by $\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$, the matrix $D_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ is constant and positive definite, $k_{1i}, k_{2i}, k_{3i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}$, and β_{2i} are positive constants. To account for the input saturation the control is designed based on a continuous function $\sigma(\cdot) : \mathbb{R} \to (-1, 1)$ which is applied element-wise and satisfies the following properties:

- $\lim_{x \to -\infty} \sigma(x) = -1;$
- $\lim_{x\to\infty} \sigma(x) = 1;$

-
$$\sigma(0) = 0;$$

- $\sigma(\cdot)$ is a strictly increasing function,



FIGURE 3.1: Representation of the proposed dynamic controller in (3.6) as proxies for communication among agents.

- its time-derivative with respect to its argument is bounded.

An example of such a function is the hyperbolic tangent. Note that the input (3.7) is bounded by $k_{1i} + k_{4i} + ||\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{q}_i)||_{\infty}$, and the gains can be adjusted in order to fulfill the actuators limit, i.e., satisfying the saturation constraint. Moreover, the input (3.7) is chosen in such a way to synchronize the agent and its controller, while adding a damping on the agent's dynamics.

With this approach, the networked system is coupled by the dynamic controllers of each agent, such that the controllers of neighbors exchange information with each other. The dynamic controller can be seen as a proxy for the interaction among agents, Figure 3.1 illustrates a scheme with four agents, in which the dynamic controllers in the boxes are given in (3.6), and the time dependency of delays $\tau_{ji}(t)$ is not shown. Thus, the communication delay of the network is represented in (3.6) by the delayed neighbor state of the controller $\eta_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t))$, where the variable $\tau_{ji}(t)$ represents a time-varying delay which is assumed to be bounded by a known positive constant $|\tau_{ji}(t)| \leq \bar{\tau}_j$, and have the first derivative $\dot{\tau}_{ji}$ bounded by an unkown value.

Remark 3.1. Note that the local dynamic controller (3.6) can be seen as a second-order linear system with an aggregated input $u_{ci}(t)$, as

$$D_i \ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(t) + k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(t) = \boldsymbol{u}_{ci}(t). \tag{3.8}$$

It is a well known result from the literature that the above system is input to state stable (Khalil, 2002) for appropriate choices of D_i and k_{3i} . That is, the system has a globally asymptotically stable equilibrium point in absence of external input, $u_{ci}(t) = 0$, and for bounded inputs the states of the system remain bounded.

In the next lemma, it is proposed a sufficient condition for the leaders to reach the desired static formation, with undirect communication topology between leaders.

Lemma 3.2. The N leaders modeled by Euler-Lagrange equation (3.1), with dynamic controller (3.6), bounded input (3.7), and time-varying communication delays with bounded first derivative, reach asymptotically the static relative configuration,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} ||\boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{q}_j(t) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}|| = 0, \lim_{t \to \infty} ||\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i(t)|| = 0,$$

for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_L$, if for given positive constants $\bar{\tau}_i$, k_{2i} , and k_{3i} , there exist positive definite matrices $P_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ for $i = 1, \dots, N$, such that the following linear matrix inequality holds,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Xi_1 & \Xi_2 \\ * & \Xi_3 \end{bmatrix} < 0, \tag{3.9}$$

with

$$\Xi_1 = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ -2k_{31}I + l_{11}\bar{\tau}_1 P_1, \quad -2k_{32}I + l_{22}\bar{\tau}_2 P_2, \quad \cdots, \quad -2k_{3N}I + l_{NN}\bar{\tau}_N P_N \right\}, \quad (3.10)$$

$$\Xi_{2} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \Xi_{21}, \quad \Xi_{22}, \quad \cdots, \quad \Xi_{2N} \right\}, \tag{3.11}$$
$$\Xi_{2k} = \left[\underbrace{-k_{2k}I \quad -k_{2k}I \quad \cdots \quad -k_{2k}I}_{l_{kk} \ times} \right],$$
$$\Xi_{3} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \Xi_{31}, \quad \Xi_{32}, \quad \cdots, \quad \Xi_{3N} \right\}, \tag{3.12}$$

the terms Ξ_{3k} are arranged considering the network topology, according to the following algorithm,

```
Structure of \Xi_{3k}

\Xi_{3k} \leftarrow []

for j = 1, ..., N:

if a_{kj} \neq 0:

\Xi_{3k} \leftarrow \operatorname{diag} \left( \Xi_{3k}, \left[ -P_j / \bar{\tau}_j \right] \right)

end
```

The term $\bar{\tau}_i$ denotes the upper bound on the time-varying delays associated with the *i*th agent, [] is an empty matrix (i.e., the only linear map is [] : $\{0\} \rightarrow \{0\}$), and l_{ii} is the *i*th diagonal element of the degree matrix.

Proof. The proof consists of two main parts, firstly it is shown conditions that guarantee bounds on the states of the dynamic controllers and Euler-Lagrange systems. Secondly, it is shown that if these conditions are satisfied, then the states of each dynamic controller asymptotically synchronizes over the network and the states of each system also synchronize with its associated dynamic controller, leading to the desired convergence on the target formation.

Consider the following Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate,

$$V_L = V_1 + V_2 + V_3,$$

with

$$\begin{split} V_1 &= \sum_{i=1}^N \left\{ \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' D_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i + \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' M_i(q_i) \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i \right\}, \\ V_2 &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij} k_{2i} (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij})' (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^N \int_0^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i} k_{1i} \sigma(\beta_{1i} \varepsilon) d\varepsilon, \\ V_3 &= \sum_{i=1}^N \left\{ l_{ii} \int_{-\bar{\tau}_i}^0 \int_{t+\theta}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(\varepsilon)' P_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon d\theta \right\}. \end{split}$$

The positivity of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional is immediate. Next we derive the conditions for the negativity of the functional derivative. The time-derivative of V_1 along the trajectory of the system (3.1) and its controller (3.6) is given by,

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{1} &= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ 2\dot{q}_{i}'M_{i}(q_{i})\ddot{q}_{i} + \dot{q}_{i}'\dot{M}_{i}(q_{i})\dot{q}_{i} + 2\dot{\eta}_{i}'D_{i}\ddot{\eta}_{i} \right\} \\ &= 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \dot{q}_{i}'M_{i}(q_{i}) \left\{ M_{i}(q_{i})^{-1} \left(-C(q_{i},\dot{q}_{i})\dot{q}_{i} - k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{q}_{i}) - k_{4i}\sigma(\beta_{2i}\dot{q}_{i}) \right) \right\} \\ &+ 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \dot{\eta}_{i}'D_{i} \left\{ D_{i}^{-1} \left(k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{q}_{i}) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \left(\eta_{i}(t) - \eta_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) - \delta_{ij} \right) \right. \\ &- k_{3i}\dot{\eta}_{i} \right) \right\} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \dot{q}_{i}'\dot{M}_{i}(q_{i})\dot{q}_{i} \\ &= 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ -k_{1i}\dot{q}_{i}'\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{q}_{i}) - k_{4i}\dot{q}_{i}'\sigma(\beta_{2i}\dot{q}_{i}) + k_{1i}\dot{\eta}_{i}'\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{q}_{i}) - k_{3i}\dot{\eta}_{i}'\dot{\eta}_{i} \\ &- k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij}\dot{\eta}_{i}' \left(\eta_{i}(t) - \eta_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) - \delta_{ij} \right) \right\} \\ &= 2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ -k_{1i}\ddot{q}_{i}'\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{q}_{i}) - k_{4i}\dot{q}_{i}'\sigma(\beta_{2i}\dot{q}_{i}) - k_{3i}\dot{\eta}_{i}'\dot{\eta}_{i} \\ &- k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij}\dot{\eta}_{i}' \left(\eta_{i}(t) - \eta_{j}(t) - \delta_{ij} \right) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij}\dot{\eta}_{i}' \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\eta}_{j}(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon \right) \right\}, \tag{3.13}$$

where we have used the Property 1 in Section 3.1.1 (i.e., the matrix $\dot{M}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) - 2C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i)$ is skew-symmetric), the fact that the inertia matrices are positive-definite, and the fact that the

delayed term can be written as,

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) = \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t) - \int_{t - \tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon.$$
(3.14)

Taking the time-derivative of V_2 gives us,

$$\dot{V}_2 = \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij} k_{2i} (\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i - \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j)' (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^N k_{1i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' \sigma(\beta_{1i} \boldsymbol{\tilde{q}}_i).$$

Recall that the communication among leaders is considered undirected, which imply symmetry on the block Laplacian matrix L_L . Hence, if there exists $\dot{\eta}'_i \eta_j$ with $a_{ij} \neq 0$, then there also exists $\dot{\eta}'_j \eta_i$ with $a_{ij} \neq 0$. Thus, we can write

$$\dot{V}_2 = 2\sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij} k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}) + 2\sum_{i=1}^N k_{1i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\tilde{q}}}_i' \sigma(\beta_{1i} \boldsymbol{\tilde{q}}_i).$$
(3.15)

The derivative of V_3 is given by,

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{3} &= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ l_{ii} \bar{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}' P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} - l_{ii} \int_{t-\bar{\tau}_{i}}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(\varepsilon)' P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ l_{ii} \bar{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}' P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}'(\varepsilon) P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\}, \end{split}$$

and using the symmetry of undirected graphs and applying Lemma A.3 on the integral term yields

$$\dot{V}_{3} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ l_{ii} \bar{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}' P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \frac{1}{\bar{\tau}_{j}} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon P_{j} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\}.$$
(3.16)

Thus, the time-derivative of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii candidate is given by,

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{L} \leq &-2\sum_{i=1}^{N} k_{4i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}^{\prime} \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ -2k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} + l_{ii} \tilde{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} \right. \\ &\left. -\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \frac{1}{\tilde{\tau}_{j}} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)^{\prime} d\varepsilon P_{j} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon - 2k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\} \\ = &-2\sum_{i=1}^{N} k_{4i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}^{\prime} \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) + \mathbf{Y}(t)^{\prime} \Xi \mathbf{Y}(t), \end{split}$$

where the vector Y(t) is arranged according the following algorithm:

Algorithm 1 Structure of
$$Y(t)$$
 (3.17)

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{Y}(t) &\leftarrow \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_1' \cdots \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_N' \end{bmatrix}' \\ \mathbf{for} \ i &= 1, \dots, N : \\ \mathbf{for} \ j &= 1, \dots, N : \\ \mathbf{if} \ a_{ij} &\neq 0 : \\ \mathbf{Y}(t) &\leftarrow \left(\mathbf{Y}(t) | \left[\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right]' \right) \end{split}$$
end

In which the operation (a|b), with vectors $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^n$, denotes the row-wise concatenation $\begin{bmatrix} a' & b' \end{bmatrix}' \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$.

Hence,

$$\mathbf{Y}(t)' = \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_1' \cdots \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_N' & \int_{t-\tau_{21}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_2(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \cdots \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \cdots \int_{t-\tau_{(N-1)N}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{(N-1)}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \end{bmatrix},$$

where the terms on $\int_{t-\tau_{ii}(t)}^{t} \dot{\eta}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon$ are defined only if $(v_{i}, v_{j}) \in \mathcal{E}$, and

$$\Xi = \begin{bmatrix} \Xi_1 & \Xi_2 \\ * & \Xi_3 \end{bmatrix},$$

where Ξ_1 , Ξ_2 , and Ξ_3 are defined in (3.10), (3.11), and (3.12).

Therefore, if the conditions in our statement hold we have $V_L > 0$ and $\dot{V}_L < 0$ for non-zero variables $\dot{\eta}_i$, $\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon$, and \dot{q}_i . However, the function \dot{V}_L might be zero for non-zero variables η_i and \tilde{q}_i , in which V_L is defined, thus the Lyapunov's direct method is applied to attest asymptotic convergence. Nevertheless, it follows that V_L is bounded and consequently \dot{q}_i , $\dot{\eta}_i$, $\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_i(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon$ are also bounded. According to leaders and controllers dynamics, (3.1) and (3.6), Properties 2, 3, and Assumption 3.4, we have that \ddot{q}_i and $\ddot{\eta}_i$ are also bounded, with the assumption of boundedness of $\dot{\tau}_{ji}$, we get that \ddot{V}_L is bounded. Thus, \dot{V}_L is uniformly continuous and, invoking Barbalat's lemma, we conclude that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{V}_L = 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\eta}_i(t) = 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_i(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon = 0$, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{q}_i(t) = 0$.

Henceforth, we want to show the synchronization of the controllers over the network and the convergence of the leaders to constant relative configurations. To this end we show that: i) the leaders acceleration $\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i$ goes to zero, which implies that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i = 0$, and ii) the controller acceleration $\ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i$ also goes to zero. Therefore, from (3.6) we have $\lim_{t\to\infty} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij} \right) = 0.$

In order to show that the acceleration \ddot{q}_i asymptotically converges to zero, note that its time-derivative is given by

$$\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i = -M_i^{-1}(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \Big[\dot{C}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) \ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i - \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_i \Big] - \dot{M}_i^{-1}(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \Big[C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) \ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i - \boldsymbol{u}_i \Big],$$

and recalling Properties 1-3, the boundedness of $\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i$ and $\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i$, the previous equation suggests that $\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i$ is bounded for bounded \dot{M}_i^{-1} and $\dot{C}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i)\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i$, which is a realistic assumption for Euler-Lagrange systems with prismatic and revolute joints (Ghorbel, Srinivasan, and Spong, 1998;

Mulero-Martínez, 2007; Nuño, Basañez, and Ortega, 2009). Hence, the Barbalat's lemma is used once again to show that that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \ddot{q}_i(t) = 0$, and finally, from the leaders dynamics we conclude that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{q}_i(t) = 0$.

We have that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i(t) = 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(t) = 0$. Therefore, with similar arguments used to show the convergence of $\ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i(t)$, we also get that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(t) = 0$. Thus, from the controller (3.6), we obtain that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij} \right) = 0$. Hence,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} ||\boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{q}_j(t) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}|| = 0$$

which completes the proof.

The previous result presents an LMI test for the convergence of multiple Euler-Lagrange systems into a constant relative configuration. The proposed condition is designed taking into account bounded inputs and communication delays on the multi-agent system and it establishes a relationship between some controller parameters and the upper bounds of the communication delays. Specifically, from the controller parameters $k_{1i}, k_{2i}, k_{3i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}, \beta_{2i}$, only k_{2i} and k_{3i} have to be adjusted in such a way that the conditions in Lemma 3.2 are satisfied and they are not directly associated with the input bounds. That is to say, the remainder parameters have no influence on the given convergence conditions as long as they are positive and k_{1i} and k_{4i} are chosen such that the actuators limits are satisfied. Furthermore, the proposed LMI condition is independent of the model of each agent in the sense that it does not depend on the inertia nor Coriolis matrices of the agents, it depends only on the number of degrees of freedom of each system, which can be used for analysis of heterogeneous multi-agent systems.

3.2.1 Numerical Examples

This section shows an example to illustrate the use of Lemma 3.2, which is a particular case of the problem under analysis. The motivation is to compare the proposed result with the specific research line that study this case, particularly the result is compared with a partial result in Nuño and Ortega (2018).

Example 3.1. For comparison of the conditions on the communication delay we consider the problem studied by Nuño and Ortega (2018), which is a particular case of the results presented here, namely, the leaderless consensus without input-saturation, that is, the set of followers is empty and the leaders must converge to the same point. We consider a team of four manipulators with two degrees of freedom, in which the inertia and Coriolis matrices are given by

$$M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) = \begin{bmatrix} h_{1i} + 2h_{2i}c_{2i} & h_{3i} + h_{2i}c_{2i} \\ h_{3i} + h_{2i}c_{2i} & h_{3i} \end{bmatrix}, \quad C_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i, \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) = h_{2i} \begin{bmatrix} -s_{2i}\dot{q}_{2i} & -s_{2i}(\dot{q}_{1i} + \dot{q}_{2i}) \\ s_{2i}\dot{q}_{1i} & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and the gravity vector,

$$\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{q}_i) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{g}{l_{2i}} h_{3i} c_{12i} + \frac{g}{l_{1i}} (h_{1i} - h_{3i}) c_{1i} \\ \frac{g}{l_{2i}} h_{3i} c_{12i} \end{bmatrix},$$

where $h_{1i} = l_{2i}^2 m_{2i} + l_{1i}^2 (m_{1i} + m_{2i})$, $h_{2i} = l_{1i} l_{2i} m_{2i}$, and $h_{3i} = l_{2i}^2 m_{2i}$. We used the short notation, c_{2i} , s_{2i} , and c_{12i} , for $\cos(q_{2i})$, $\sin(q_{2i})$, and $\cos(q_{1i} + q_{2i})$, respectively. The joint position of the kth link of the manipulator *i* is represented by q_{ki} . The variables l_{ki} , and m_{ki} are the respective length and mass of each link. The communication topology of the network is represented on Figure 3.2, which results in the following Laplacian matrix,



FIGURE 3.2: Example 3.1–Graph representation of the agents interaction.

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 3 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 2 & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & -1 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$$

We compute the maximum upper bound for delays with parameters $k_{2i} = 5$, $k_{3i} = 12$ and for $k_{2i} = 1.5$, $k_{3i} = 6.5$ for all agents. Note from the conditions in Lemma 3.2 that only elements of the Laplacian matrix, the gains k_{2i} , k_{3i} , and the bounds of delays are necessary to attest the convergence. No physical information related to the dynamics of the agents is needed, besides the fact that they are Euler-Lagrange systems and their degrees of freedom. Thus, using the conditions in Lemma 3.2 and the Proposition 1 of Nuño and Ortega (2018) we find the values shown on Table 3.1.

TABLE 3.1: Example 3.1–Maximum bounds for the communication delays.

$\left(k_{2i},k_{3i} ight)$	(5, 12)	(1.5, 6.5)
(Nuño and Ortega, 2018)		
$ar{ au}_1$	1.00	1.71
$ar{ au}_2$	0.59	0.90
$ar{ au}_3$	1.00	1.71
$ar au_4$	0.59	0.90
Lemma 3.2		
$ar{ au}_1$	1.19	2.16
$ar{ au}_2$	0.79	1.44
$ar{ au}_3$	1.19	2.16
$ar{ au}_4$	0.79	1.44

It is shown that Lemma 3.2 guarantees convergence for biggest delays bounds in the communication. Moreover, the conditions proposed here are appropriated for multi-agent systems with input-saturation and can be used in formation-containment problems. In this sense, the results presented here are more general and might be applied to a larger class of systems.

3.3 The Followers Distributed Containment Control

In this section it is proposed a dynamic controller that ensures the convergence of all followers into the convex hull spanned by the leaders.

The distributed dynamic controller for the followers is designed as,

$$D_{i}\ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} = k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{M} a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t))\Big) - k_{3i}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}, \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{F},$$
(3.18)

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{i} = -k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{4i}\sigma(\beta_{2i}\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) + \boldsymbol{g}_{i}(\boldsymbol{q}_{i}), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{F},$$
(3.19)

where $\mathcal{V}_F = \{N + 1, \dots, M\}$ is the index set of followers, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i = \boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t)$ for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_F$. Note that the main difference between the dynamic controller for leaders and followers is the presence of the relative desired configuration δ_{ij} and that some leaders belong to the neighborhood of followers, which is represented in (3.18) by the sum over the leaders and followers set, \mathcal{V}_L and \mathcal{V}_F . It is important to stress that this feature leads to a directed communication topology, since it is assumed that no leader receives information from followers. On the next lemma we show that the chosen input for the controllers is bounded and, therefore, under Remark 3.1 (input-state stability) the states of the dynamic controller are bounded.

Lemma 3.3. The states of distributed dynamic controller (3.8) with input

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{ci}(t) = k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^M a_{ij}\Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t))\Big), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_F,$$
(3.20)

are bounded, and in addition $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i = 0$ and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon = 0$ for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_F$, if there are matrices $P_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ and constants $\bar{\tau}_i$, k_{2i} , and k_{3i} for $i \in \{N+1, \cdots, M\}$, such that the following linear matrix inequality holds,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\Xi}_1 & \hat{\Xi}_2 \\ * & \hat{\Xi}_3 \end{bmatrix} < 0$$

with

$$\hat{\Xi}_{1} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ -2k_{3N+1}I + l_{N+1,N+1}^{F} \bar{\tau}_{N+1} P_{N+1}, -2k_{3N+2}I + l_{N+2,N+2}^{F} \bar{\tau}_{N+2} P_{N+2}, \cdots , -2k_{3M}I + l_{M,M}^{F} \bar{\tau}_{M} P_{M} \right\},$$

(3.21)

$$\hat{\Xi}_2 = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \hat{\Xi}_{2N+1}, \quad \hat{\Xi}_{2N+2}, \quad \cdots, \quad \hat{\Xi}_{2M} \right\},$$
(3.22)

$$\hat{\Xi}_{2k} = \left[\underbrace{-k_{2k}I - k_{2k}I \cdots -k_{2k}I}_{l_{kk}^{F} \ times} \right],$$

$$\hat{\Xi}_{3} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \hat{\Xi}_{3(N+1)}, \quad \hat{\Xi}_{3(N+2)}, \quad \cdots, \quad \hat{\Xi}_{3M} \right\}, \qquad (3.23)$$

the terms $\hat{\Xi}_{3k}$ are arranged considering the network topology, according the following algorithm,

$$\begin{array}{l} \hline Structure \ of \ \hat{\Xi}_{3k} \\ \hat{\Xi}_{3k} \leftarrow [] \\ \textbf{for} \ j = N + 1, \dots, M: \\ \quad \textbf{if} \ a_{kj} \neq 0: \\ \quad \hat{\Xi}_{3k} \leftarrow \operatorname{diag} \left(\hat{\Xi}_{3k}, \left[-P_j / \bar{\tau}_j \right] \right) \\ \textbf{end} \end{array}$$

The variable $\bar{\tau}_i$ denotes the upper bound on the time-varying delays associated with the *i*th agent, [] is an empty matrix (i.e., the only linear map is [] : $\{0\} \rightarrow \{0\}$), and $l_{ii}^F = \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij}$ is the number of neighbors of the *i*th follower that are also followers.

Proof. Let the input of the dynamic controller (3.8) be given by (3.20), setting apart the sum over the followers and leaders the input can be written as,

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{u}_{ci}(t) = & k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \Big) \\ & -k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \Big) \\ = & k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \Big) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij}\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) \\ & + k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij}\boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)). \end{aligned}$$

We have that $k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_1)$ is bounded and from Lemma 3.2 we get that $\boldsymbol{\eta}_j$, for all $j \in \mathcal{V}_L$, is also bounded. Thus, given that the dynamic controller is input to state stable (Remark 3.1) and the sum of bounded functions is bounded, we now show that the controller's states remain bounded for

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}_{ci}(t) = -k_{2i} \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \Big) - k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t).$$
(3.24)

Consider the following Lyapunov functional candidate,

 $W = W_1 + W_2,$

with

$$\begin{split} W_1 &= \sum_{i=N+1}^M \left\{ \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' D_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i + k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^N a_{ij} \boldsymbol{\eta}_i' \boldsymbol{\eta}_i + \frac{k_{2i}}{2} \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j)' (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j) \right\}, \\ W_2 &= \sum_{i=N+1}^M \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \left\{ \int_{-\bar{\tau}_i}^0 \int_{t+\theta}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(\varepsilon)' P_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon d\theta \right\}. \end{split}$$

The time-derivative of W_1 along the trajectories of the controller (3.8) with input (3.24) is given by

$$\begin{split} \dot{W}_{1} &= \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \left\{ 2 \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \left(-k_{2i} \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \right) - k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(t) \right) \\ &+ 2k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \boldsymbol{\eta}_{i} + 2k_{2i} \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i} - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}) \right\}, \end{split}$$

rewriting the delayed term as in (3.14), and using the symmetry of the Laplacian matrix provided by the undirect communication topology among agents of the same group yields,

$$\dot{W}_1 = \sum_{i=N+1}^M \left\{ -2k_{2i}\dot{\eta}'_i \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_j(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon - 2\dot{\eta}'_i k_{3i}\dot{\eta}_i(t) \right\}.$$

Taking the time-derivative of W_2 and using the same arguments used on the development of equation (3.16),

$$\dot{W}_2 \leq \sum_{i=N+1}^M \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \left\{ \bar{\tau}_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' P_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i - \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon)' P_j \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\},\$$

then applying Lemma A.3 give us,

$$\dot{W}_2 \leq \sum_{i=N+1}^M \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \left\{ \bar{\tau}_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' P_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i - \frac{1}{\bar{\tau}_j} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon P_j \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\}.$$

Finally, adding \dot{W}_1 and \dot{W}_2 ,

$$\begin{split} \dot{W} &\leq \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \left\{ -2\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(t) + l_{ii}^{F} \bar{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} - 2k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \\ &- \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \frac{1}{\bar{\tau}_{j}} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)^{\prime} d\varepsilon P_{j} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right\} \\ &= \hat{Y}(t)^{\prime} \hat{\Xi} \hat{Y}(t), \end{split}$$

where the vector $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}(t)$ is built following the Algorithm 3.17, for $i = N + 1, \dots, M$ and $j = N + 1, \dots, M$. Hence,

$$\hat{\mathbf{Y}}(t)' = \left[\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{N+1}' \cdots \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{M}' \int_{t-\tau_{(N+2)(N+1)}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{N+2}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \cdots \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \cdots \right. \\ \left. \cdots \int_{t-\tau_{(M-1)M}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{(M-1)}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \right],$$

where the terms on $\int_{t-\tau_{ii}(t)}^{t} \dot{\eta}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon$ are defined only if $(v_{i}, v_{j}) \in \mathcal{E}$, and

$$\hat{\Xi} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\Xi}_1 & \hat{\Xi}_2 \\ * & \hat{\Xi}_3 \end{bmatrix},$$

where $\hat{\Xi}_1$, $\hat{\Xi}_2$, and $\hat{\Xi}_3$ are defined in (3.21), (3.22), and (3.23). Therefore, with appropriated choices of k_{2i} , k_{3i} , and D_i , the proposed condition is satisfied and the time derivative of W is negative, and consequently W is bounded and, from its definition, we have that η_i , $\dot{\eta}_i$, and $\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_j(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon$ are bounded for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_F$. In addition, note that the time-derivative of \dot{W} also depend on $\ddot{\eta}_i$ and $\dot{\tau}_i$, thus from the controller dynamics (3.18) and the assumption of bounded $\dot{\tau}_i$ we have that \dot{W} is uniformly continuous. Finally, by invoking Barbalat's lemma we conclude that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{W} = 0$, and as a result $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\eta}_i = 0$, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_j(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon = 0$ for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_F$.

The following lemma presents sufficient conditions that ensures the convergence of the followers into the convex hull formed by the leaders.

Lemma 3.4. Each of the M-N followers modeled by the Euler-Lagrange equation (3.1), with dynamic controller (3.18), bounded input (3.19), and time-varying communication delays with bounded first derivative, converges to the convex hull spanned by the leaders asymptotically, that is

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left\| \boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_{ij} \boldsymbol{q}_j(t) \right\| = 0, \quad \alpha_{ij} \ge 0, \quad \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_{ij} = 1, \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_F, \quad \forall j \in \mathcal{V}_L,$$

if for given constants $\bar{\tau}_i$, k_{2i} , and k_{3i} , there exist positive definite matrices $P_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ for $i = N + 1, \dots, M$, such that the following linear matrix inequality holds,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\Xi}_1 & \bar{\Xi}_2 \\ * & \bar{\Xi}_3 \end{bmatrix} < 0, \tag{3.25}$$

with

$$\bar{\Xi}_{1} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ -2k_{3N+1}I + l_{N+1,N+1}^{F}\bar{\tau}_{N+1}P_{N+1}, -2k_{3N+2}I + l_{N+2,N+2}^{F}\bar{\tau}_{N+2}P_{N+2}, \cdots \\ \cdots - 2k_{3M}I + l_{MM}^{F}\bar{\tau}_{M}P_{M} \right\},$$

$$(3.26)$$

$$\bar{\Xi}_2 = \operatorname{diag}\left\{\bar{\Xi}_{2N+1}, \ \bar{\Xi}_{2N+2}, \ \cdots, \ \bar{\Xi}_{2M}\right\},$$
(3.27)

$$\bar{\Xi}_{2k} = \begin{bmatrix} -k_{2k}I & -k_{2k}I & \cdots & -k_{2k}I \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\bar{\Xi}_{3} = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \bar{\Xi}_{3(N+1)}, \quad \bar{\Xi}_{3(N+2)}, \quad \cdots, \quad \bar{\Xi}_{3M} \right\}, \qquad (3.28)$$

the terms $\bar{\Xi}_{3k}$ are arranged considering the network topology, according the following algorithm,

Structure of $\bar{\Xi}_{3k}$ $\bar{\Xi}_{3k} \leftarrow []$ for j = N + 1, ..., M: $if a_{kj} \neq 0$: $\bar{\Xi}_{3k} \leftarrow \operatorname{diag} \left(\bar{\Xi}_{3k}, \left[-P_j / \bar{\tau}_j \right] \right)$ end

The term $\bar{\tau}_i$ denotes the upper bound on the time-varying delays associated with the *i*th agent, [] is an empty matrix (i.e., the only linear map is [] : {0} \rightarrow {0}), $l_{ii}^F = \sum_{N+1}^M a_{ij}$ is the number of neighbors of the *i*th follower that are also followers, and k_{2i} , k_{3i} are positive constants.

Proof. The proof follows a similar procedure as the proof of Lemma 3.2. Hence, for the sake of brevity some steps are not explicitly shown.

Consider the following Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate,

$$V_F = V_4 + V_5 + V_6,$$

with

$$\begin{split} V_4 &= \sum_{i=N+1}^M \left\{ \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' D_i \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i + \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i \right\}, \\ V_5 &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=N+1}^M \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} k_{2i} (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j)' (\boldsymbol{\eta}_i - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j) + 2 \sum_{i=N+1}^M \int_0^{\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i} k_{1i} \sigma(\beta_{1i} \varepsilon)' d\varepsilon, \\ V_6 &= \sum_{i=N+1}^M \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} \left\{ \int_{-\bar{\tau}_j}^0 \int_{t+\theta}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon)' P_j \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon d\theta \right\}. \end{split}$$

Following the same ideas in the proof of Lemma 3.2 to obtain (3.13), we have the timederivative of V_4 given by,

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_4 &= \sum_{i=N+1}^M \left\{ 2 \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' M_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \ddot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' \dot{M}_i(\boldsymbol{q}_i) \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i + 2 \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' D_i \ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i \right\} \\ &= 2 \sum_{i=N+1}^M \left\{ -k_{1i} \dot{\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}}_i' \sigma(\beta_{1i} \tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) - k_{4i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i) - k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i \right. \\ &\left. -k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^M a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t) \Big) - k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^M a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i' \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \Big) \right\}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the Property 1 and written the delayed term as (3.14). It is possible to isolate the communication from leaders and write,

$$\dot{V}_{4} = 2 \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \left\{ -k_{1i} \dot{\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}}_{i}^{\prime} \sigma(\beta_{1i} \tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{4i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}^{\prime} \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} \right. \\ \left. -k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon - k_{2i} \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right. \\ \left. -\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t) \right) - \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t) \right) \right\}.$$

Through the same reasoning used to obtain (3.15), the time-derivative of V_5 is given by,

$$\dot{V}_5 = \sum_{i=N+1}^M \left\{ \sum_{j=N+1}^M a_{ij} 2k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i'(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t)) + 2k_{1i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i' \sigma(\beta_{1i} \boldsymbol{\tilde{q}}_i) \right\},\$$

and similar to the manipulation in (3.16), the derivative of V_6 is given by applying Lemma A.3 and using the symmetry of the communication topology among followers,

$$\dot{V}_{6} \leq \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \bigg\{ \bar{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}' P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} - \frac{1}{\bar{\tau}_{j}} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon P_{j} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \bigg\}.$$

Therefore, the time-derivative of the Lyapunov-Krasovskii candidate is as the follow,

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{F} &\leq \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \left\{ -2k_{4i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}^{\prime} \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - 2\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \left(k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon + k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t) \right) \right) \right\} \\ &+ \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \left\{ -2k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} + l_{ii}^{F} \bar{\tau}_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} P_{i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} - \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij} \left(2k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{\bar{\tau}_{j}} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)^{\prime} d\varepsilon P_{j} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \right) \right\} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \left\{ -2k_{4i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}^{\prime} \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - 2\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \left(k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon + k_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t) \right) \right) \right\} \\ &+ \bar{Y}(t)^{\prime} \bar{\Xi} \bar{Y}(t), \end{split}$$

where the vector $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}(t)$ is built following the Algorithm 3.17, for $i = N + 1, \dots, M$ and $j = N + 1, \dots, M$. Hence,

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathbf{Y}}(t)' &= \left[\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{N+1}' \cdots \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{M}' \int_{t-\tau_{(N+2)(N+1)}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{N+2}'(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \cdots \\ & \cdots \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \cdots \int_{t-\tau_{(M-1)M}(t)}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{M-1}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \right], \end{split}$$

where the terms on $\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t} \dot{\eta}_{j}(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon$ are defined only if $(v_{i}, v_{j}) \in \mathcal{E}$, and

$$\bar{\Xi} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\Xi}_1 & \bar{\Xi}_2 \\ * & \bar{\Xi}_3 \end{bmatrix},$$

where $\bar{\Xi}_1$, $\bar{\Xi}_2$, and $\bar{\Xi}_3$ are defined in equations (3.26), (3.27), and (3.28).

Therefore, if the conditions of Lemma 3.4 hold we have¹

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{F} \leq &-2\sum_{i=N+1}^{M}\sum_{j=1}^{N}a_{ij}\bigg(k_{2i}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime}\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon + k_{2i}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime}\big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t)\big)\bigg)\\ \leq &\sum_{i=N+1}^{M}\sum_{j=1}^{N}a_{ij}k_{2i}\bigg(2\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}^{\prime}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} + \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)^{\prime}d\varepsilon\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^{t}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{j}(\varepsilon)d\varepsilon \\ &+ \big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t)\big)^{\prime}\big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t)\big)\bigg), \end{split}$$

and integrating both sides yields

$$V_F(t) - V_F(0) \leq \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} k_{2i} \int_0^t \left(2\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(\theta)' \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(\theta) + \int_{\theta - \tau_{ji}(\theta)}^{\theta} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon)' d\varepsilon \int_{\theta - \tau_{ji}(\theta)}^{\theta} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon + \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(\theta) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(\theta) \right)' \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(\theta) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(\theta) \right) \right) d\theta.$$

From Lemma 3.2 we have that, η_j , and $\int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon$ are bounded for all $j \in \mathcal{V}_L$, and from Lemma 3.3 (noticing that the conditions of the Lemma 3.4 encompass those from Lemma 3.3,) we have that η_i , $\dot{\eta}_i$, and $\int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_i(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon$ are bounded for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_F$. Thus, $V_F(t)$ is bounded and from its definition we obtain that \dot{q}_i and \tilde{q}_i are also bounded for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_F$. In order to show the boundedness of q_i note that

$$||\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_i(t)|| = ||\boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t)|| \le C,$$

for some constant $C \in \mathbb{R}$. As $\eta_i(t)$ is bounded, the above inequality implies that $q_i(t)$ is also bounded for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_F$.

Therefore, from the followers and their controller dynamics (3.1) and (3.18), Properties 2 and 3, and Assumptions 3.4 and 3.3, we get that \ddot{q}_i and $\ddot{\eta}_i$ are also bounded. Thus, we have that \dot{q}_i and $\dot{\eta}_i$ are uniformly continuous for all followers. Then, by invoking Barbalat's lemma

¹We used the inequality $-2a'b \leq a'Xa + b'X^{-1}b$ where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $X > 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$.

and the result in Lemma 3.3, we conclude that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_i(t) = 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \int_{t-\tau_{ji}(t)}^t \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon = 0$, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_i(t) = 0$ for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_F$.

Through the same reasoning of the proof of Lemma 3.2 we have that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \ddot{\eta}_i(t) = 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \ddot{q}_i(t) = 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{q}_i(t) = 0$. Lastly, considering that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^t \dot{\eta}_i(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon = 0$, the terms that take into account the interaction among agents can be rewritten in the following way,

$$\sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{M} a_{ij} k_{2i} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \Big) = \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{M} a_{ij} k_{2i} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t) + \int_{t-\tau_{ji}}^{t} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_j(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \Big)$$
$$= \sum_{i=N+1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{M} a_{ij} k_{2i} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_i(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_j(t) \Big)$$
$$= \Big((K_2 L_F) \otimes I_m \Big) \boldsymbol{\eta}_F + \Big((K_2 L_{LF}) \otimes I_m \Big) \boldsymbol{\eta}_L,$$

with $\boldsymbol{\eta}_F = \left[\boldsymbol{\eta}_{N+1}' \cdots \boldsymbol{\eta}_M'\right]'$, $\boldsymbol{\eta}_L = \left[\boldsymbol{\eta}_1' \cdots \boldsymbol{\eta}_N'\right]'$ and $K_2 = \text{diag}\{k_{2N+1}, \cdots, k_{2M}\}$. Note from Assumption 3.2 that L_F is positive definite, then we can pre-multiply the previous equation to obtain

$$\left((K_2 L_F) \otimes I_m \right)^{-1} \left(((K_2 L_F) \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{\eta}_F + ((K_2 L_{LF}) \otimes I_m) \boldsymbol{\eta}_L \right) = \boldsymbol{\eta}_F + \left((L_F^{-1} L_{LF}) \otimes I_m \right) \boldsymbol{\eta}_L, \quad (3.29)$$

which can be seen as an error between the followers' dynamics and the linear combination of the leaders' dynamics. Finally, from the controller dynamics (3.18), $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{q}_i(t) = 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \ddot{\eta}_i(t) = 0$, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{\eta}_i(t) = 0$, we have that

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} \left[\boldsymbol{\eta}_F + \left((L_F^{-1}L_{LF}) \otimes I_m \right) \boldsymbol{\eta}_L \right] = 0.$$

Recall from Lemma 3.1 that each entry of the matrix $-L_F^{-1}L_{LF}$ is non-negative and each of its rows has sum equal to one, thus each row of (3.29) is analogous to the argument of the limit (3.5) that is,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left\| \boldsymbol{q}_i(t) - \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_{ij} \boldsymbol{q}_j(t) \right\| = 0, \quad \alpha_{ij} \ge 0, \quad \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_{ij} = 1, \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_F, \quad \forall j \in \mathcal{V}_L,$$

which completes the proof.

The LMI condition proposed in Lemma 3.4 provides a sufficient test for the convergence analysis of agents modeled as Euler-Lagrange systems into a convex hull spanned by a set of Euler-Lagrange systems. Similarly to the Lemma 3.2, this condition is also designed taking into account bounded inputs and communication delays. It also establishes a relationship between some controller parameters and the upper bound of the communication delays, leaving some other parameters free for adjustment. Namely, only the controller parameters k_{2i} and k_{3i} have to be adjusted in such a way that the condition in Lemma 3.4 is satisfied. Furthermore, as pointed out in Section 3.2, the independence of the model makes the proposed condition appropriated for the convergence analysis of heterogeneous multi-agent systems.

3.4 Formation-Containment Control

In Sections 3.2 and 3.3 there were established sufficient conditions for stabilization of leaders into a desired formation and the convergence of followers into the convex hull spanned by the leaders, both modeled by Euler-Lagrange equations subject to input saturation and with communication delays. With these results we now enunciate the main result of this chapter, stated in the next theorem.

Theorem 3.1. Consider a multi-agent system composed of N leaders and M - N followers, subject to time-varying delays on the communication among agents $\tau_{ij}(t)$, with $\dot{\tau}_{ij}(t)$ bounded for all $i, j \in \mathcal{V}_L \cup \mathcal{V}_F$, in which all agents are modeled by the Euler-Lagrange equation (3.1) subject to input-saturation. The distributed dynamic controller

$$D_{i}\ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(t) = k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{2i}\sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij} \Big(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) - \boldsymbol{\delta}_{ij}\Big) - k_{3i}\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}(t), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{L},$$
$$\boldsymbol{u}_{i} = -k_{1i}\sigma(\beta_{1i}\tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}(t)) - k_{4i}\sigma(\beta_{2i}\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}(t)) + \boldsymbol{g}_{i}(\boldsymbol{q}_{i}), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{L},$$

for leaders, and the distributed dynamic controller for followers,

$$D_{i} \ddot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i} = k_{1i} \sigma(\beta_{1i} \tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{2i} \sum_{j=1}^{M} a_{ij} \left(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\eta}_{j}(t - \tau_{ji}(t)) \right) - k_{3i} \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}}_{i}, \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{F},$$
$$\boldsymbol{u}_{i} = -k_{1i} \sigma(\beta_{1i} \tilde{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) - k_{4i} \sigma(\beta_{2i} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}}_{i}) + \boldsymbol{g}_{i}(\boldsymbol{q}_{i}), \quad \forall i \in \mathcal{V}_{F},$$

lead the network asymptotically to the formation-containment with maximum inputs given by $k_{1i} + k_{4i} + ||\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{q}_i)||_{\infty}$ for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_L \cup \mathcal{V}_F$, if for given constants $\bar{\tau}_i$, k_{2i} , and k_{3i} , there exist positive definite matrices $P_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ for $i = 1, \dots, M$, such that the following linear matrix inequality holds,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Phi_1 & \Phi_2 \\ * & \Phi_3 \end{bmatrix} < 0$$

,

with

$$\Phi_1 = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ -2k_{31}I + l_{11}\bar{\tau}_1 P_1, \quad -2k_{32}I + l_{22}\bar{\tau}_2 P_2, \quad \cdots, \quad -2k_{3M}I + l_{MM}\bar{\tau}_M P_M \right\},\,$$

$$\Phi_2 = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \Phi_{21}, \quad \Phi_{22}, \quad \cdots, \quad \Phi_{2M} \right\}$$

$$\Phi_{2k} = \begin{bmatrix} -k_{2k}I & -k_{2k}I & \cdots & -k_{2k}I \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\Phi_3 = \operatorname{diag} \left\{ \Phi_{31}, \quad \Phi_{32}, \quad \cdots, \quad \Phi_{3M} \right\},$$

the terms Φ_{3k} are arranged considering the network topology, according the following algorithm,

Structure of Φ_{3k} $\Phi_{3k} \leftarrow []$ for j = 1, ..., M: $if a_{kj} \neq 0$: $\Phi_{3k} \leftarrow \operatorname{diag} \left(\Phi_{3k}, \left[-P_j / \bar{\tau}_j \right] \right)$ end

The variable $\bar{\tau}_i$ denotes the upper bound on the time-varying delays associated with the *i*th agent, $\tilde{q}_i = q_i - \eta_i$, a_{ij} is the (i, j) entry of the adjacency matrix, $\sigma(\cdot) : \mathbb{R} \to (-1, 1)$ is a strictly increasing continuous function, [] is an empty matrix (i.e., the only linear map is [] : $\{0\} \to \{0\}$), $l_{ii} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{ij}$ for $i \in \mathcal{V}_L$, and $l_{ii} = \sum_{j=N+1}^{M} a_{ij}$ for $i \in \mathcal{V}_F$, and k_{1i} , k_{2i} , k_{3i} , k_{4i} , β_{1i} , and β_{2i} are positive constants.

Proof. The result of the theorem follows directly from the stabilization of leaders into a desired constant formation, demonstrated on Lemma 3.2, and the convergence of followers into the convex hull spanned by the leaders, established on Lemma 3.4. The conditions of the theorem follows from the composition of the conditions in Lemmas 3.2 and 3.4. Finally, the bound of the input signal is ensured by the boundedness of the gravitational vector $\|\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{q})\|_{\infty}$ and the inequality $\|\sigma(\cdot)\|_{\infty} \leq 1$.

The above theorem presents conditions to achieve the formation-containment of multiple Euler-Lagrange systems in a distributed fashion by combining the behavior of leaders and followers subject to input saturation and communication delays under the proposed control strategy. It is noteworthy that in the convergence proof of Lemma 3.4 it is shown that the states of followers and their dynamic controllers are bounded during the process of convergence of leaders, which ensures that the followers cannot go to infinity in finite time. Moreover, because the theorem is a composition of Lemmas 3.2 and 3.4, the observations made previously are still valid.

3.4.1 Numerical Examples

In this section it is shown examples to illustrate the use of the proposed method in the formationcontainment in multi-agent systems with non-identical agents. One of the examples provided is used in others works on the formation-containment problem, but because the premises and conditions are rather unlike to the proposed ones, they are not directly contrasted.

Example 3.2. In order to illustrate the effectiveness of the proposed strategy on the formationcontainment problem we consider the same example studied by Chen et al. (2019b), Chen et al. (2016) and Li et al. (2018). It is considered a group of ten satellites with six leaders, $\mathcal{V}_L = \{1, \dots, 6\}$, and four followers $\mathcal{V}_F = \{7, \dots, 10\}$. The dynamics of each system is described as,

$$\begin{split} \ddot{x}_{i} - 2\omega_{0}\dot{y}_{i} - \omega_{0}^{2}x_{i} - \dot{\omega}_{0}y_{i} + \frac{\mu_{e}(R_{0} + x_{i})}{R_{i}^{3}} - \frac{\mu_{e}}{R_{0}^{2}} &= \frac{u_{oix}}{m_{i}}\\ \ddot{y}_{i} + 2\omega_{0}\dot{x}_{i} - \omega_{0}^{2}y_{i} + \dot{\omega}_{0}x_{i} + \frac{\mu_{e}y_{i}}{R_{i}^{3}} &= \frac{u_{oiy}}{m_{i}},\\ \ddot{z}_{i} + \frac{\mu_{e}z_{i}}{R_{i}^{3}} &= \frac{u_{oiz}}{m_{i}}, \end{split}$$

in which x_i , y_i , and z_i are the coordinates of the center of mass on the global frame, R_0 is the orbit radius, m_i is the mass of the satellite, μ_e is the gravitation constant, $\omega_0 = \sqrt{\mu_e/R_0^3}$ is the orbit angular velocity, R_i is the distance between the satellite and the geocenter, and the control input is given by the variables u_{oix}, u_{oiy} , and u_{oiz} . Note that this model is equivalent to the Euler-Lagrange equation, with $\mathbf{q}_i = [x_i, y_i, z_i]'$, $\mathbf{u}_i = [u_{oix}, u_{oiy}, u_{oiz}]'$,

$$C_{i} = 2m_{i} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\omega_{0} & 0\\ \omega_{0} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \text{ and } \boldsymbol{g}_{i} = m_{i} \begin{bmatrix} -\omega_{0}x_{i} - \dot{\omega}_{0}y_{i} + \mu_{e}(R_{0} + x_{i})/R_{i}^{3} - \mu_{e}/R_{0}^{2}\\ -\omega_{0}y_{i} + \mu_{e}y_{i}/R_{i}^{3} + \dot{\omega}_{0}x_{i}\\ \mu_{e}z_{i}/R_{i}^{3} \end{bmatrix}$$

In this numerical example, the networked system follows the same initial orbit elements given in Chen et al. (2019b). We also consider distinct mass for the systems, for the systems $i \in$ $\{1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9\}$, we consider $m_i = 35kg$ and for $i \in \{4, 5, 6, 10\}$, $m_i = 40kg$ and assume that all input limits are given by $u_{max} = 10N$. The communication topology is represented in Figure 3.3, and it gives us the following Laplacian matrix,



FIGURE 3.3: Example 3.2–Graph representation of the agents interaction.

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} L_L & 0\\ L_{LF} & L_F \end{bmatrix}$$

where,

$$L_{LF} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad L_F = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 3 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 3 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$L_L = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 3 & -1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 2 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 3 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 0 & -1 & 3 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The desired relative configuration for the leaders is given by,

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}_{15} = [50, 150, 0]', \quad \boldsymbol{\delta}_{21} = [-50, 50, 0]', \quad \boldsymbol{\delta}_{23} = [-50, 150, 0]', \\ \boldsymbol{\delta}_{36} = [100, -100, 0]', \quad \boldsymbol{\delta}_{54} = [50, -50, 0]', \quad \boldsymbol{\delta}_{56} = [50, -150, 0]',$$

and the initial conditions are given by,

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{q}_1(0) &= [150, 100, 300]', \qquad \boldsymbol{q}_2(0) = [150, -100, 300]', \\ \boldsymbol{q}_3(0) &= [-200, -200, -300]', \qquad \boldsymbol{q}_4(0) = [-150, -100, 300]', \\ \boldsymbol{q}_5(0) &= [150, -100, -300]', \qquad \boldsymbol{q}_6(0) = [-150, 100, -300]', \\ \boldsymbol{q}_7(0) &= [-200, -20, 100]', \qquad \boldsymbol{q}_8(0) = [-15, 100, 200]', \\ \boldsymbol{q}_9(0) &= [150, -10, -200]', \qquad \boldsymbol{q}_{10}(0) = [15, -100, 200]', \\ \boldsymbol{\dot{q}}_i(0) &= [0, 0, 0]', \qquad \forall i = 1, \dots, 10. \end{aligned}$$

We use the Lemmas 3.2 and 3.4 with gains $k_{2i} = 3$ and $k_{3i} = 5$, for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_L \cup \mathcal{V}_F$ to obtain the maximum delay with guaranteed convergence. We obtain $\bar{\tau}_8 = 0.83$, $\bar{\tau}_i = 0.64$ for $i \in \{9,10\}$, $\bar{\tau}_i = 0.58$ for $i \in \{2,5,6\}$, $\bar{\tau}_i = 0.51$ for $i \in \{1,3,7\}$, $\bar{\tau}_4 = 0.50$. The timedelays was set to $\tau_i(t) = \bar{\tau}_i(1 + \sin(t))/2$, and the remain parameters used in the simulation was $(D_i, k_{1i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}, \beta_{2i}) = (\text{diag}(50, 50, 50), 8.0, 2.0, 1.0, 20.0)$ with function $\sigma(\cdot) = \tanh(\cdot)$ for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_L \cup \mathcal{V}_F$. Figure 3.4 shows the trajectories of the network, the agents positions are represented by symbols, where \times represents the followers and the other symbols represent the leaders positions, and the final desired convex hull spanned by the leaders is highlighted in black solid line (a video of the simulation can be seen at https: //youtu. be/lJvKzvM_5SE). Figure 3.5 shows the control inputs of the systems and Figure 3.6 depicts the revolute of the joint coordinates.



FIGURE 3.4: Example 3.2–Snapshots of the networked system trajectories: (A) at t = 0s; (B) at t = 75s; (C) at t = 150s; and (D) at t = 300s. The symbol \times represents the followers, while the others symbols represent the leaders positions and the black line links the leaders that shape the final convex hull.

According to Figure 3.4, we can see that the multi-agent system subject to input saturation and communication delays achieves the formation-containment. That is, the leaders move to the desired relative positions and the followers move into the convex hull spanned by the leaders. It can be viewed in Figure 3.5 that the agents control inputs do not exceed 10N, which is the input bound. This illustrate the effectiveness of the proposed approach.



FIGURE 3.5: Example 3.2–Input signal of each agents' generalized coordinate.



FIGURE 3.6: Example 3.2–Position of each coordinate of the agents.

Example 3.3. The purpose of this example is to discuss the tuning of the control parameters. One should note that the proposed conditions certify the asymptotic convergence of the network into the formation-containment. However, because no performance is required to be met, the tuning of some parameters remains open.

The parameters to be tuned in the proposed strategy are $k_{1i}, k_{2i}, k_{3i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}$, and β_{2i} . While the gains k_{2i} and k_{3i} have fixed values for a given problem, since the conditions are needed to be satisfied according to the relation between their values and the time delays, the sum of k_{1i} and k_{4i} is required to be set according to the input saturation. Hence, there is a degree of freedom in the selection of k_{1i} and k_{4i} . Observe that the gains k_{1i} and k_{4i} adjust the signal associated to the states of the agents and their dynamic controllers \tilde{q}_i , and the local damping in the agent dynamics. The gains β_{1i} and β_{2i} appear as arguments of the bounded function $\sigma(\cdot)$, along with the signals \tilde{q}_i and \dot{q}_i , respectively. Naturally, the adjustment of their values affects directly the time the controllers spend saturated. Since the signal \tilde{q}_i is related with the synchronization of the states of the agents with their controllers, and \dot{q}_i is associated with a local damping, the closed-loop systems are rather sensitive to the selection of high values for β_{1i} , and β_{2i} , as it is exemplified next.

Firstly, consider a multi-agent system with 20 agents, in which 10 are leaders and the other 10 are followers interconnected according to the Laplacian matrix in (3.30), and they are required to converge to attain the consensus, i.e., $\delta_{ij} = 0$ for all i, j. The dynamics of each agent is given by two-link manipulators as presented in Example 3.1 with actuators limit of $u_{max} = 2$, with physical parameters given in Table 3.2. Theorem 3.1 was used with $k_{2i} = 5$ and $k_{3i} = 12$ for all $i \in \mathcal{V}_L \cup \mathcal{V}_F$. The minimum upper-bound for the communication delays computed was $\bar{\tau} = 0.19$, and this value was used fixed in all communication links.

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} L_L & 0\\ L_{LF} & L_F \end{bmatrix}, \tag{3.30}$$

where,

TABLE 3.2: Example 3.3–Physical parameters of the agents. m_k and l_k , for $k \in \{1, 2\}$, are the mass and the length of each link.

	$i \in \{1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9, 16, 17, 18, 19\}$	$i \in \{4, 5, 6, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 20\}$
(m_1, m_2)	(2, 0.32)	(3.95, 0.62)
(l_1, l_2)	(0.38, 0.38)	(0.38, 0.38)

This setting is studied with several values for the parameters of the controllers, which are presented in Table 3.3 and displayed in Figure 3.7, in which the simulations were performed with $D_i = 50$ and the function $\sigma(\cdot) = \tanh(\cdot)$ for all agents.

	Values	Figure
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},\beta_{1i},\beta_{2i})$	(1.0, 1.0, 1.0, 1.0)	Figure 3.7A
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},\beta_{1i},\beta_{2i})$	$\left(1.7, 0.3, 0.1, 0.1 ight)$	Figure 3.7 ^B
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},\beta_{1i},\beta_{2i})$	$\left(0.3, 1.7, 0.1, 0.1 ight)$	Figure 3.7C
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},\beta_{1i},\beta_{2i})$	$\left(1.0, 1.0, 30.0, 0.1 ight)$	Figure 3.7D
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},\beta_{1i},\beta_{2i})$	$\left(1.0, 1.0, 0.1, 30 ight)$	Figure 3.7E
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},eta_{1i},eta_{2i})$	(1.7, 0.3, 0.1, 30)	Figure 3.7 _F

TABLE 3.3: Example 3.3–Distinct parameters satisfying conditions in Theorem 3.1 with $k_{2i} = 5$ and $k_{3i} = 12$.

In a second setting, consider the same configuration given in Example 3.2, with parameters of the controllers represented in Table 3.4. The simulations are displayed in Figures 3.8 and 3.9, all of them were done considering $\bar{\tau} = 0.5$ in every communication link and again with $D_i = 50$ and the function $\sigma(\cdot) = \tanh(\cdot)$ for all agents.

TABLE 3.4: Example 3.3–Distinct parameters satisfying conditions in Theorem 3.1 with $k_{2i} = 3$ and $k_{3i} = 5$.

	Values	Figure
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},\beta_{1i},\beta_{2i})$	(5.0, 5.0, 1.0, 1.0)	Figure 3.8A
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},eta_{1i},eta_{2i})$	$\left(8.0, 2.0, 0.1, 0.1 ight)$	Figure 3.8B
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},eta_{1i},eta_{2i})$	$\left(2.0, 8.0, 0.1, 0.1 ight)$	Figure 3.8C
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},eta_{1i},eta_{2i})$	$\left(5.0, 5.0, 20.0, 0.1 ight)$	Figure 3.8D
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},eta_{1i},eta_{2i})$	(5.0, 5.0, 0.1, 20.0)	Figure 3.9A
$(k_{1i},k_{4i},eta_{1i},eta_{2i})$	(8.0, 2.0, 0.1, 20.0)	Figure 3.9B

The simulations corroborate with the asymptotic convergence of the network once the conditions of the proposed approach are satisfied. However, the rate of convergence varies as a function of the control parameters. In both examples, the natural choice of 50% of the input limit for each gain, k_{1i} , and k_{4i} , together with $\beta_{1i} = \beta_{2i} = 1$ leads to a reasonable rate of convergence (depict in Figures 3.7A, and 3.8A), when compared with other more polarized choices, even though this might not conduct to the fastest stabilization. From the simulations, it is also possible to realize that the gains β_{1i} , β_{2i} are highly associated with the actuator activity (Figures 3.7D, 3.7E, 3.7F, 3.8D, 3.9A, and 3.9B), and that for fast stabilization it seems to be best to select a high value for β_{2i} (Figures 3.7D, and 3.8D).



FIGURE 3.7: Example 3.3–Several simulations with distinct control parameters in the proposed approach in a network with 20 agents.



(D) $(k_{1i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}, \beta_{2i}) = (5.0, 5.0, 20.0, 0.1).$

FIGURE 3.8: Example 3.3–Several simulations with distinct control parameters in the proposed approach in the network of Example 3.2.



(B) $(k_{1i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}, \beta_{2i}) = (8.0, 2.0, 0.1, 20.0).$

FIGURE 3.9: Example 3.3–Several simulations with distinct control parameters in the proposed approach in the network of Example 3.2.

Example 3.4. This example provides some simulations to illustrate the robustness of the control strategy against uncertainties. Note that no theoretical robustness analysis was made, this example aims to set an expectation of the network behavior under certain types of uncertainties. To examine the robustness, three types of additive uncertainties are considered, namely, i) locally in the actuator of the agents, ii) in the inertia and Coriolis matrices, and iii) in the communication channels, e.g., together with the information from neighbors. To study those configurations, the communication topology represented by the Laplacian matrix in (3.30) is considered, with nodes as two-link manipulators dynamics as the ones given in Example 3.3, with parameters given in Table 3.2 and gains of the controllers $(k_{1i}, k_{2i}, k_{3i}, k_{4i}, \beta_{1i}, \beta_{2i}) = (1.0, 5.0, 12.0, 1.0, 0.1, 0.1)$. In all three scenarios, the noise is considered to be a random value within a set $[-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$, in which $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}^2$ is a constant bound for the disturbance. The three scenarios are depicted in Figure 3.10.



(A) Scenario i): input uncertainties with $\varepsilon = 0.2$.



(B) Scenario ii) additive uncertainties in the systems matrices with $\varepsilon = 1.0.$



(c) Scenario iii) additive uncertainties in the communication channels with $\varepsilon=2.0.$

FIGURE 3.10: Example 3.4–Several simulations with uncertainties in (A) the input, (B) the systems matrices, and in (C) the communication channels considering the network of two-link manipulators in Example 3.3.

From these simulations, we can see that the network attains the desired formation in scenario i) and ii), and in iii) the network keeps oscilating. Interestingly, the multi-agent system worked better with matrices uncertainties than the other two types considered. A likely explanation is that the control strategy does not need information about those matrices, thus an unknown behavior in their dynamics would not disturb the stabilization too much. Even though, it is considered that the strategy exactly compensates the gravitational forces. From the simulations, the strategy seems to be more sensitive to uncertainties in the actuators, even though it handled well values of ε with 10% of the actuators limits. Contrary to what Figure 3.10C might suggest, the multiagent system attained convergence to a neighborhood of the desired formation for values of the elements of the vector ε less than 1.5 (as it is shown in Figure 3.11), the purpose of showing the oscillation is to display an interesting behavior. The other two scenarios have not shown this type of trajectory.



FIGURE 3.11: Example 3.4–Simulations with uncertainties in the communication channels considering the network of two-link manipulators in Example 3.3 with $\varepsilon = 1.5$.

3.5 Chapter Conclusions

In this chapter we investigated the formation-containment problem of heterogeneous Euler-Lagrange systems with directed communication topology (from leaders to followers). The communication channels of the network are subject to nonuniform time-varying delays, and the agents are subject to input saturation. With the use of a dynamic controller, which does not rely on relative velocity measurements neither on the inertia and Coriolis matrices, conditions for the convergence analysis are derived. The conditions are appropriated for agents with distinct dynamics, with the same number of degrees of freedom. Despite the fact the distributed controllers do not depend on relative measurements of velocity, they do rely on active communication among agents, since they depend on the information exchange of controllers states, which can not be directly measured by neighbors.

The communication time-varying delays were assumed to have an upper bound associated with each agent of the network. Moreover, it was not assumed the knowledge of the delays derivative, only its existence, a desirable feature since it might be hard to evaluate the variation of multiple delays on multi-agent systems. The input saturation was dealt with by using a strictly increasing function $\sigma(\cdot) : \mathbb{R} \to (-1, 1)$ in such a way the input upper and lower bounds can be adjusted by choosing appropriated parameters on the controller. It is noteworthy that the parameters associated with the controller bounds are not necessary in the proposed conditions for the convergence analysis, which gives flexibility on the control tuning.

Finally, it was shown in the numerical examples that the proposed strategy outperforms recent works on guaranteeing the consensus with time-delays, even though the presented strategy solves a more general problem than the classical consensus and simultaneously considers input saturation and communication delays.

Chapter 4

Final Discussion

This work has presented new sufficient conditions for the convergence analysis and design of distributed protocols for multi-agent systems with linear and nonlinear agents. Two different problems were addressed, the consensus and the formation-containment, both subject to timedelay and saturating inputs. The investigation was carried mainly utilizing the Lyapunov-Krasovskii and Barbalat's frameworks, deriving less conservative LMIs conditions than those from the literature that approach similar problems.

The contributions to the consensus problem were introduced in Chapter 2. In this context, it was considered linear saturated agents with input time-delay. Input saturation was handled as a Lur'e problem, by considering a dead-zone function along with a sector condition. This representation allowed the use of tools developed for the analysis of linear systems. Firstly, it was demonstrated a technique to translate the consensus into a stability problem of saturated linear systems subject to time-delay. The appealing aspect of this transformation is that it allows the consensus to be studied by using different methods. With the equivalent system, it was derived results in the study of consensus in the continuous- and discrete-time domains.

In the continuous-time domain, the time-delay was such that its values belong to an interval with a possible non-zero lower-bound. Moreover, it was considered non-differentiable timevarying delays, a desirable feature since it is hard to measure the variation of delays and it might even be random. This feature also fits well in the context of multi-agent systems, because it allows representing arbitrary delays for each agent within the same set and, consequently, to represent the whole networked system in a compact form. This is evident in the upperbound choice of inequality (2.33). Numerical experiments have shown that our method is less conservative and provides better estimates for the region of guaranteed convergence, but at the expense of an increase in the number of decision variables.

In the discrete-time domain, the study was carried employing two different approaches, by rewriting the multi-agent system as an augmented switching system and by using the Lyapunov-Krasovskii approach. As discussed in Chapter 2, the motivation to model the delayed network as an augmented switching system comes from an attempt to provide nonconservative conditions, as for single-agent systems without saturation this method is equivalent to using a general, delay dependent, Lyapunov-Krasovskii functional candidate. The numerical tests corroborate with the expectation in the stability study, and suggest a decrease in the conservatism when compared with the Lyapunov-Krasovskii approach. However, the procedure to obtain synthesis conditions introduced too much conservatism, to the point that the conditions derived using the Lyapunov-Krasovskii methodology became less conservative. Another drawback of the augmented approach is that the computational complexity grows with the delay upper-bound. To try to cope with
this problem, it was considered homogeneous delays in the network and possible bounds on the delay variation. Nevertheless, even with those considerations, the computational complexity may be an obstacle in using this method in high-dimensional systems subject to large values of delays.

In all approaches, in the continuous- and discrete-time domain, the consensus analysis, and gain design were developed in such a way the convergence is locally ensured, and the search for the largest estimate of the domain of consensus is posed as a convex optimization problem. The numerical examples suggest that the offered approaches outperform those few works that have studied similar premises in the considered examples.

In Chapter 3 the approach taken in Chapter 2 for continuous-time multi-agent systems was expanded in two main ways: the general problem of formation-containment was studied and the agents were modeled by nonlinear Euler-Lagrange equations. Moreover, in this context, the delays are considered on the communication channels of the network, instead of input delays, which together with the input saturation it might represent more realistic scenarios. The communication delays are handled in a similar fashion as the input delays on the consensus problem. To handle the input limits the control signals were bounded using a continuous strictly increasing function such that $\sigma(\cdot) : \mathbb{R} \to (-1, 1)$. Thereby, the input limits could be adjusted with appropriate parameters. The main improvements offered in Chapter 3 in relation to similar works from the literature can be highlighted as: the possibility to handle input saturation and communication time-varying delays simultaneously, the use of dynamic controllers which does not rely on relative velocity measurements, nor on the system matrices, and a procedure to perform offline convergence analysis that does not depend on the parameters of the models of the agents . In addition to that, the proposed strategy surpasses recent works on guaranteeing the consensus with time-delays, even though a more general problem is being considered.

It should be stressed that in order to derive LMIs conditions, some possible conservative inequalities were used during the development of the results in this text, but despite this tradeoff, it was shown that the proposed methods outperform recent works found in the literature in the considered examples. This suggests that there is potential room for improvements in the sense of diminishing the conservatism of the proposed conditions.

4.1 Future Research

Possible lines to further investigate the problem of time-delay and saturation in multi-agent systems are:

- To design an anti-windup structure to mitigate the performance degradation due to saturation (Tarbouriech et al., 2011). The objective of this strategy is to avoid the growth of the integral action of the controller by compensating saturated input signals. This structure could enlarge the linear region of operation of the agents. Thus, it would guarantee performance requirements for larger sets and improve the overall behavior of the multi-agent system.

- To guarantee the operation of the linear multi-agent system inside a safety region by employing Control Barrier Functions (Ames et al., 2019). This approach could lead to less conservatism in the estimate of the domain of consensus, since the required constraints alleviate, for example, the necessity of a positive definite function. An interesting aspect of this strategy is that the safety region can be cast into an invariant set without rendering its sublevel sets invariant, which could be less restrictive than the proposed methodology.
- To formulate the formation-containment problem for varying formations. This formulation will allow to address formations on multi-agent systems that are able to track a trajectory, maintaining the followers states within a region established by a set of leaders. Similar problems were recently studied considering networked Euler-Lagrange systems (Ge et al., 2016), but employing computed-torque control strategy, which makes the systems dynamics similar to double-integrators. Hence, the strategy is highly dependent on the knowledge of system parameters. Santiaguillo-Salinas and Aranda-Bricaire (2017) studied the time-varying formation with networked differential-drive mobile robots. Deng et al. (2020) have also tackled a related problem, taking into consideration general linear agents and using event-triggered control strategy to guarantee the tracking. The main idea is to try to extend the results presented in Chapter 3, from static formations to time-varying ones.
- To combine two stabilizing controllers to mitigate the performance degradation due to saturation and impose a local convergence criterion. The idea is to address the global asymptotic convergence while satisfactorily meeting local performance requirements. The approach could initially be similar to the anti-windup on linear systems (Oliveira et al., 2013; Tarbouriech et al., 2011), where the main idea is to mitigate the saturation effects. At first, the method could be to combine a local controller based on the computed-torque (Feedback linearization) with an exponential rate convergence, and the controller proposed in Chapter 3, which does not depend on the inertia nor Coriolis matrices and has global convergence guarantees.
- To consider uncertain agent dynamics subject to external disturbances. Consequently, investigate more realistic scenarios on multi-agent systems. This might enlarge and facilitates the real-world applications. The main motivation for this approach is to develop completely model-independent controllers, which could be achieved with the controller proposed on Chapter 3 if the gravitational compensation was considered a bounded uncertainty. There are some promising alternatives to be tried: the first one to be considered is to combine the integral action proposed by Hernández-Guzmán and Orrante-Sakanassi (2019) along with the control strategy proposed in Chapter 3. Another interesting approach to perform the robustification is to use sliding mode control, which has low sensitivity to plant parameter variations and disturbances (Chen et al., 2019a; Karimi, 2012).

4.2 List of Publications

The publications related to the contributions of this thesis are listed below:

- T. C. Silva et al. (2021). "Regional consensus in discrete-time multi-agent systems subject to time-varying delays and saturating actuators". In: Submitted to International Journal of Control
- T. C. Silva, F. O. Souza, and L. C. A. Pimenta (2021). "Consensus in multi-agent systems subject to input saturation and time-varying delays". In: *International Journal of Systems Science* 52.7, pp. 1479–1498. DOI: 10.1080/00207721.2020.1860267
- T. C. Silva, F. O. Souza, and L. C. A. Pimenta (2020). "Distributed formation-containment control with Euler-Lagrange systems subject to input saturation and communication delays". In: *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control* 30.7, pp. 2999–3022. ISSN: 1049-8923. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.4919

Appendix A

Mathematical Tools

In this section some results are presented on the stability analysis and on linearization of the stability conditions. The following results are used to derive the main conclusions drawn in this manuscript.

A.1 Auxiliary Lemmas

In many problems, the relation between variables may appear non-linearly throughout the development of the stability conditions. Fortunately, many of them can be linearized using algebraic techniques. Here, we highlight some important techniques used in this manuscript:

Lemma A.1. (Sun, Liu, and Chen, 2009). For any constant matrix $M = M^T > 0$ and scalars $t > t - \tau \ge 0$ such that the following integrations are well defined, then

$$\int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} z^{T}(\epsilon) M z(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds \geq \frac{2}{\tau^{2}} \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} z^{T}(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds M \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{t+s}^{t} z(\epsilon) d\epsilon ds$$

Lemma A.2. (Seuret and Gouaisbaut, 2013). For any constant matrix $M = M^T > 0$ and scalars $t > t - \tau \ge 0$ such that the following integrations are well defined, then

$$\int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}^{T}(\epsilon) M \dot{z}(\epsilon) d\epsilon \geq \frac{1}{\tau} \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}^{T}(\epsilon) d\epsilon M \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon) d\epsilon + \frac{3}{\tau} \Omega^{T} M \Omega,$$

with

$$\Omega = z(t-\tau) + z(t) - \frac{2}{\tau} \int_{t-\tau}^t z(\epsilon) d\epsilon$$

Lemma A.3. (Gu, Kharitonov, and Chen, 2003). For any constant matrix $M = M^T > 0$ and scalars $t > t - \bar{\tau} \ge 0$ such that the following integrations are well defined, then

$$\int_{t-\bar{\tau}}^{t} \dot{z}^{T}(\epsilon) M \dot{z}(\epsilon) d\epsilon \geq \frac{1}{\bar{\tau}} \int_{t-\bar{\tau}}^{t} \dot{z}^{T}(\epsilon) d\epsilon M \int_{t-\bar{\tau}}^{t} \dot{z}(\epsilon) d\epsilon.$$

Lemma A.4 (Schur Complement (Gu, Kharitonov, and Chen, 2003)). For any constant symmetric matrix

$$S = \begin{bmatrix} S_{11} & S_{12} \\ S_{12}^T & S_{22} \end{bmatrix},$$

the following statements are equivalent:

- 1) S < 0,
- 2) $S_{11} < 0, \ S_{22} S_{12}^T S_{11}^{-1} S_{12} < 0,$
- 3) $S_{22} < 0, \ S_{11} S_{12}S_{22}^{-1}S_{12}^T < 0.$

Bibliography

- Altafini, Claudio (Apr. 2013). "Consensus Problems on Networks With Antagonistic Interactions". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 58.4, pp. 935–946. DOI: 10.1109/TAC. 2012.2224251.
- Alves Neto, Armando, Leonardo A. Mozelli, and Douglas G. Macharet (2020). "On the consensus of nonlinear agents in unknown cluttered environments using random planning". In: *Robotics* and Autonomous Systems 132, p. 103607. ISSN: 0921-8890. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.robot.2020.103607.
- Ames, Aaron D., Samuel Coogan, Magnus Egerstedt, Gennaro Notomista, Koushil Sreenath, and Paulo Tabuada (2019). "Control Barrier Functions: Theory and Applications". In: 2019 18th European Control Conference (ECC), pp. 3420–3431. DOI: 10.23919/ECC.2019.8796030.
- Araújo, Rodrigo Farias, Leonardo A. B. Torres, and Reinaldo Martinez Palhares (2019). "Distributed Control of Networked Nonlinear Systems via Interconnected Takagi-Sugeno Fuzzy Systems With Nonlinear Consequent". In: *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems*, pp. 1–10. DOI: 10.1109/TSMC.2019.2945500.
- Bernstein, Dennis S. and Anthony N. Michel (1995). "A chronological bibliography on saturating actuators". In: International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control 5.5, pp. 375–380. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.4590050502.
- Bliman, Pierre-Alexandre and Giancarlo Ferrari-Trecate (Aug. 2008). "Average consensus problems in networks of agents with delayed communications". In: Automatica 44.8, pp. 1985– 1995. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2007.12.010.
- Borkar, Aseem V., Vivek S. Borkar, and Arpita Sinha (2019). "Aerial monitoring of slow moving convoys using elliptical orbits". In: *European Journal of Control* 46, pp. 90–102. ISSN: 0947-3580. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcon.2018.09.010.
- Boyd, S., L. El Ghaoui, E. Feron, and V. Balakrishnan (June 1994). Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory. Vol. 15. Studies in Applied Mathematics. Philadelphia, PA: SIAM. ISBN: 0-89871-334-X.
- Castelan, Eugênio B., Sophie Tarbouriech, João Manoel Gomes da Silva Jr., and I. Queinnec (Dec. 2006). "L2-Stabilization of continuous-time linear systems with saturating actuators". In: International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control 16.18, pp. 935–944. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.1118.
- Castro, Michelle F.F., Alexandre Seuret, Valter J.S. Leite, and Luis F.P. Silva (2020). "Robust local stabilization of discrete time-varying delayed state systems under saturating actuators".
 In: Automatica 122, p. 109266. ISSN: 00051098. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2020.109266.
- Chen, Jianliang, Weidong Zhang, Yong-Yan Cao, and Hongjun Chu (July 2017a). "Observer-Based Consensus Control Against Actuator Faults for Linear Parameter-Varying Multiagent

Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems* 47.7, pp. 1336–1347. DOI: 10.1109/TSMC.2016.2587300.

- Chen, Liang-Ming, Chuan-Jiang Li, Jie Mei, and Guang-Fu Ma (2017b). "Adaptive cooperative formation-containment control for networked Euler-Lagrange systems without using relative velocity information". In: *IET Control Theory & Applications* 11.9, pp. 1450–1458. DOI: 10.1049/iet-cta.2016.1185.
- Chen, Liangliang, Chuanjiang Li, Yanchao Sun, and Guangfu Ma (2019a). "Distributed finite-time containment control for multiple Euler-Lagrange systems with communication delays".
 In: International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control, pp. 332–352. DOI: 10.1002/rnc. 4395.
- Chen, Liangming, Chuanjiang Li, Yanchao Sun, Guangfu Ma, and Wenjia Wang (2016). "Adaptive formation-containment control for multiple Euler-Lagrange systems with uncertainties and disturbances". In: *Chinese Control Conference, CCC* 2016-Augus, pp. 10690–10695. DOI: 10.1109/ChiCC.2016.7555052.
- Chen, Liangming, Chuanjiang Li, Bing Xiao, and Yanning Guo (2019b). "Formation-containment control of networked Euler-Lagrange systems: An event-triggered framework". In: *ISA Transactions* 86, pp. 87–97. ISSN: 00190578. DOI: 10.1016/j.isatra.2018.10.019.
- Chen, Wu Hua and Wei Xing Zheng (2012). "An improved stabilization method for sampleddata control systems with control packet loss". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 57.9, pp. 2378–2384. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2012.2184629.
- Cheng, Zhaomeng, Hai-Tao Zhang, Ming-Can Fan, and Guanrong Chen (2015). "Distributed Consensus of Multi-Agent Systems With Input Constraints: A Model Predictive Control Approach". In: *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* 62.3, pp. 825– 834. DOI: 10.1109/TCSI.2014.2367575.
- Chu, Xing, Zhaoxia Peng, Guoguang Wen, and Ahmed Rahmani (2018). "Distributed formation tracking of multi-robot systems with nonholonomic constraint via event-triggered approach". In: *Neurocomputing* 275, pp. 121–131. ISSN: 0925-2312. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucom.2017.05.007.
- Chung, Soon Jo and Jean Jacques E. Slotine (2007). "Cooperative robot control and synchronization of lagrangian systems". In: Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, pp. 2504–2509. DOI: 10.1109/CDC.2007.4434036.
- Cortes, Jorge, Sonia Martinez, and Francesco Bullo (Aug. 2006). "Robust Rendezvous for Mobile Autonomous Agents via Proximity Graphs in Arbitrary Dimensions". In: *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control 51.8, pp. 1289–1298. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2006.878713.
- Cucker, Felipe and Steve Smale (2007). "Emergent behavior in flocks". In: *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control 52.5, pp. 852–862. ISSN: 00189286. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2007.895842.
- Cui, Ying, Yurong Liu, Wenbing Zhang, and Fuad E. Alsaadi (Oct. 2018). "Event-Based Consensus for a Class of Nonlinear Multi-Agent Systems With Sequentially Connected Topology". In: *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* 65.10, pp. 3506–3518. DOI: 10.1109/TCSI.2018.2830417.
- Degroot, Morris H. (1974). "Reaching a Consensus". In: Journal of the American Statistical Association 69.345, pp. 118–121. DOI: 10.1080/01621459.1974.10480137.

- Deng, Chao and Guang-Hong Yang (Mar. 2017). "Consensus of Linear Multiagent Systems With Actuator Saturation and External Disturbances". In: *IEEE Transactions on Circuits* and Systems II: Express Briefs 64.3, pp. 284–288. DOI: 10.1109/TCSII.2016.2551549.
- Deng, Jia, Kai Li, Sentang Wu, and Yongming Wen (2020). "Distributed Adaptive Time-Varying Formation Tracking Control for General Linear Multi-Agent Systems Based on Event-Triggered Strategy". In: *IEEE Access* 8, pp. 13204–13217. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10. 1109/ACCESS.2020.2966042.
- Dimarogonas, Dimos V., Emilio Frazzoli, and Karl H. Johansson (May 2012). "Distributed Event-Triggered Control for Multi-Agent Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 57.5, pp. 1291–1297. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2011.2174666.
- Ding, Lei, Wei Xing Zheng, and Ge Guo (Mar. 2018). "Network-based practical set consensus of multi-agent systems subject to input saturation". In: *Automatica* 89, pp. 316–324. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2017.12.001.
- Dong, Xiwang, Zongying Shi, Geng Lu, and Yisheng Zhong (2015). "Formation-containment analysis and design for high-order linear time-invariant swarm systems". In: International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control 25.17, pp. 3439–3456. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.3274.
- Dong, Yi and Jie Huang (Apr. 2018). "Consensus and Flocking With Connectivity Preservation of Uncertain Euler-Lagrange Multi-Agent Systems". In: Journal of Dynamic Systems, Measurement, and Control 140.9, p. 091011. DOI: 10.1115/1.4039666.
- Dorri, A., S. S. Kanhere, and R. Jurdak (2018). "Multi-Agent Systems: A Survey". In: *IEEE Access* 6, pp. 28573–28593. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2831228.
- Edwards, Victoria, Philip deZonia, M. Ani Hsieh, Jason Hindes, Ioana Triandaf, and Ira B. Schwartz (2020). "Delay induced swarm pattern bifurcations in mixed reality experiments". In: *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science* 30.7, p. 073126. DOI: 10.1063/1.5142849. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5142849.
- Fattahi, Maryam and Ahmad Afshar (2019). "Controller-based observer design for distributed consensus of multi-agent systems with fault and delay". In: *Journal of Control and Decision* 6.4, pp. 217–235. DOI: 10.1080/23307706.2018.1458659.
- Fax, J. Alexander and Richard M. Murray (2002). "Graph Laplacians and Stabilization of Vehicle Formations". In: *IFAC Proceedings Volumes* 35.1, pp. 55–60. DOI: 10.3182/20020721-6-ES-1901.00090.
- Ferreira Filho, Edson B. and Luciano C. A. Pimenta (2020). "Segregation of Heterogeneous Swarms of Robots in Curves". In: 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 7173–7179. DOI: 10.1109/ICRA40945.2020.9196851.
- Fridman, Emilia (2014). Introduction to Time-Delay Systems. Systems & Control: Foundations & Applications. Cham: Springer International Publishing. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-09393-2.
- Ge, Ming Feng, Zhi Hong Guan, Chao Yang, Tao Li, and Yan Wu Wang (2016). "Time-varying formation tracking of multiple manipulators via distributed finite-time control". In: *Neuro-computing* 202, pp. 20–26. ISSN: 18728286. DOI: 10.1016/j.neucom.2016.03.008.
- Ghorbel, Fathi, Balasubramaniam Srinivasan, and Mark W Spong (1998). "On the uniform boundedness of the inertia matrix of serial robot manipulators". In: *Journal of Robotic Sys*tems 15.1, pp. 17–28.

- Gong, Ping and Weiyao Lan (2018). "Adaptive robust tracking control for uncertain nonlinear fractional-order multi-agent systems with directed topologies". In: *Automatica* 92, pp. 92–99. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2018.02.010.
- Gu, Keqin, Vladimir L. Kharitonov, and Jie Chen (2003). *Stability of Time-Delay Systems*. Birkhäuser Boston. ISBN: 0817642129,9780817642129.
- Gu, Zhou, Peng Shi, Dong Yue, and Zhengtao Ding (2019). "Decentralized Adaptive Event-Triggered H_{∞} Filtering for a Class of Networked Nonlinear Interconnected Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics* 49.5, pp. 1570–1579. DOI: 10.1109/TCYB.2018.2802044.
- Gubner, J.A. (1993). "Distributed estimation and quantization". In: *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory* 39.4, pp. 1456–1459. ISSN: 00189448. DOI: 10.1109/18.243470.
- Hashemzadeh, Farzad, Iraj Hassanzadeh, and Mahdi Tavakoli (2013). "Teleoperation in the presence of varying time delays and sandwich linearity in actuators". In: Automatica 49.9, pp. 2813–2821. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2013.05.012.
- Hernández-Guzmán, Victor M. and J. Orrante-Sakanassi (2019). "Model-independent consensus control of Euler-Lagrange agents with interconnecting delays". In: International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.4594.
- Hetel, L., J. Daafouz, and C. Iung (2008). "Equivalence between the Lyapunov–Krasovskii functionals approach for discrete delay systems and that of the stability conditions for switched systems". In: Nonlinear Analysis: Hybrid Systems 2.3, pp. 697–705. ISSN: 1751570X. DOI: 10.1016/j.nahs.2007.11.003.
- Hua, Menghu, Huafeng Ding, Xiang-Yu Yao, and Xinxin Zhang (2021). "Distributed Fixed-time Formation-containment Control for Multiple Euler-Lagrange Systems with Directed Graphs". In: International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems 19.2, pp. 837–849. ISSN: 1598-6446. DOI: 10.1007/s12555-020-0106-5.
- Huang, Minyi, Subhrakanti Dey, Girish N. Nair, and Jonathan H. Manton (2010). "Stochastic consensus over noisy networks with Markovian and arbitrary switches". In: Automatica 46.10, pp. 1571–1583. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2010.06.016.
- Inácio, Fabrício R., Douglas G. Macharet, and Luiz Chaimowicz (2019). "PSO-based strategy for the segregation of heterogeneous robotic swarms". In: *Journal of Computational Science* 31, pp. 86–94. ISSN: 1877-7503. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocs.2018.12.008.
- Jadbabaie, A., Jie Lin, and A. S. Morse (2003). "Coordination of groups of mobile autonomous agents using nearest neighbor rules". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 48.6, pp. 988–1001. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2003.812781.
- Jesus, Tales A., Luciano C. A. Pimenta, Leonardo A. B. Tôrres, and Eduardo M. A. M. Mendes (Oct. 2014). "Consensus for double-integrator dynamics with velocity constraints". In: *International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems* 12.5, pp. 930–938. DOI: 10.1007/ s12555-013-0309-0.
- Ji, M., G. Ferrari-Trecate, M. Egerstedt, and A. Buffa (2008). "Containment Control in Mobile Networks". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 53.8, pp. 1972–1975. ISSN: 0018-9286. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2008.930098.

- Ji, Meng and Magnus Egerstedt (2007). "Distributed Coordination Control of Multiagent Systems While Preserving Connectedness". In: *IEEE Transactions on Robotics* 23.4, pp. 693– 703. DOI: 10.1109/TRD.2007.900638.
- Karimi, Hamid Reza (2012). "A sliding mode approach to H-inf synchronization of master-slave time-delay systems with Markovian jumping parameters and nonlinear uncertainties". In: *Journal of the Franklin Institute* 349.4, pp. 1480–1496. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfranklin.2011. 09.015.
- Kebria, Parham M., Abbas Khosravi, Saeid Nahavandi, Peng Shi, and Roohallah Alizadehsani (2020). "Robust Adaptive Control Scheme for Teleoperation Systems With Delay and Uncertainties". In: *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics* 50.7, pp. 3243–3253. DOI: 10.1109/TCYB. 2019.2891656.
- Khalil, HASSAN K. (2002). Nonlinear Systems. Third. Vol. 10. Prentice Hall, p. 767. ISBN: 0130673897.
- Khalili, Mohsen, Xiaodong Zhang, Marios M. Polycarpou, Thomas Parisini, and Yongcan Cao (2018). "Distributed adaptive fault-tolerant control of uncertain multi-agent systems". In: *Automatica* 87, pp. 142–151. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2017.09.002.
- Kim, Jin-Hoon (2016). "Further improvement of Jensen inequality and application to stability of time-delayed systems". In: Automatica 64, pp. 121–125. ISSN: 0005-1098. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.automatica.2015.08.025.
- Lewis, M. Anthony and Kar Han Tan (1997). "High Precision Formation Control of Mobile Robots Using Virtual Structures". In: *Autonomous Robots* 4.4, pp. 387–403. ISSN: 09295593. DOI: 10.1023/A:1008814708459.
- Li, Chang-Jiang and Guo-Ping Liu (July 2018a). "Consensus for heterogeneous networked multiagent systems with switching topology and time-varying delays". In: *Journal of the Franklin Institute* 355.10, pp. 4198–4217. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfranklin.2018.04.003.
- Li, Chuanjiang, Liangming Chen, Yanning Guo, and Guangfu Ma (Jan. 2018). "Formation–containment control for networked Euler–Lagrange systems with input saturation". In: *Nonlinear Dynamics* 91.2, pp. 1307–1320. ISSN: 0924-090X. DOI: 10.1007/s11071-017-3946-7.
- Li, Dequan, Qiupeng Liu, Xiaofan Wang, and Zhixiang Yin (2014). "Quantized consensus over directed networks with switching topologies". In: Systems and Control Letters 65.1, pp. 13–22. ISSN: 01676911. DOI: 10.1016/j.sysconle.2013.11.013.
- Li, Jinsha, Daniel W.C. Ho, and Junmin Li (2018). "Adaptive consensus of multi-agent systems under quantized measurements via the edge Laplacian". In: *Automatica* 92, pp. 217–224. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2018.03.022.
- Li, Xianwei, Yeng Chai Soh, and Lihua Xie (2018). "Robust consensus of uncertain linear multiagent systems via dynamic output feedback". In: *Automatica* 98, pp. 114–123. DOI: 10.1016/ j.automatica.2018.09.020.
- Li, Xiaohua and Xiaoping Liu (2018b). "Backstepping-based decentralized adaptive neural H∞ tracking control for a class of large-scale nonlinear interconnected systems". In: Journal of the Franklin Institute 355.11, pp. 4533–4552. ISSN: 0016-0032. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfranklin.2018.04.038.

- Li, Yuanlong and Zongli Lin (July 2017). "Regional leader-following consensus of multi-agent systems with saturating actuators". In: 2017 36th Chinese Control Conference (CCC). IEEE, pp. 8401–8406. DOI: 10.23919/ChiCC.2017.8028688.
- Lima, Matheus V. de, Leonardo A. Mozelli, Armando Alves Neto, and Fernando O. Souza (2019). "A simple algebraic criterion for stability of Bilateral Teleoperation Systems under time-varying delays". In: *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing* xxxx. DOI: 10.1016/j. ymssp.2019.06.035.
- Liu, Yang, Kevin M. Passino, and Marios Polycarpou (2001). "Stability analysis of one-dimensional asynchronous swarms". In: *Proceedings of the 2001 American Control Conference*. 614. IEEE, pp. 716–721. DOI: 10.1109/ACC.2001.945799.
- Mei, Jie, Wei Ren, and Guangfu Ma (2012). "Distributed containment control for Lagrangian networks with parametric uncertainties under a directed graph". In: *Automatica* 48.4, pp. 653– 659. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2012.01.020.
- Mesbahi, Mehran and Magnus Egerstedt (2010). Graph Theoretic Methods in Multiagent Networks. Princeton Univiversity Press, 2010.
- Mesbahi, Mehran and Fred Y. Hadaegh (2001). "Formation Flying Control of Multiple Spacecraft via Graphs, Matrix Inequalities, and Switching". In: Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics 24.2, pp. 369–377. DOI: 10.2514/2.4721.
- Michael, Nathan, Mac Schwager, Vijay Kumar, and Daniela Rus (2014). "An Experimental Study of Time Scales and Stability in Networked Multi-Robot Systems". In: *Experimental Robotics: The 12th International Symposium on Experimental Robotics*. Ed. by Oussama Khatib, Vijay Kumar, and Gaurav Sukhatme. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 631–643. ISBN: 978-3-642-28572-1. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-28572-1_43.
- Mo, Lipo, Shaoyan Guo, and Yongguang Yu (2019). "Mean-square H-inf antagonistic formations of second-order multi-agent systems with multiplicative noises and external disturbances".
 In: ISA Transactions xxxx. DOI: 10.1016/j.isatra.2019.07.019.
- Mohammadi, Arash and Amir Asif (Mar. 2015). "Consensus-based distributed dynamic sensor selection in decentralised sensor networks using the posterior Cramér–Rao lower bound". In: *Signal Processing* 108, pp. 558–575. DOI: 10.1016/j.sigpro.2014.10.005.
- Monteiro, Renato DC and Yin Zhang (1998). "A unified analysis for a class of long-step primaldual path-following interior-point algorithms for semidefinite programming". In: Mathematical Programming 81.3, pp. 281–299. ISSN: 0025-5610. DOI: 10.1007/BF01580085.
- Morabito, Federico, Andrew R. Teel, and Luca Zaccarian (2004). "Nonlinear antiwindup applied to Euler-Lagrange systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation* 20.3, pp. 526–537. DOI: 10.1109/TRA.2004.824933.
- Mulero-Martínez, Juan Ignacio (2007). "Uniform bounds of the coriolis/centripetal matrix of serial robot manipulators". In: *IEEE Transactions on Robotics* 23.5, pp. 1083–1089.
- Neto, Armando Alves, Leonardo A. Mozelli, and Fernando O. Souza (2019). "Control of airground convoy subject to communication time delay". In: Computers & Electrical Engineering 76, pp. 213–224. ISSN: 0045-7906. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compeleceng. 2019.03.016.

- Newman, Mark (2010). *Networks*. 1st ed. New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780199206650. DOI: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199206650.001.0001.
- Nowzari, Cameron, Eloy Garcia, and Jorge Cortés (2019). "Event-triggered communication and control of networked systems for multi-agent consensus". In: *Automatica* 105, pp. 1–27. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2019.03.009.
- Nuño, Emmanuel and Romeo Ortega (2018). "Achieving Consensus of Euler-Lagrange Agents With Interconnecting Delays and Without Velocity Measurements via Passivity-Based Control". In: *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology* 26.1, pp. 222–232. DOI: 10. 1109/TCST.2017.2661822.
- Nuño, Emmanuel, Romeo Ortega, Luis Basanez, and David Hill (2011). "Synchronization of Networks of Nonidentical Euler-Lagrange Systems With Uncertain Parameters and Communication Delays". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 56.4, pp. 935–941. ISSN: 0018-9286. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2010.2103415.
- Nuño, Emmanuel, Ioannis Sarras, and Luis Basanez (2013). "Consensus in Networks of Nonidentical Euler-Lagrange Systems Using P+d Controllers". In: *IEEE Transactions on Robotics* 29.6, pp. 1503–1508. DOI: 10.1109/TRO.2013.2279572.
- Nuño, Emmanuel, Ioannis Sarras, Elena Panteley, and Luis Basanez (2012). "Consensus in networks of nonidentical Euler-Lagrange systems with variable time-delays". In: Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, pp. 4721–4726. ISSN: 01912216. DOI: 10. 1109/CDC.2012.6426169.
- Nuño, Emmanuel, Luis Basañez, and Romeo Ortega (2009). "Control of Teleoperators with Time-Delay: A Lyapunov Approach". In: *Topics in Time Delay Systems*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 371–381. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-02897-7_31.
- Okubo, A (1986). "Dynamical aspects of animal grouping: Swarms, schools, flocks, and herds". In: Advances in Biophysics 22.C, pp. 1–94. DOI: 10.1016/0065-227X(86)90003-1.
- Olfati-Saber, Reza (2006). "Flocking for multi-agent dynamic systems: Algorithms and theory". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 51.3, pp. 401–420. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2005. 864190.
- Olfati-Saber, Reza and Richard M. Murray (Sept. 2004). "Consensus Problems in Networks of Agents With Switching Topology and Time-Delays". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 49.9, pp. 1520–1533. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2004.834113.
- Oliveira, Maurício Zardo, João Manoel Gomes da Silva Jr., Daniel Coutinho, and Sophie Tarbouriech (June 2013). "Design of Anti-Windup Compensators for a Class of Nonlinear Control Systems with Actuator Saturation". In: Journal of Control, Automation and Electrical Systems 24.3, pp. 212–222. DOI: 10.1007/s40313-013-0031-4.
- Pacheco, Gabriel V., Luciano C.A. Pimenta, and Guilherme V. Raffo (2020). "Distributed Parameterized Predictive Control for Multi-robot Curve Tracking". In: *IFAC-PapersOnLine* 53.2. 21th IFAC World Congress, pp. 3144–3149. ISSN: 2405-8963. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2020.12.1054.

- Paim, C., Sophie Tarbouriech, João Manoel Gomes da Silva Jr., and Eugênio B. Castelan (2002).
 "Control design for linear systems with saturating actuators and L/sub 2/-bounded disturbances". In: vol. 4. IEEE, pp. 4148–4153. ISBN: 0-7803-7516-5. DOI: 10.1109/CDC.2002. 1185019.
- Porfiri, Maurizio, D. Gray Roberson, and Daniel J. Stilwell (Aug. 2007). "Tracking and formation control of multiple autonomous agents: A two-level consensus approach". In: *Automatica* 43.8, pp. 1318–1328. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2007.01.004.
- Potra, Florian A. and Stephen J. Wright (2000). "Interior-point methods". In: Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 124.1. Numerical Analysis 2000. Vol. IV: Optimization and Nonlinear Equations, pp. 281–302. ISSN: 0377-0427. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-0427(00)00433-7.
- Qin, Jiahu, Qichao Ma, Yang Shi, Long Wang, Student Member, and Yang Shi (2017). "Recent Advances in Consensus of Multi-Agent Systems : A Brief Survey". In: *IEEE Transactions* on Industrial Electronics 64.6, pp. 4972–4983. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2636810.
- Ren, Wei (2009). "Distributed leaderless consensus algorithms for networked Euler-Lagrange systems". In: *International Journal of Control* 82.11, pp. 2137–2149. DOI: 10.1080/00207170902948027.
- Ren, Wei and Randal W. Beard (2008). Distributed Consensus in Multi-vehicle Cooperative Control. Communications and Control Engineering. London: Springer London. DOI: 10. 1007/978-1-84800-015-5.
- Ren, Wei, Randal W. Beard, and Ella M. Atkins (2007). "Information consensus in multivehicle cooperative control". In: *IEEE Control Systems* 27.2, pp. 71–82. DOI: 10.1109/MCS.2007. 338264.
- Ren, Wei, Randal W. Beard, and Derek B. Kingston (2005). "Multi-agent kalman consensus with relative uncertainty". In: *Proceedings of the American Control Conference* 3, pp. 1865– 1870. DOI: 10.1109/ACC.2005.1470240.
- Reynolds, Craig W. (1987). "Flocks, herds and schools: A distributed behavioral model". In: Proceedings of the 14th annual conference on Computer graphics and interactive techniques. Vol. 9. 2. ACM Press, pp. 25–34. DOI: 10.1145/37401.37406.
- Saber, R. O. and Richard M. Murray (2003). "Consensus protocols for networks of dynamic agents". In: *Proceedings of the 2003 American Control Conference*. Vol. 2. IEEE, pp. 951– 956. DOI: 10.1109/ACC.2003.1239709.
- Sakthivel, Rathinasamy, Ramalingam Sakthivel, Boomipalagan Kaviarasan, and Faris Alzahrani (2018). "Leader-following exponential consensus of input saturated stochastic multi-agent systems with Markov jump parameters". In: *Neurocomputing* 287, pp. 84–92. DOI: 10.1016/ j.neucom.2018.01.075.
- Santiaguillo-Salinas, Jesús and Eduardo Aranda-Bricaire (2017). "Containment problem with time-varying formation and collision avoidance for multiagent systems". In: International Journal of Advanced Robotic Systems 14.3, p. 172988141770392. ISSN: 1729-8814. DOI: 10. 1177/1729881417703929.
- Santos, Vinicius Graciano, Luciano C. A. Pimenta, and Luiz Chaimowicz (2014). "Segregation of multiple heterogeneous units in a robotic swarm". In: 2014 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 1112–1117. DOI: 10.1109/ICRA.2014.6906993.

- Savino, Heitor J., R. P. Carlos, Santos Jr, Fernando O. Souza, Luciano C. A. Pimenta, Maurício De Oliveira, Reinaldo M. Palhares, Carlos R. P. dos Santos, Fernando O. Souza, Luciano C. A. Pimenta, Mauricio de Oliveira, and Reinaldo M. Palhares (Feb. 2016). "Conditions for Consensus of Multi-Agent Systems With Time-Delays and Uncertain Switching Topology". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 63.2, pp. 1258–1267. DOI: 10.1109/TIE. 2015.2504043.
- Savino, Heitor J., A. P. L. Cota, F. O. Souza, L. C. A. Pimenta, E. M. A. M. Mendes, and L. A. Mozelli (July 2013). "Consensus of multi-agent systems with nonuniform non-differentiable time-varying delays". In: 2013 European Control Conference (ECC). IEEE, pp. 1884–1889. DOI: 10.23919/ECC.2013.6669687.
- Savino, Heitor J., Luciano C.A. Pimenta, Julie A. Shah, and Bruno V. Adorno (2020). "Pose consensus based on dual quaternion algebra with application to decentralized formation control of mobile manipulators". In: *Journal of the Franklin Institute* 357.1, pp. 142–178. ISSN: 0016-0032. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfranklin.2019.09.045.
- Savino, Heitor J., Fernando O. Souza, and Luciano C. A. Pimenta (2014). "Consensus with convergence rate in directed networks with multiple non-differentiable input delays". In: 2014 IEEE International Symposium on Intelligent Control. IEEE, pp. 252–257. DOI: 10. 1109/ISIC.2014.6967595.
- (2018). "Consensus on intervals of communication delay". In: International Journal of Automation and Computing 15.1, pp. 13–24. ISSN: 1476-8186. DOI: 10.1007/s11633-017-1095-6.
- Schmitendorf, W. E. and B. R. Barmish (1980). "Null Controllability of Linear Systems with Constrained Controls". In: SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization 18.4, pp. 327–345. DOI: 10.1137/0318025.
- Seuret, A. and F. Gouaisbaut (Sept. 2013). "Wirtinger-based integral inequality: Application to time-delay systems". In: Automatica 49.9, pp. 2860–2866. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica. 2013.05.030.
- Silva, J. V. V., L. F. P. Silva, I. Rubio Scola, and V. J. S. Leite (2018a). "Robust Local Stabilization of Discrete-Time Systems with Time-Varying State Delay and Saturating Actuators". In: *Mathematical Problems in Engineering* 2018.26, pp. 1–9. ISSN: 1024-123X. DOI: 10.1155/2018/5013056.
- Silva, Luís F. P., Valter J. S. Leite, Eugênio B. Castelan, and Gang Feng (2018b). "Delay Dependent Local Stabilization Conditions for Time-delay Nonlinear Discrete-time Systems Using Takagi-Sugeno Models". In: International Journal of Control, Automation and Systems 16.3, pp. 1435–1447. ISSN: 1598-6446. DOI: 10.1007/s12555-017-0526-z.
- Silva, Luís F.P., Valter J.S. Leite, Eugênio B. Castelan, Michael Klug, and Kevin Guelton (2020). "Local stabilization of nonlinear discrete-time systems with time-varying delay in the states and saturating actuators". In: *Information Sciences* 518, pp. 272–285. ISSN: 00200255. DOI: 10.1016/j.ins.2020.01.029.
- Silva, T. C., V. J. S. Leite, F. O. Souza, and L. C. A. Pimenta (2021). "Regional consensus in discrete-time multi-agent systems subject to time-varying delays and saturating actuators". In: Submitted to International Journal of Control.

- Silva, T. C., F. O. Souza, and L. C. A. Pimenta (2020). "Distributed formation-containment control with Euler-Lagrange systems subject to input saturation and communication delays". In: *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control* 30.7, pp. 2999–3022. ISSN: 1049-8923. DOI: 10.1002/rnc.4919.
- (2021). "Consensus in multi-agent systems subject to input saturation and time-varying delays". In: International Journal of Systems Science 52.7, pp. 1479–1498. DOI: 10.1080/ 00207721.2020.1860267.
- Silva, Thales Costa (Mar. 2019). "Consensus in Multi-Agent Systems with Input Saturation and Time-Varying Delays". Graduate Program in Electrical Engineering. MA thesis. Engineering School, Belo Horizonte - Minas Gerais, Brazil: Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais.
- Singh, Sahjendra N., Phil Chandler, Corey Schumacher, Siva Banda, and Meir Pachter (2000). "Adaptive feedback linearizing nonlinear close formation control of UAVs". In: *Proceedings* of the 2000 American Control Conference. ACC. IEEE, pp. 854–858. DOI: 10.1109/ACC. 2000.876620.
- Slotine, Jean-Jacques and Weiping Li (1991). *Applied Nonlinear Control.* 2nd ed. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall International Editions, p. 478.
- Souza, Carla de, Valter J. S. Leite, Luis F. P. Silva, and Eugenio B. Castelan (2019). "ISS Robust Stabilization of State-Delayed Discrete-Time Systems With Bounded Delay Variation and Saturating Actuators". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 64.9, pp. 3913–3919. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2018.2887212.
- Souza, F. O., L. A. B. Torres, L. A. Mozelli, and A. A. Neto (2020). "Stability and Formation Error of Homogeneous Vehicular Platoons With Communication Time Delays". In: *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems* 21.10, pp. 4338–4349. DOI: 10.1109/ TITS.2019.2939777.
- Souza, Fernando O. (Feb. 2013). "Further improvement in stability criteria for linear systems with interval time-varying delay". In: *IET Control Theory & Applications* 7.3, pp. 440–446. DOI: 10.1049/iet-cta.2012.0379.
- Souza, Fernando O., Leonardo Amaral Mozelli, Maurício Carvalho de Oliveira, and Reinaldo Martinez Palhares (2016). "LMI designmethod for networked-based PID control". In: International Journal of Control 89.10, pp. 1962–1971. DOI: 10.1080/00207179.2016.1146413.
- Souza, Fernando O., Reinaldo M. Palhares, Eduardo M. A. M. Mendes, and Leonardo A. B. Torres (2012). "Synchronizing Continuous Time Chaotic Systems Over Nondeterministic Networks with Packet Dropouts". In: *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos* 22.12, p. 1250300. DOI: 10.1142/S0218127412503002.
- Souza, Fernando O., Reinaldo M. Palhares, Eduardo M. A. M. Mendes, and Leonardo A. B. Tôrres (2008). "Further Results on Master-Slave Synchronization of General Lur'e Systems with time-varying delay". In: *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos* 18.01, pp. 187– 202. DOI: 10.1142/S0218127408020227.
- Spanos, Demetri P. and Richard M. Murray (2005). "Distributed Sensor Fusion Using Dynamic Consensus". In: *IFAC World Congress*. Prague Czech Republic.
- Spong, Mark W., Seth Hutchinson, and M. Vidyasagar (2005). Robot modeling and control. Wiley.

- Su, Shize and Zongli Lin (2019). "Connectivity enhancing coordinated tracking control of multiagent systems with a state-dependent jointly-connected dynamic interaction topology". In: *Automatica* 101, pp. 431–438. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2018.12.030.
- Sugihara, Kazuo and Ichiro Suzuki (1996). "Distributed algorithms for formation of geometric patterns with many mobile robots". In: *Journal of Robotic Systems* 13.3, pp. 127–139. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4563(199603)13:3<127::AID-ROB1>3.0.CO;2-U.
- Sui, Xin, Yongqing Yang, Xianyun Xu, Shuai Zhang, and Lingzhong Zhang (2018). "The sampleddata consensus of multi-agent systems with probabilistic time-varying delays and packet losses". In: *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* 492, pp. 1625–1641. ISSN: 03784371. DOI: 10.1016/j.physa.2017.11.086.
- Sun, Jian, G. P. Liu, and Jie Chen (2009). "Delay-dependent stability and stabilization of neutral time-delay systems". In: International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control 19.12, pp. 1364–1375.
- Sun, Yuan Gong and Long Wang (2009). "Consensus of Multi-Agent Systems in Directed Networks With Nonuniform Time-Varying Delays". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 54.7, pp. 1607–1613. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2009.2017963.
- Sun, Yuan Gong, Long Wang, and Guangming Xie (Feb. 2008). "Average consensus in networks of dynamic agents with switching topologies and multiple time-varying delays". In: Systems & Control Letters 57.2, pp. 175–183. DOI: 10.1016/j.sysconle.2007.08.009.
- Suzuki, Ichiro and Masafumi Yamashita (1999). "Distributed Anonymous Mobile Robots: Formation of Geometric Patterns". In: SIAM Journal on Computing 28.4, pp. 1347–1363. DOI: 10.1137/S009753979628292X.
- Tarbouriech, Sophie, Germain Garcia, João Manoel Gomes da Silva Jr., and Isabelle Queinnec (2011). Stability and Stabilization of Linear Systems with Saturating Actuators. 1st ed. London: Springer London. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-85729-941-3.
- Tarbouriech, Sophie and João Manoel Gomes da Silva Jr. (Jan. 2005). "Antiwindup design with guaranteed regions of stability: an LMI-based approach". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 50.1, pp. 106–111. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.2004.841128.
- Tarbouriech, Sophie and Matthew C. Turner (2009). "Anti-windup design: an overview of some recent advances and open problems". In: *IET Control Theory & Applications* 3.1, pp. 1–19. DOI: 10.1049/iet-cta:20070435.
- Tingshu Hu, Zongli Lin (2001). Control Systems with Actuator Saturation: Analysis and Design. 1st ed. Control Engineering. Boston: Birkhäuser Basel. ISBN: 978-1-4612-6661-7.
- Tsitsiklis, J., D. Bertsekas, and M. Athans (1986). "Distributed asynchronous deterministic and stochastic gradient optimization algorithms". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 31.9, pp. 803–812. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.1986.1104412.
- Valcher, Maria Elena and Pradeep Misra (Apr. 2014). "On the consensus and bipartite consensus in high-order multi-agent dynamical systems with antagonistic interactions". In: Systems & Control Letters 66, pp. 94–103. DOI: 10.1016/j.sysconle.2014.01.006.
- Vicsek, Tamás, András Czirók, Eshel Ben-Jacob, Inon Cohen, and Ofer Shochet (1995). "Novel Type of Phase Transition in a System of Self-Driven Particles". In: *Physical Review Letters* 75.6, pp. 1226–1229. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.75.1226.

- Wang, Qing, Yao Yu, and Changyin Sun (2018). "Distributed event-based consensus control of multi-agent system with matching nonlinear uncertainties". In: *Neurocomputing* 272, pp. 694– 702. ISSN: 18728286. DOI: 10.1016/j.neucom.2017.08.012.
- Wang, Xiaoling, Housheng Su, Xiaofan Wang, and Guanrong Chen (2017). "Fully Distributed Event-Triggered Semiglobal Consensus of Multi-agent Systems With Input Saturation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 64.6, pp. 5055–5064. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2016. 2642879.
- Wang, Z., P. Liu, S. Ding, and Y. Liu (2018). "A brief review on stability analysis of time delay systems based on LKF". In: 2018 13th World Congress on Intelligent Control and Automation (WCICA), pp. 596–601. DOI: 10.1109/WCICA.2018.8630344.
- Wen, Guoguang, Yongguang Yu, Zhaoxia Peng, and Hu Wang (2016). "Dynamical group consensus of heterogenous multi-agent systems with input time delays". In: *Neurocomputing* 175, pp. 278–286. DOI: 10.1016/j.neucom.2015.10.060.
- Winkler, Robert L. (1968). "The Consensus of Subjective Probability Distributions". In: Management Science 15.2, B-61-B-75. ISSN: 0025-1909. DOI: 10.1287/mnsc.15.2.B61. URL: http://pubsonline.informs.org/doi/abs/10.1287/mnsc.15.2.B61.
- Xu, Luyan, Chaoli Wang, Xuan Cai, Yujing Xu, and Chonglin Jing (2020a). "Two-layer distributed formation-containment control of multiple Euler-Lagrange systems with unknown control directions". In: *Neurocomputing* 387, pp. 359–368. ISSN: 0925-2312. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.neucom.2020.01.033.
- Xu, Luyan, Chaoli Wang, Xuan Cai, Yujing Xu, Chonglin Jing, and Longyan Hao (2020b).
 "Distributed formation-containment control for multiple Euler-Lagrange systems with guaranteed performance and unknown control directions". In: International Journal of Systems Science 51.15, pp. 2781–2792. DOI: 10.1080/00207721.2020.1801884.
- Yang, Jie, Xiaoli Wang, and Wei Ni (2013). "Distributed output regulation of switching multiagent systems subject to input saturation". In: *IET Control Theory & Applications* 7.2, pp. 202–209. DOI: 10.1049/iet-cta.2011.0600.
- Yang, Yuan, Yang Shi, and Daniela Constantinescu (2019). "Connectivity-Preserving Synchronization of Time-Delay Euler-Lagrange Networks With Bounded Actuation". In: *IEEE Trans*actions on Cybernetics, pp. 1–14.
- Yanumula, Venkata Karteek, Indrani Kar, and Somanath Majhi (2017). "Consensus of secondorder multi-agents with actuator saturation and asynchronous time-delays". In: *IET Control Theory & Applications* 11.17, pp. 3201–3210. DOI: 10.1049/iet-cta.2017.0578.
- Yao, Xiang-Yu, Hua-Feng Ding, and Ming-Feng Ge (2018). "Task-space tracking control of multi-robot systems with disturbances and uncertainties rejection capability". In: Nonlinear Dynamics 92.4, pp. 1649–1664. ISSN: 0924-090X. DOI: 10.1007/s11071-018-4152-y.
- Yi, Xinlei, Tao Yang, Junfeng Wu, and Karl H. Johansson (2019). "Distributed event-triggered control for global consensus of multi-agent systems with input saturation". In: Automatica 100, pp. 1–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.automatica.2018.10.032.

- You, Xiu, Changchun Hua, Dan Peng, and Xinping Guan (2016). "Leader-following consensus for multi-agent systems subject to actuator saturation with switching topologies and timevarying delays". In: *IET Control Theory & Applications* 10.2, pp. 144–150. DOI: 10.1049/ iet-cta.2015.0024.
- Yuan, Yuan, Yingjie Wang, and Lei Guo (2019). "Force Reflecting Control for Bilateral Teleoperation System Under Time-Varying Delays". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics* 15.2, pp. 1162–1172. DOI: 10.1109/TII.2018.2822670.
- Zhang, Langwen, Jingcheng Wang, and Chuang Li (2013). "Distributed model predictive control for polytopic uncertain systems subject to actuator saturation". In: *Journal of Process Control* 23.8, pp. 1075–1089. DOI: 10.1016/j.jprocont.2013.06.003.
- Zhang, Meirong, Ali Saberi, and Anton A. Stoorvogel (2020). "Semi-global state synchronization for discrete-time multi-agent systems subject to actuator saturation and unknown nonuniform input delay". In: *European Journal of Control* 54, pp. 12–21. ISSN: 09473580. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcon.2019.12.006.
- Zhang, Wenbing, Yang Tang, Tingwen Huang, and Jürgen Kurths (2017). "Sampled-data consensus of linear multi-agent systems with packet losses". In: *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems* 28.11, pp. 2516–2527. DOI: 10.1109/TNNLS.2016.2598243.
- Zhao, Xudong, Xiaolong Zheng, Chao Ma, and Ren Li (2017). "Distributed Consensus of Multiple Euler–Lagrange Systems Networked by Sampled-Data Information With Transmission Delays and Data Packet Dropouts". In: *IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering* 14.3, pp. 1440–1450. DOI: 10.1109/TASE.2015.2448934.
- Zheng, Yuanshi and Long Wang (Nov. 2015). "A novel group consensus protocol for heterogeneous multi-agent systems". In: International Journal of Control 88.11, pp. 2347–2353. DOI: 10.1080/00207179.2015.1043581.
- Zhou, Jianping, Chengyan Sang, Xiao Li, Muyun Fang, and Zhen Wang (2018). "H-inf consensus for nonlinear stochastic multi-agent systems with time delay". In: Applied Mathematics and Computation 325, pp. 41–58. DOI: 10.1016/j.amc.2017.12.020.
- Zhou, Panpan and Ben M. Chen (2020). "Formation-Containment Control of Euler-Lagrange Systems of Leaders With Bounded Unknown Inputs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics*, pp. 1–12. DOI: 10.1109/TCYB.2020.3034931.